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The global consumer market is undergoing structural
transformation. The wave of digitalization is reshaping the
commercial landscape, and Cross-border e-commerce is
forging a borderless retail reality. In this transformative
climate, Bonjour combines foresight with innovation to
drive progress, not only keeping pace with the times
but also striving to define the new paradigm for future
retail. Anchored by our core strategy of “Technology +
Consumption” and based in Hong Kong to serve the
world, we are building a future-oriented “Four-Wheel
Drive” ecosystem — comprising the Cross-border Hub
(HKMALL), Technology Application (Bonjour Tech), Beauty
Intelligence (Beauty Industry), and Industry-Finance
Integration (Innovation Industries) — to provide forward-
looking solutions for industry transformation.

Forward-Looking Strategy:
From Digital Transformation to
Ecosystem Leadership

As early as 2020, we foresaw the erosion of traditional
retail boundaries and initiated a profound strategic
overhaul. Leveraging Hong Kong’s unique advantages of
“zero tariffs + efficient customs clearance” combined with
the innovative dynamism of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area, we established “HKMALL,” a
global cross-border e-commerce platform, as critical
infrastructure for our future development. This prescient
move propelled Bonjour’s transformation from a beauty
retailer into a digital integrated ecosystem combining
“Cross-border E-commerce + Smart Logistics + Al
Marketing,” realizing an innovative business model with
deep online-to-offline integration.

We anticipate that artificial intelligence will redefine
the essence of retail. We have pioneered the introduction
of deep learning algorithms to build a smart supply chain
and developed an intelligent customer service system with
natural language processing capabilities, significantly
enhancing operational efficiency and user experience.
Bonjour consistently anchors itself in the present with
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its “traditional retail foundation” and harvests the future
through “digital intelligence innovation.” This dual-core
engine ensures we maintain a forward-looking advantage
amidst industry disruption.

Global Vision: Building Next-
Generation Cross-Border
E-Commerce Infrastructure

We recognize that future commercial competition
will be a contest among ecosystems. Hong Kong, as
an international free port, possesses a sophisticated
logistics network, an open market mechanism, and a
strategic location connecting it globally, providing an
ideal foundation for building a cross-border e-commerce
hyperlink. With the SAR Government increasing its
support for the digital economy, we expect Hong Kong to
become a vital node in global digital trade.

“HKMALL” is our tangible implementation of a future
trade model. We deeply integrate over three decades of
retail experience with cutting-edge digital technologies,
creating not just a transaction platform, but a next-
generation commercial infrastructure that consolidates
global supply chains, smart payments, cross-border
logistics, and data-driven marketing. This ecosystem
provides end-to-end solutions for global partners.

Our innovatively launched “Tripartite Synergy
System” achieves an intelligent business closed loop
featuring “One-Click Store Setup, One-Click Sales,
One-Click Reward Sharing.” The “One-Click Reward
Sharing” mechanism, in particular, redefines business
collaboration in the digital age, unlocking exponential
profit growth potential for partners through socialized
fission marketing.

By investing in bonded warehouses in Guangzhou
and Hainan, we are building the most comprehensive
e-commerce service network in the Greater Bay Area.
By establishing an influencer commerce ecosystem, we
are pioneering a new, capital-light, and highly efficient
marketing model. By developing smart supply chains and




member marketing systems, we are achieving seamless
“online transaction + offline experience” integration.
These initiatives propel us into an omnichannel era where
“every scenario is a storefront, and every experience is a
transaction.”

Future Blueprint: Constructing
the Next-Generation Retail
Ecosystem

Looking ahead, Bonjour will foster industry
development with a broader perspective and forward-
looking vision. We plan to establish a complete SBBC
(Supplier-Business-Business-Consumer) ecosystem in
the second half of 2025, achieving end-to-end digital
collaboration from global sourcing to personalized retail.
This system will redefine how suppliers, distributors, and
consumers interact, inaugurating a new era of smart
commerce.

We will deepen our strategic presence in the Greater
Bay Area, creating our firstimmersive member experience
center at the Dongguan Silvercity Hotel. Through the
scene innovation of “see-what-you-get is what-you-can-
buy,” we aim to shape a new template for future retail.
Concurrently, we will continue operating the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Youth Entrepreneurship Incubator
to nurture industrial innovation talent, building core

developmental momentum for industry transformation.

Creating the Future Together:
Embracing Challenges, Seizing
Opportunities

Inthis eraoftransformation, Bonjour’s steady progress
hinges upon the long-term trust of our shareholders, the
strategic guidance of the Board of Directors, and the
dedicated efforts of all our colleagues. Our journey from

traditional retail to a digital ecosystem represents not
merely a business transformation, but a strategic leap
into the future.

In reporting to you on the past year’'s performance,
| am profoundly aware that the Group is navigating
a critical transitional phase. The financial results
for the period reflect the challenges and strategic
choices inherent in this process. We have decisively
implemented prudent accounting treatments for historical
investments, including property funds, and receivables.
Simultaneously, amidst macroeconomic pressures, we
resolutely focused our strategic resources on the high-
growth potential “HKMALL" cross-border e-commerce
platform. While this transformational investment has
impacted short-term profitability, | firmly believe it was not
only the correct decision but a necessary path to secure
the Group’s long-term development.

Looking forward, | am confident these short-term
challenges will transform into powerful drivers for the
Group’s future growth. We have laid a solid foundation for
“HKMALL” and will continue its optimization, committed
to steering the Group onto a new growth trajectory and
delivering substantial returns. We are convinced that with
a clear vision, innovative business models, and steadfast
execution, Bonjour will forge a new growth path within
the tide of the digital economy. Guided by our mission to
“Enable the Borderless Flow of Global quality Products,”
we are committed to creating sustainable value for
shareholders, contributing to the development of Hong
Kong as an international innovation and technology hub,
and showcasing to the world a Hong Kong legend for the
digital age.

Let us advance together and witness a future where
innovation prevails.

Chen Jianwen
Chairman
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Mr CHEN Jianwen
FERITES

Chairman and Executive Director

Mr Chen has extensive experience in corporate
governance, marketing strategy, industrial integration
and value reconstruction in various fields of the
business community. In particular, he has more
than 20 years of experience in innovating digitalized
management systems for traditional enterprises.

Since 2020, Mr Chen has served as the Chairman
of the Board of Directors of Bonjour Holdings, and has
led the transformation of Bonjour Group into an industrial
innovation platform of “technology + consumption”. In
2021, Mr Chen founded “Hong Kong Industry Innovation
Centre (HKIIC)”, which is committed to putting digital
transformation and technological innovation elements into
traditional industries, customizing new business models,
services and revenue sources, promoting industry
openness and sharing, and building an industrial ecology.

Mr Chen has deep insight into the problems,
pain points and difficulties faced by enterprises. As an
“enterprise doctor”, he has designed a series of digital
management tools to help enterprises reconstruct
their overall structure of strategic planning, operations
management, business ecology and marketing
development, and master the ability to tackle digital
challenges and the corresponding governance
framework.
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Dr Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna
HITESREEVEE

Executive Director and

Dr Chiu has extensive experience in accounting, business
management and operations. Dr Chiu graduated with a bachelor’'s degree
with first class honours in economics from the University of Sheffield
in the United Kingdom and obtained an executive master of business
administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr
Chiu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
England and Wales, a certified information systems auditor and a member
of the Chinese Institute of the Certified Public Accountants.

She was the president of the Information Systems Audit and Control
Association (China Hong Kong Chapter) from 2001 to 2006, and the
president of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in 2013. Dr Chiu is currently an independent non-executive Director of
China Qilfield Services Limited (stock code: 2883), China Vocational
Education Holdings Limited (stock code: 1756) and Songz Automobile Air
Conditioning Co. Ltd., (Shenzhen A-Share stock code: 002454). Dr Chiu is
also an independent non-executive director of Nanyang Commercial Bank
Limited.

From 2006 to 2019, she served as a senior vice president, Group
Chief Representative (Eastern China) and consultant in various member
companies of the Li & Fung Group. Dr Chiu was awarded the Medal of
Honor by the Government of the HKSAR in 2013 and a Justice of the
Peace in 2017. Dr Chiu received numerous titles including the “Outstanding
Women Professionals” Award in 2014, the “Outstanding Business Woman”
in 2017 and the “GBA Outstanding Women Entrepreneur” Award in 2021.
She is a member of the Shanghai Municipal Committee of the Chinese
People's Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC), and Hong Kong
Accounting Advisory Expert of the Ministry of Finance of the People's
Republic of China.
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Mr WONG lu Ming
TBHRERABWE
Chief Executive Officer and
Company Secretary
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Mr KWOK Chi Shing
BIIFAITES

Independent Non-executive Director
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Mr Wong is a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also currently an executive director and deputy chief
executive officer of Haifu International Finance Holding Group Ltd., a
director of Innogy Global Limited and a member of executive committee
of the Society for the Promotion of Hospice Care. Mr Wong had been a
general manager of Internal Audit of Urban Renewal Authority, and also
has extensive experience in risk controls, finance and administration,
internal audit among sizable Hong Kong public bodies and multinational
conglomerates.

Mr Kwok is the chairman of the audit committee, and a member of the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee, of the Company.
Mr Kwok is currently a certified public accountant in Hong Kong. Mr Kwok
obtained a degree of Master of Arts in Economics with Accountancy from
the University of Aberdeen in the UK. in July 1986. He has been a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
January 1991 and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Scotland since November 1989.
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Mr LEE Kwun Kwan
BIIIEHITES

Independent Non-executive Director
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Mr YAN Sherman Chuek-ning
BIUIFNTES

Independent Non-executive Director
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Mr Lee is the chairman of the remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr Lee is a veteran in
the insurance industry of Hong Kong. Mr Lee obtained a Bachelor of Arts
degree in the University of Hong Kong in 1986 and Master of Business
Administration degree in Lingnan University in 2003. Mr Lee had been
appointed from 2005 to 2006, as the President of the General Agents
and Managers Association of Hong Kong Limited; from 2007 to 2011, as
a member of Insurance Training Board of Vocational Training Council;
from 2011 to 2014, as the Founder and First Convener for the Insurance
and Financial Practitioners Alliance; from 2012 to 2016, as a member
for the Insurance Advisory Committee in the Financial Services and the
Treasury Bureau of the Hong Kong Government; and from 2014 to 2019,
as the Vice President of The Life Underwriters Association of Hong Kong
Limited.

Mr Lee is also a committee member of Insurance Management
Committee of The Hong Kong Management Association since 2007, the
President of the International Asset Planner Association since 2011, the Vice
President of Asset Management Committee, CEPA Business Opportunities
Development Alliance since September 2014, and the Deputy Convener
in the Insurance Industry Regulatory & Development Concern Group since
August 2019.

Mr Yan is the chairman of the nomination committee and a member
of the audit committee of the Company. Mr Yan is currently a practicing
solicitor and a Notary Public in Hong Kong. He is also the Managing
Partner of ONC Lawyers. Mr Yan graduated from the University of London
with a bachelor’s degree in laws and the University of Southampton with a
master’s degree in laws.
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Since our first launch in Jordan, followed
by relocation to Fa Yuen Street in Mong
Kok, the Bonjour brand has steadily
gained recognition.
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Bonjour was listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
(Stock Code: 653), receiving 17 times
oversubscription for its initial public
offering. It secured the foundation of
Bonjour’s leading status in the beauty
and cosmetics industry in Hong Kong.

5 1 #8 BEwww.bonjourhk.com

HBERMELLEY TS -
www.bonjourhk.com was established
to provide online shopping platform for
customers.
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In November, the Group’s headquarters
were officially moved from To Kwa Wan
to Tsuen Wan - utilising a larger floor
area and enhanced facilities in order
to centralise operations and optimise
logistics services.
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Bonjour participated in the “Quality E-Shop
Recognition Scheme” organised by Hong
Kong Retail Management Association
(HKRMA). Our e-shop has passed the
comprehensive and objective assessment
and was awarded for a “Quality E-Shop
Recognition Logo”, which could effectively
enhance customers’ confidence in online
shopping.
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Since the outbreak of the pandemic, The
Group has supplied over 20 million face
masks at affordable prices which gained
coverage from over 17 media outlets
and was awarded as one of the listed
companies fulfilling CSR in Hong Kong
by Sparkle Hong Kong.



V 342

SIRMEBIETURRE) > RER L
EiH 0 BERTTRERRE B T
RIREIZ0EEY)

Bonjour WeChat Mall was officially
launched to develop and strengthen
its online sales — allowing customers
to shop online at the convenience of
staying at home during the pandemic.
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KOL live streaming studio was
established at Bonjour Building, which
can support simulcast at 9 different
platforms, including: Facebook, YouTube,
Instagram, Bonjour Global, Bonjour Quan
Qiu Gou, Bonjour Hai Tao, Tmall, Kaola
and JD.com.
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Bonjour New Retail Innovation Center
established a new retail concept store “MEI
MALL” with an area of more than 10,000
square feet at Bonjour Building to create a
whole new shopping experience.
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The Group invested in Evolut Holdings
Pte. Ltd., a start-up company registered
in Singapore, to develop its own business
and grasp the opportunities brought by

the rapid growth of eCommerce in the
Asian market.
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The Group became one of the highest
level members of the Cyberport
Enterprise Network (CEN). We signed
cooperation agreements with five
companies within the CEN for business
collaboration.
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Under the Group — Bonjour Technology
Services Limited entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with Huawei
International Co. Limited. With the
assistance of Huawei Cloud, It will
promote the development of innovative
applications of new retail technology
services and support the transformation
and sustainable development of the
retail industry.
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The live-streaming team of HongKong
Mall was invited to participate in the
live-streaming event for the startups
in Cyberport, attracting 12 technology
companies including Roborn, FutureNow
and ISTEM.
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Under the Group — Bonjour Technology
Development Limited and China Resources
Capital Investment Management Limited
signed a strategic cooperation agreement,
driving the upgrade and transformation of
traditional industries in Hong Kong, and
promoting the technology, capital, and
industry in the Greater Bay Area.
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Bonjour Technology won the prize for
“Outstanding All-round Smart Retail
Application Solutions” of the “Smart Living
Partnership Awards 2021” sponsored by
etnet and co-sponsored by Cyberport,
benefited from its continuous industrial
innovation and focus on developing
technologies for application in the digital
new retail for “technology + consumption”.
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Under the Group — Bonjour Technology
Services Limited entered into the 5G Retail
Integrated Development Cooperation
Framework Agreement with China Mobile
Hong Kong Company Limited pursuant
to which, the cooperation between the
two parties will be based on respective
professional expertise to promote mutual
benefit and achieve win-win results.
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The Group sponsored the “KOL Dream -
Set Sail” event held by the Junior
Chamber International (Lion Rock) to
support young people in pursuing their
dreams through eCommerce without any
startup costs.
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Mr. CHEN Jianwen, Chairman of the
Group, was invited to participate and
share in the “Hong Kong Economic
Summit 2022”, discuss the role of
development of Hong Kong in China with
Mrs Carrie Lam Cheng Yuet-ngor, the
then Chief Executive of the HKSAR and
guests from political and business circles.
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Being nominated by the Group, our
Executive Director Dr Chiu Lai Kuen
Susanna was awarded the GBA
Outstanding Women Entrepreneur
Award. This award was to honour
outstanding women entrepreneurs in the
Greater Bay Area, and to acknowledge
their contributions to the development of
the area.

L M LU DR e s L
Hlﬂﬁi’ﬁ‘ﬂﬁﬁ‘lﬁiﬁ

8 a|

EEET -—2RBKEFAEE
BHE L FEHEHFABEERR
EfFHE -

Under the Group — Bonjour Technology
signed a strategic cooperation
agreement with each of Bamboos
Education and Hong Kong Federation of
Education Workers.
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Bonjour Technology, China Resources
Capital Management Limited and Loving
Home Foundation Limited signed a
cooperation memorandum to establish a
strategic partnership in the social welfare
sector.
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The Group has reached a Very
Substantial Disposal, by selling and
leasing back the Bonjour Tower
(the Group's headquarter) to a fund
established jointly with China Resources
Capital Management. Such arrangement
aims to strengthen the Group's financial
position and ensure ample cash flow for
future development.
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HoagySoag Mall
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HongKong Mall’s one-stop online
platform was honored the “Award for
Corporate Social Responsibility in
Greater Bay Area”.
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Under the Group - HongKong

Mall Limited won the "Outstanding

ECommerce Platform of the Year"

granted by BUSINESS INNOVATOR.
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The Group fully supported the promotion
of "Strategic Cooperation of CIBE China
International Beauty Expo”, and held the
sharing forum on the beauty industry
innovation and transformation and
eCommerce industry on the same day.

EEEEEREEERBE
MO22BE M BEARTS ($A5T) K 5
HEEERLE o

The Group was granted the “2022
Quality Tourism Service Award (Bronze)
and Outstanding Quality Business
Award” by Hong Kong Tourism Board.
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Under the Group — HK Mall Limited
held the “HongKong Mall Thanksgiving
Bazaar - Japan and South Korea”, the
first in-person offline event, and achieved
mutual benefits and win-win outcome
with partner merchants.
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Under the Group — HongKong Mall
Limited was designated the online
sales livestreaming platform for the
“International Beauty, Education,
Wellness Expo 2022” and won the
“Awesome Entrepreneur” award.
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The Group sponsored the “KOL *
Dream Hunter” event held by the Junior
Chamber International (Lion Rock) for
the third consecutive year to encourage
young people in participating in the live
commerce industry and promoting the
development of eCommerce.

2023.4.30

MEBH) Kk TEBEFRAIFTO
BESt T BITSRESGET
Mt RHMFEEH) > WHEISSDG
R ACERED A S F AR ©
HongKong Mall and HKIIC sponsored
the venue for Cultivation of Mercy
Charitable Foundation Limited to hold
the “World Peace Chinese Calligraphy
Day” event and received recognition as

supporting organisation from SDG World
Records.
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Under the Group — HK Mall Limited
signed a friendly cooperation agreement
with Harbin Women Entrepreneurs
Association to promote cooperation
among the two enterprises.
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The Group fully supports and promotes
the "Integration into the Greater Bay Area
to Support Dual Circulation Strategy"
event in encouraging talent to establish
roots in the Greater Bay Area, and
promoting the new economic cycle with
domestic and foreign markets.

2023.8.6
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The Group was granted the
“Extraordinary Branding Awards
2023 — Corporate Excellence” by JCI
Queenways.
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Under the Group — Bonjour Technology
Development Limited signed a friendly
cooperation agreement with Teamwork
Creative Events Limited, with the aims
to promote Hong Kong’s cultural tourism
brand.

2023.11.22
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Under the Group — Bonjour Technology
Development Limited signed a friendly
cooperation agreement with Beosin
Technology Limited fostering cooperation
between the two enterprises.
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Mr. CHEN Jianwen, Chairman of the
Group, was invited to attend the "Hong
Kong Economic Summit 2024" and
participated on the theme "Striving
for Economic Growth and Diversified
Innovation" in a panel discussion with
various political and business leaders.
The Chief Executive, Mr John KC Lee,
also delivered a speech at the economic
summit.
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The Group collaborated with HKFEW
to organize experiential workshops
for primary and secondary school
students, providing information
about the e-commerce industry.
The workshops included interactive
sessions that allowed students to
experience live streaming sales,
helping them understand the range of
career opportunities available in the
e-commerce sector.
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The Group signed a comprehensive
strategic cooperation agreement with
Guangzhou Development District
Investment Group Co., Ltd. to promote
cross-border e-commerce and support
youth entrepreneurship in the Huangpu
District.
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The Group's subsidiary signed a strategic
cooperation agreement with "Happigo" a
subsidiary of Mango Excellent Media Co.,
Ltd, to jointly enhance business influence.
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HKMall was awarded the “Top 100 Biz

Awards in 2024” organised by Metro
Finance.
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The Group's Exquisite Bonjour Beauty
Outlet has opened, further realizing
the new retail consumption model of
HongKong Mall through online and
offline integration.
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For the fourth consecutive year, HongKong
Mall participated in the “Beauty and Health
Expo” organized by the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council. These events
allow HongKongMall to serve different
merchants through the online platform and
to participate in live-streaming.
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For the fourth consecutive year,
the Group was granted the “IFAPC
Outstanding Listed Companies Award”
by IFAPC.
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The Group participated in the “22nd HK
Mega Showcase” for the first time and
invited several local handmade brands to
set up booths, implementing HongKong
Mall as an interactive platform to connect

small and medium-sized enterprises for
diverse sales collaborations.
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The Group's Chairman, Mr. CHEN
Jianwen, was invited to attend the 'Hong
Kong Economic Summit 2025," with the
theme 'Steadfast Confidence and Quality
Innovation'. Chief Executive Mr. Lee Ka-

chiu also delivered a keynote speech at
the economic summit.
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The Group signed a strategic
cooperation framework agreement
with Linyi Mall and Hong Kong World
Trade Link Holding Limited, committed
to promoting high-level cooperation
between Shandong and Hong Kong and
actively developing the "Hong Kong-
China Linyi Mall Overseas Exhibition and
Sales Center."
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To deepen industrial cooperation in
the Greater Bay Area, the Group has
established a cooperative relationship with
Guangzhou Panyu Information Technology
Investment Development Co., Ltd. to
accelerate the connection between Hong
Kong's high-quality resources and the
Chinese Mainland market.
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The group assisted the International
Asset Planners Association, in
collaboration with Big Orange Media
Group, Unicorn Holdings Group Limited
and VC international Club, in successfully
hosting the "The Inside of the US IPO
Market: Guides for Entrepreneurs in
Asia Pacific" summit in Hong Kong. The
event facilitated in-depth exchanges and
discussions, enabling participants to
explore potential business opportunities.
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Making use of digital applications, HongKong Mall serves the supply

chain and brand owners to match merchants’ brands and goods. The
platform assists merchants in opening e-shops and promoting branded
merchandise, so that goods can be sold cross-border from Hong Kong to
Chinese mainland. At the same time, HongKong Mall introduces branded
merchandise from Chinese mainland into the local market in Hong Kong

and engages in cross-border sales to overseas markets.
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| S-B-B-C eCommerce Platform |
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Business Platform
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HongKong Mall adheres to the principle of “No Success,
No Charge” and only charges a service fee of 3% per successful
transaction to help merchants achieve the goal of cost reduction
and efficiency enhancement. HongKong Mall also provides third-
party services for merchants, including O20 marketing, B2B sales,
data analysis, multimedia production, warehouse management and
logistics. It enables merchants to explore domestic and overseas
markets, to facilitate the global circulation of commodities, and to
embark on a dual circulation framework.

HongKong Mall provides a one-stop management system for
merchants, so that they are capable of rapidly uploading a large
number of products, as well as providing real-time insights into the
status of e-shops through various types of dashboards. In addition,
HongKong Mall provides users with the function of scanning
QR codes to receive coupons, which helps merchants carry out
promotional activities in multiple channels, thus increasing the
awareness and sales volume of the branded goods of merchants.
HongKong Mall has more than 300,000 SKUs on shelves, including
skincare products, cosmetics, electronic products, food and health
supplements, etc. To date, the number of members has exceeded 1.3
million.
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HongKong Mall Provides Diversified Promotion Channels to Bring Merchants Closer to Consumers
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HongKong Mall participated in the “Beauty and Health Expo 2024”
organized by the Hong Kong Trade Development Council.
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In 2023, HongKong Mall participated in the “Beauty and
Health Expo” organized by the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council, providing merchants with opportunities to showcase
their branded products. Customers can purchase immediately at
the merchants' e-shops when they experience the merchandise.
Throughout the event, one of the merchants sold more than
HK$200,000 on sales.

As a local cross-border e-commerce platform, HongKong
Mall not only supports local merchants to set up e-shops, but
also enables merchants to digitalize their business through the
merchant management system of HongKong Mall. This promotes
more effective digital marketing, and further implement precise
sales and lean management.
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Online and Offline Linkage to Realize Long-term Potential
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At present, the opening of e-shops has become an important
element of business development for merchants. Faced with high
operating costs for physical stores and foot traffic due to factors
such as floor area, region and season, e-shops helps fill and
balance the shortcomings of physical stores. Setting up e-shops
helps products reach more potential customers more effectively
and broadly, achieving offline experience and online transactions.
Looking ahead, HongKong Mall will maintain a positive attitude to
expand the platform and actualize Hong Kong'’s success stories.

A FBHERSM THNREEBLETHEMEH]
HKMall participates in the 22rd HK Mega Showcase for the first time.

AEMEFBRENTMBEIRE [ LHATEEALE2024) -
The Group was granted the “IFAPC Outstanding Listed Companies Award 2024”
by IFAPC.
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2R EREREAS SEUEBFCERRIE Bonjour Technology Development Limited aims to lead the
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B8R~ EXAIR > MURFRAIEY - SRBRREE capital”, promote the digital transformation of enterprises, industrial
REZBHFCRRLE  BRFAENERFHE innovation, and reduce costs and improve efficiency. Bonjour
& BIRGXEGFEZSHEIFEREIE o Technology provides enterprises with a variety of digital solutions,
and achieves corporate precision marketing and improves lean
management through the integration of platform capabilities and

systems.
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Bonjour Technology provides platform
technical support for HongKong Mall, offering
020 service system to enterprises through
HongKong Mall. This help enterprises achieve
integrated 020 data operation and mutual
resource diversion. S —— e ———

At the same time, in order to help the digital

transformation and industrial entrepreneurship ~ ASREHRIRBARATAZEE
of enterprises in various industries, a catering XEBERRBHMIVEER

management system has been developed in E*_"
Bonjour Technology donated 100

2023 to provide a comprehensive integration of - building blocks to
management systems for the catering industry, the Tsuen Wan and Kwai Tsing
covering online procurement system, cloud pricing  District Principals Association.
system, warehouse management system, ordering

system, queuing system, reservation system, etc.
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Bonjour Technology, China Resources Capital
Management Limited and Loving Home Foundation
signed a cooperation memorandum.
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In order to help enterprises reduce costs and improve
efficiency, Bonjour Technology integrates with different systems,
including the construction of enterprise management system,
dynamic operation system, five-count system (calculating
working hours, salaries, commissions, etc.), cloud name system,
cloud price system, cloud warehouse system, etc., so as to
help enterprises improve the operating efficiency and marketing
capacity of consumers, products and locations. The products have
independent output capacity and are expected to respond to the
needs of business operations.
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Using the means of digital application
technology, Bonjour Technology continues to develop
system integration, including the addition of various
intelligent technologies to make system integration
more streamlined and diversified. Bonjour Technology
will keep pace with the trend and provide customers
with customized systems to help them improve overall
operating efficiency and reduce costs and increase
efficiency.

ASHRERHAMEEEREET ADRRHREER MK Eetnet) Fif
EREEEEEN TRETERFA  HSmart Living Partnership Awards 2021
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Bonjour Technology and AliCloud were
awarded the “Best Retail Innovation
Prize” granted by Hong Kong Retail
Technology Industry Association.

Edp v

Bonjour Technology was awarded the
“Outstanding All-round Smart Retail
Application Solution” in the Smart Living
Partnership Awards 2021 held by ETNET.



29 BAEZREIFPHO

B Mt M BIR B

019FIBES > FEHRBERERF - &E
BEEEEE  HENAIEE > HEITEEER
BEAMATE - TEBREFRIEMEE
PHEEBR D RINENASHAFTBEZESINANE
R MEEREL - Mt EERREEEBR
208K  202F BUHFLEFAIFERR
%0 Bz TEE B NRESCASPZ 5t &) 58N
Ras o

[ERF > P EER 36 ERIRRBRERTA
BREE - BNERRBRERRBEBRLS
5> BIETHNESMERR  IKEEESS
BEBENEERAMBRFEREEERE 2T
8+ZEM) BR > RWHFEBRKERERIHN
BIERRESR -

[* .K it
BEREFAIZEREEE (BENASE)

Guangdong -Hong Kong- Macau Youth Entrepreneurship

Incubator (Guangzhou Higher Education Mega Center)

5%@]@&5 Event Review
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In the past five years, the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Youth

Since January 2019, the Group, together with the Panyu District
Government, Haifu International Finance Holding Group and Leaguer Group,
has jointly developed a Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Youth Innovation
Platform — “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Youth Entrepreneurship
Incubator”. The incubator has two key stations respectively in Guangzhou
Higher Education Mega Center and Bonjour Tower in Tsuen Wan, Hong
Kong, with a total operating floor area of more than 200,000 square feet.
In 2022, it also became an accredited accelerator under the Cyberport
Accelerator Support Programme (CASP) for innovative application of
technologies in the digital industry.

Meanwhile, the incubator has established cooperation with 36
international and Hong Kong-Macau platforms, school institutions, industrial
institutions and financial service institutions to build a complete industry-
academic-research funding system. At the same time, the incubator is
collaborating with influential Hong Kong corporate groups and authoritative
Chinese Mainland media institutions to advance the development of a
“multi-platform + multi-base” model, committing to support the sustainable
development of innovation and entrepreneurship in the Greater Bay Area,
encompassing Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau.

BEBRSFAIERER (FBEXAHFDPO)
Guangdong -Hong Kong- Macau Youth Entrepreneurship Incubator (Hong Kong
Industrial Innovation Centre)

MAKEE
Support Dual Circulation Strategy - Integrate
into the Greater Bay Area

B TEEIEIR)

Entrepreneurship Incubator” has steadily developed, and a total of
318 exchange activities were conducted, of which more than half were
designed for the innovation and entrepreneurship exchange between
Hong Kong and Macao, attracting more than 44 million on-site and
online participants.

ARBEFRERTEREBTENER &
CIBEHEI I E B S BB S FE ©

Promote youth development of the beauty and
eCommerce industry, and CIBE China International
Beauty Expo strategic cooperation ceremony.



PERR A 1R HI{EBN 7

fR2021% > EERSEFHRIEIMAE
EMITER TEBEZRFTOHKIC) » ERE
MEXAMBEREEM » UH=Z B
ANEE ~ Wﬂﬁiﬂg CRIES S EEEE XA
T4

%\u%lﬁhTE’Jéfﬁgﬁ¥Fﬁkﬁﬁmﬁm =
MMTERM PO EEZAERBRIFAR
ATBIMCN) ~ BEMEAICREEFABE
G FEXKFERXGNERE  BRRSHEI
RERFBIGES > RHTFERYE 5 M K KAl
& IRRBAEEBMUSE 25 UMEY
EEZEAIFTBIARAE ©

B RKERIZT

EERIEBFBEZRFROHKICKEM K
S EM > NERS IR RS2 EMNER > 55
RPEMREANINY TEEIR BFEE> BT
FIRMEBESHNINE DB > FIR TEE+RE
+ER HE o (REFREIFHFTCER -

The group has established HKIIC in Hong
Kong and a collaborative base at Guangzhou
University, continuously attracting innovative
companies to participate and settle in. The
vigorous development of the “Dual Circulation”
in the Greater China region have provided
enterprises with increasing local and overseas
business opportunities. In addition, the power of
“industry + technology + capital” was applied to
promote the digital transformation of traditional
business.

In 2021, the Group transformed an area of 50,000 square feet in the
Bonjour Tower into the “Hong Kong Industrial Innovation Center (HKIIC)”,
which serves as a demonstration base for the innovation and transformation
of traditional industries through innovation. It will promote industrial
innovation and upgrade through sharing, incubation, acceleration, financing
facilitation, and technological empowerment.

With the cooperation of the Group’s industrial innovation organizations
such as Hong Kong eCommerce Research Institute, Bonjour New Retail
Innovation Center, Hong Kong Multi-Channel Network Production Company
Limited (MCN) and Hong Kong KOL Incubator, apart from supporting
the development of the Group’s business, these setup also develop our
capability to provide services to external parties, offering diverse event
venue and technical support, fostering collaboration among various
corporate entities, and enabling comprehensive acceleration of industrial
innovation.

KOL - Z=iEffL
KOL Dream + Hunter

YEI MERII) SRhEIESD
YEI TZRAH0 brand event

BERNEEEFEXTFLAMSE
Guangdong - Hong Kong - Macao Greater Bay
Area Beauty Industry Youth Entrepreneurship
Seminar
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The Group sponsored the “KOL Dream * Hunter”
event of Lion Rock Junior Chamber for the third year
to encourage young people in participating in the
eCommerce industry and live streaming commerce.

EEHEEARANES  EXANABHEXESE
Ao
The interactaction between eCommerce and
capital innovation: how capital empowers
industrial transformation.

AZIRIRIRIE T RRIE R KBS %
BEATEEHBENES -
Opportunities and Challenges in the New Global
Environment Signing Ceremony of the High-end
Forum and the Greater Bay Area Youth Talent
Cultivation Program.
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The Group continues to explore new development routes
in the beauty industry, with more than 100 exclusive agency
brands, to provide customers with different beauty and skincare
experiences. Among them, the Group provides resources to its
own and agency brands: SUISSE REBORN, YUMEI, DR. BAUER,
ARVAL, QIRINESS, etc.

In May 2024, the SUISSE REBORN brand participated in the
large-scale promotional e-commerce event of ‘HappiGo’ under the
‘Mango Excellent Media of Hunan Radio and Television” and held
the ‘520 Pampering Festival’ live broadcast activity, attracting more
than 7000 people to watch at the same time. It also increased
the publicity and brand exposure of the Bonjour brand and its
products in domestic areas, and took advantage of HappiGo as a
media eCommerce platform to strengthen Bonjour's high-quality
and multi-dimensional sales channels.
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local and international awards.

#%I8 Awards

EHABFEAL 2024

IFAPC Outstanding Listed Companies Award 2024

AR 100 BB R A 2024

Top 100 Business Awards 2024

it anhR (22 K8 2023

Extraordinary Branding Awards 2023 — Corporate Excellence

EHRBEEAL 2023

IFAPC Outstanding Listed Companies Award 2023

2022 RN B E R (1)

2022 Outstandmg QTS Merchant Award (Bronze Award)

15 EFEFBEEE

15-year QTS-accredited

RIEN MG BEEALENE (28] )R
R RSE — R R ARE (IRET)

Special ESG Awards — The ESG Rising Star Gold Award & Special Awards
(Criteria set by Fund Managers) — Outstanding ESG Company Silver Award

REAIZE S

Awesome Entrepreneur

SHAMEEAR 2022/ FEERSHWER

Most Innovative Enterprise Award 2022/
Star-level Excellent eCommerce Platform of the Year

BEEEREE

Quality E-Shop Recognition Scheme

S EMEEDE
Trust E-shop Recognition Scheme

IEEEM) PEMLESEER

“Sparkle Hong Kong” CSR in Hong Kong Award

EBRABELRERGRE

Hong Kong’s Most Valuable Companies Services Awards

& Q BB R 85058

The Hong Kong Q-Mark Service Scheme Certificate

IEhR IE & 7GR 51 81

No Fakes Pledge Scheme

B R ARFS 5t 2

Quality Tourism Services Scheme

EBRTE LR+ EH LR

Hong Kong Top Service Brand Ten Years Achievement Award

D@ ER/N EddE

Best Listed SMEs in Asia

%)
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The Group is one of the leading eCommerce platform and beauty retail group in Hong Kong, having received multiple

A ZE14%4E 1ssuing Organizations

EERZEDNENHRE

The Hong Kong Institute of Financial Analysts and
Professional Commentators Ltd.

MG

Metro Finance

KESERg

JCI Queenways

BEREDEMGE

The Hong Kong Institute of Financial Analysts and
Professional Commentators Ltd.

BERERGHE

Quality Tourism Services

BERERFHE

Quality Tourism Services

RIEHEREEEREESE
Institute of ESG & Benchmark

BRER - 5 - KERBE

International Beauty-Education-Best Expo

BUSINESS INNOVATOR

EATEEEHE

Hong Kong Retail Management Association

EERTEEERS
Hong Kong Retail Management Association

Fortune Insight

Mediazone Group

HEBERTER

Hong Kong Q-Mark Council

B EES

Intellectual Property Department

BERELER

Hong Kong Tourism Board

BEEMEERE

Hong Kong Brand Development Council

B i

Forbes




#%IH Awards

BERBRESRE

Consumer’s Most Favorable Hong Kong Brands

HEBEHMESENR

Hong Kong Merchant of Integrity

BEtHERESER

Quality Cosmetics & Beauty Group

R iR

The Excellence of Listed Enterprise Awards

BASEIRFE AL

Capital Weekly Services Award

R b S SRR R T

Outstanding Corporate Strategy Awards

BERERE miE

The Best for Home

10 £ Plus MR ERIZE

10 Years Plus Caring Company

HEFHEXKE

Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises Parade

R ERP R AL

Outstanding Corporate Image Award

DSA fE S 8 A%

Distinguished Salesperson Award (DSA)

Yahoo! RI5 K52

Yahoo! Emotive Award

EBREDmE

The Premier Brand in Hong Kong

R M

Business Excellence Awards

TREFEFHEG ALK

Top 10 eCommerce Website Awards

B AT

Honorable Award

FETESHUAL

Industry Super Retailer of the Year

EREEBHAR - RUBETE2HURBAERE

Smart Living Partnership Awards — Outstanding All-round Smart Retail Application

Solution

RETERIM — R EAAR

7B 2%4%48 1ssuing Organizations

REE (7B ) BEREEHE
China Enterprise Reputation and Credibility Association
(Overseas) Ltd.

ER=E:

Guangzhou Daily

BEASH
Capital Weekly

[ EN
Capital Weekly

BEASHE

Capital Weekly

RiIBT
East Week

#2750k — Take Me Home
Hong Kong Economic Times - Take Me Home

EBLERTHE

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

KiBE—aE
Economic Digest

TVB &

TVB Weekly

EEEEEXHE

The Hong Kong Management Association

WREL

Yahoo! Hong Kong

B - KBEEEE

GD. QQ. COM / FASHION / HK

BEAEABEFEXETERL
ghetProfessional Validation Centre of Hong Kong Business
ector

EREmREEGS / DNTERES
GS1 Hong Kong / Retail Asia Expo

ERCHEREERE

The Cosmetic and Perfumery Association of Hong Kong

DS ERES
Retail Asia Expo

abipe
etnet
EETENREE

Grand Award Use of Technology — Best Retail Innovation (Application - Retailer) Hong Kong Retail Technology Industry Association

APEFHHEBLMAR - CSRABELEHFEEAR

100% HK Branding Award — Award for Corporate Social Responsibility in GBA

APELBEERS

Greater-China Association of Branding Industry
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In addition to developing business, the Group actively participates in charitable, environmental and corporate social responsibility

activities, making every effort to contribute to society, to support SMEs and join hands with them to overcome difficult times.

EF) Activities

REFSEEREER
Amity and Benevolence Charity Night

SR x EREREET

Bonjour x Shine Tak Charity Hiking

PEAR KR EEE

Charity Sale for Disaster Relief in China

BINESHE

Charter on External Lighting

BEIVEERBATEEREZFEYHRERRE
Donated 100 sets of Smart Building Blocks to The Association of Heads of Kindergartens
of Tsuen Wan, Kwai Chung & Tsing Yi District

B IERBAER HEBEI0EARRAHE
Donated 100,000 Rapid Test Kits with Futu Securities International (HONG KONG) Limited

BREFERIFBERHSZBRERERESTEMEE
Donation to the school for the purchase of mobile learning equipment and the development
of STEM education

TTERMEL RIFHE

Industry Cares Recognition Scheme

M - 5171 —REREHEKXEENE
“Light Up-Charity”Po Leung Kuk Flag Selling Donation Box

BEEERARS TREXESEYTROEES)
Pandemic-prevention Supplies Donated to the “Law’s Foundation Child Care Centre cum
Hostel”

MALE dp

Pink Revolution

BRERBLEMNFE

Plastic Resources Recycling Partnership

RIE-HE s bEEREENMESRERFFR AR
The ESG Rising Star (Gold) & Special Awards (Silver)

RITEENEE

Trailwalker Fund Raising Event

NEEA=E L

Walk for Millions

TERBAR@AKIH

Walk for Nature

106 Plus 7 ERAE

10 Years Plus Caring Company

2023t AMFEEEH

2023 World Peace Chinese Calligraphy Day

s Organizations

NEERRHE

Kowloon Women'’s Organisations Federation

EREzeg

Shine Tak Foundation

EBL+FE
Hong Kong Red Cross

R
Environment Bureau
EERFEFEHHERRE

The Association of Heads of Kindergartens of Tsuen
Wan, Kwai Chung & Tsing Yi District

ERHELFERIAIBEFTHLO
Hong Kong Federation of Education Workers TechEd
Centre

CHERBREMENS

Y.C.H. Choi Hin To Primary School

EBILERSG
Federation of Hong Kong Industries

REB

Po Leung Kuk

B

Yan Chai Hospital

BREEREEE

Hong Kong Cancer Fund

CEERFE
Yan Oi Tong EcoPark

REHEREEER
Institute of ESG & Benchmark

wmg

ENEE iR
Oxfam Hong Kong

BEBATE
The Community Chest of Hong Kong

HREREESEEEDG
WWEF (Hong Kong)

BEELERFTHE

The Hong Kong Council for Social Service

BIIREESS
Cultivation of Mercy Charitable Foundation
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AEMBEREERE Five-Year Financial and Operational Summary
—E-mE/
(GEEEHI L (in HKS thousands unless _E-EE C"E-—% C"EB--f "E”=fE C—B_RE
FETHE) otherwise specified) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024/2025
(Restated)
(=& 5)
=E] Turnover 538,788 626,991 185,662 950,271 90,968
EF Gross profit 173,095 49,960 33,754 63,052 34,454
EVilE Gross profit margin 32.13% 7.97% 18.18% 6.64% 37.87%
A/ (518) Operating profit/(loss) (217,302) (176,786) 199,113 67,992 (99,816)
mesd) / (5548) ¥ Operating profit/(loss) margin (40.33)% (28.20)% 107.24% 7.16% (109.73)%
FEE/HEEN,/ Profit/(loss) for the year/period

(E48) (258,423) (216,078) 167,221 53,971 (278,357
LTEAEEEE/  Profit/(loss) for the year/period

RN/ (58) attributed to:

—ARBHEEAN - Owners of the Company (255,734) (216,738) 167,221 53,971 (278,357

— R ER - Non-controlling interests (2,689) 660 - - -
SHEER, %A/ Return on sales/

(B518) = Net profit/(loss) margin (47.96)% (34.47)% 90.07% 5.68% (306.00)%
HEES Working capital (98,330) (55,339) (169,740) (52,994) (162,262)
EEHEE Total assets 1,027,546 699,043 505,407 504,108 255,771
BEER Total liabilities 858,998 696,256 350,019 221,872 204,312
BUT& 7 E(L #4858 © Total equity attributed to: 168,548 2,787 155,388 282,236 51,459

—ARBHEEAN - Owners of the Company 172,166 2,787 155,388 282,236 51,459

— R ER - Non-controlling interests (3,618) - - - -
BEBERR Return on total assets (24.89)% (31.00)% 33.09% 10.71% (108.83)%
MRk Return on total equity (148.54)%  (7,776.75)% 107.62% 19.12% (540.93)%
HEFEES (B) Inventory turnover on sales (days) 66 61 34 54 78
EEEEREERILA  Total liabiities to total equity 5.10 249.8 2.25 0.79 3.97
ERTENEBY Total number of retail stores in

Hong Kong 22 9 8 5 2
BESENEBY Total number of retail stores in
Macau 2 2 2 1 0
Annual Report 2024/2025
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Corporate Information

Board of Directors (“Directors”)
Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Jianwen (Chairman)
Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing

Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan

Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning

Audit Committee

Mr. Kwok Chi Shing (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan

Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan (Chairman)
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing

Nomination Committee

Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning (Chairman)
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing

Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna

Authorised Representatives

Mr. Wong lu Ming
Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna

Company Secretary

Mr. Wong lu Ming

Independent Auditor

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest
Entity Auditor
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REEM (&) Corporate Information (continued)
EEEM Legal Adviser

IR K REENT Kok & Ha Solicitors

o 0 it 5 R Registered Office

Windward 3 Windward 3

Regatta Office Park Regatta Office Park

P.O. Box 1350 P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman, KY1-1108 Grand Cayman, KY1-1108
Cayman lIslands Cayman Islands
ERERRTESE M Head Office and Principal Place of Business
EBERE 12/F., Bonjour Tower

BB FE36-509% No. 36-50 Wang Wo Tsai Street
BIRKE+IZE Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong

EEE [ (+852) 2872-2872 Telephone: (+852) 2872-2872

BHE (+852) 2872-2873 Facsimile: (+852) 2872-2873
TEFRET Principal Bankers
BAIRITAERAS Hang Seng Bank Limited

FREET (F8) BRAE Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
FETHEIET CEF) RNDBERAF Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited
LEmERTERRE Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited
BEFEBERTBERAR Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Suntera (Cayman) Limited

(RITB %A

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited)
Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3
Building D, P.O. Box 1586
Gardenia Court, Camana Bay
Grand Cayman, KY1-1110
Cayman lIslands
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Information for Investors

Company Website

Company Information
http://corp.bonjourhk.com

Online Shopping Web
www.bonjourhk.com
www.hongkongmall.com

E-mail Address
corporate@bonjourhk.com
Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Suntera (Cayman) Limited (formerly known
as SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited)

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3

Building D, P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court, Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F.

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King’s Road

North Point

Hong Kong

Financial Calendar

Interim Results Announcement : 30 August 2024
Second Interim Results Announcement : 28 February 2025
Financial year end : 30 June 2025
Annual Results Announcement : 30 September 2025
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) : 28 November 2025
Important Dates

: 21 November 2025 to

28 November 2025
(both days inclusive)

Closure of Register of Members

Stock Code

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong . 653
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

Board lot : 12,000 shares
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Annual Results

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025 (the “Period”),
Bonjour Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, “Bonjour” or the “Group”) recorded revenue of
HK$91.0 million (2023: HK$950.3 million), representing a decrease
of 90% from last year. Loss for the Year was HK$278.4 million (2023:
Profit HK$54.0 million). Loss per share amounted to HK86.1 cents
(2023: Earnings per share of HK27.4 cents).

The Group’s loss of HK$278.4 million was significantly impacted by
a combination of non-operating charges and non-cash accounting
provisions. The aggregate impact of these non-recurring items was
approximately HK$202.7 million, which break down as follows:

o A HK$153.8 million loss from an investment in CR Business
Innovation Investment Fund L.P. (the “Fund”), primarily due to
a decline in the market value of the Fund’s underlying property
caused by the property market slump.

° A HK$48.9 million accounting provision for the impairment of
trade and other receivables under the expected credit loss
model.

After isolating these exceptional items, the loss attributable to the
Group’s core operations was approximately HK$75.7 million.

Market Overview: Hong Kong Retail Sector and Global
Dynamics

Hong Kong’s retail sector navigated a complex landscape in 2024
and into 2025, balancing persistent challenges with transformative
opportunities. While global economic volatility, shifting consumer
behaviors, and geopolitical tensions tested resilience, the
accelerated adoption of digital innovation — particularly crossborder
e-commerce — emerged as a defining growth driver.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

TIEHME EESTEXBE2KHE Market Overview: Hong Kong Retail Sector and Global
(4 Dynamics (continued)
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Local Retail Challenges: Adaptation Amid Uncertainty

The post-pandemic recovery of Hong Kong’s retail market
remained uneven, marked by slower than expected rebounds
in key segments. Tourist arrivals, historically dominated by
high-spending Chinese Mainland shoppers, shifted toward
experiential travel over luxury retail, dampening sales in prime
commercial districts. Concurrently, rising living costs and
inflationary pressures suppressed local consumer confidence,
prompting cautious spending patterns.

Digital Transformation: Redefining Retail Engagement

The accelerated shift toward digitalisation has become a
defining force in Hong Kong'’s retail sector, reshaping customer
expectations and business strategies alike. Ecommerce
penetration surged to unprecedented levels, with online
sales now accounting for over 25% of total retail revenue in
2024/2025, up from 20% in 2023 and 15% in 2022. Retailers
are increasingly adopting omnichannel strategies, integrating
online and offline (020) experiences to cater to tech-savvy
customers. Innovations such as Al-driven personalised
marketing, social commerce platforms, and live-stream
shopping have become essential tools for driving engagement
and loyalty.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Market Overview: Hong Kong Retail Sector and Global
Dynamics (continued)

Global Headwinds: Geopolitics and Supply Chain
Pressures

Hong Kong’s retail sector faced intensified global pressures:

- Geopolitical strains: The US-China trade war and
currency volatility (e.g., a strong HKD) reduced the city’s
appeal for tourists from weaker-currency markets.

- Supply chain disruptions: Escalating import costs for
electronics, fashion, and luxury goods compelled retailers
to adjust pricing strategies, potentially impacking sales
volume.

- Sustainability imperatives: A growing global emphasis on
eco-conscious consumption pushed retailers to adopt
sustainable practices, from ethical sourcing to carbon-
neutral operations.

To navigate these challenges, businesses implemented
strategic measures, including diversifying supply chains,
optimising inventory systems, and embedding sustainability into
core operations to meet evolving consumer expectations.

Cross-Border E-Commerce: Gateway to the Greater Bay
Area

The most transformative opportunity in 2024 stemmed from
Hong Kong’s deepening integration with mainland China’s
Greater Bay Area (GBA). With a collective disposable income
exceeding RMB2.3 trillion, the GBA’'s affluent middle class
emerged as a key river of demand for premium, internationally
sourced goods. Cross-border e-commerce platforms became
vital channels, offering seamless access to high-quality goods
while circumventing traditional logistical barriers.

Strategic Outlook: Innovation as a Catalyst for Growth

Despite systemic challenges, Hong Kong’s retail sector
demonstrated remarkable resilience in 2024 by embracing
innovation, sustainability, and cross-border collaboration.
As consumer preferences continue to evolve, retailers that
prioritize omnichannel excellence, data-driven decision-making,
and regional collaboration are best positioned to capitalise on
emerging opportunities.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Market Overview: Hong Kong Retail Sector and Global
Dynamics (continued)

° Looking Ahead: Agility and Innovation as Growth Drivers

In summary, the retail sector’s future success will depend on
its ability to navigate an increasingly interconnected yet volatile
global economy. Key to this will be a steadfast commitment to
agility, customer-centricity, and forward-thinking strategies.

HKMALL (F%%), a leading cross-border e-commerce
platform, exemplifies this strategic evolution. By leveraging
its advanced infrastructure and localised expertise, HKMALL
empowers Hong Kong retailers to access both the GBA’s
affluent consumer base and global markets. This dual reach
reinforces Hong Kong’s position as a pivotal hub in both
regional and international trade networks, driving growth and
innovation in the retail sector. HKMALL is well positioned to
leverage this development and expand its reach into the GBA
and beyond to global markets.

Business Review

The Group embarked on a transformative journey since 2020,
redefining its business model to adapt to the rapidly evolving
retail landscape. This transformation has been centered around
expanding product offerings, leveraging technological innovation,
and building a robust omnichannel ecosystem. 2024 is a year
of strategic transformation for the Group. The Group has further
streamlined its operations by taking a bold strategic decision to
terminate the traditional physical retail shop operations, whilst
focusing the resources and investment into enhancement of the
HKMALL eCommerce operations as well as development of the
new form of B2B business via O20 operations in Chinese Mainland
leveraging on bonded warehouse operations. While these efforts
have positioned the Group for long-term growth, the termination of
the physical shops have contributed to a decline in turnover, and
with additional investment in building the new business model, the
past year presented significant challenges that impacted financial
performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Business Review (continued)

The Group has however, successfully diversified its product range
since 2020, expanding from pure cosmetics to include “Beauty,
Health & Lifestyle” products, enhancing the consumer experience.
This expansion has allowed us to cater to a broader customer
base and align with shifting consumer preferences. Operationally,
the Group has harnessed technological innovation to transition
from traditional retail to a new business ecosystem that benefits
all stakeholders, including consumers, merchants, and suppliers.
HKMALL 2.0 is a global eCommerce platform that supports Hong
Kong merchants and overseas brands across 34 countries and 41
market platforms, and has created an ecosystem to assist Hong
Kong small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in digitally transforming
their traditional business models. This is going strong, and number
of suppliers participating in HKMALL is on the increase. As of 30
June 2025, there are over 390,000 SKUs and 4,600 suppliers on
HKMALL, compared to around 310,000 SKUs and 3,200 suppliers in
2023.

Bonjour’s strategy emphasizes omnichannel excellence, creating
value for customers through seamless integration of online and
offline channels. These efforts have continued into 2024, by
developing the bonded warehouse operations in Hainan and
Guangzhou, significant investments have been made to enhance
multichannel initiatives and building capabilities for cross-border
sales.

The Group also collaborated with reputable shopping platforms in
the Mainland to accelerate sale of the Group’s private label beauty
products in the period. A successful pilot run was partnering with
Hunan TV to sell “Suisse Reborn” skincare products on their TV
Shopping Channel “Happigo” (fR%488), successfully marketing
products to Mainland customers through a digital TV platform.

Recognising the growing influence of social media and Key Opinion
Leaders (KOLs) on consumer purchasing decisions, the Group has
established a dedicated product outlet spanning over 10,000 square
feet. This space allows KOLs to source a wide variety of products
and conduct live showcases on social media, promoting products
and engaging with audiences in real-time.

The Group collaborates with many organizations to promote live
streaming and encourages the young generation to be educated on
digital business. The Group has worked with the Junior Chamber of
Commerce to launch competitions that nurture aspiring KOLs in live
commerce and online marketing for the past four years.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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BONJOUR

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Business Review (continued)

Despite these achievements, the Group experienced a decline in
turnover in the Period. Key factors include:

1.  “Global Economic Challenges”: Slowing global economic
growth, inflationary pressures, and fluctuating exchange rates
dampened consumer spending.

2.  “Strategic Retail Infrastructure Restructuring”: The Group
prioritized sustainable growth over short-term gains, exiting
traditional retail markets and reallocating resources to digital
new retail models. While these measures impacted turnover,
they are expected to yield stronger profitability in the long run.

3.  “Strategic Investments in Bonded Operations” A significant
portion of the Group’s resources was channeled into building
bonded warehouse operations and deploying bonded cross-
border vending machines in Chinese Mainland. These initiatives
are part of the Group’s long-term strategy to enhance cross-
border e-commerce capabilities and improve supply chain
efficiency. While these investments temporarily impacted
turnover, they are poised to drive future growth by enabling
faster and more cost-effective access to Mainland markets
for international products. These initiatives not only enhance
consumer experience but also foster cross-border trade
between China and global markets.

Looking Forward

Looking forward, the Group remains optimistic about the growth
potential of cross-border e-commerce and omnichannel retail. While
the decline in turnover reflects the challenges of the past eighteen
months, it also underscores our commitment to building a more
resilient and agile global business. By staying attuned to market
dynamics and investing in strategic initiatives, we are confident
in our ability to drive sustainable growth and deliver value to our
stakeholders in the years to come.

Flagship Platform for Beauty and Lifestyle Excellence

HKMALL is a leading eCommerce platform offering a diverse range
of beauty, skincare, health and lifestyle products through both
outright ownership and consignment models. As a comprehensive
marketplace, HKMALL caters to a wide array of consumer needs,
providing access to premium products from around the globe.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Business Review (continued)

Flagship Platform for Beauty and Lifestyle Excellence
(continued)

Within the HKMALL ecosystem, the Group operates “Bonjour Global
Outlet”, a dedicated e-shop specialising in beauty and skincare.
Bonjour Global Outlet proudly features an extensive portfolio of over
100 overseas renowned brands, including exclusive distribution
agreements with prestigious names such as “Suisse Reborn”, “Dr.
Bauer”, “Yumei”, “WOWWOW?”, “Dr. Schafter”, “.Skin Focus”, “Love
Impact” and “Swiss 3” etc. The e-shop’s curated offerings span
luxurious fragrances, innovative cosmetics, revitalising haircare, and
indulgent body care products, ensuring customers have access to
the very best in beauty and skincare.

HKMALL is committed to delivering exceptional value by offering
high-quality products at competitive prices, making luxury and
efficacy accessible to all. A dedicated team continuously monitors
market trends and consumer behavior, leveraging in-depth research
to identify emerging preferences and popular items. This proactive
approach enables HKMALL to stay ahead of industry trends and
meet the evolving needs of its customers.

By prioritizing quality, innovation, and customer satisfaction, the
Group seeks to enhance customers’ lives with exceptional products
tailored to their unique preferences and lifestyles. This dual approach
ensures that the Group remains a trusted leader in the beauty,
skincare, health and lifestyle sectors, addressing the ever-changing
demands of modern consumers.

Strategic Cooperation and Industry Innovation Leadership

Beyond advancing its own growth, the Group remains steadfast in
empowering small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) through
premium eCommerce solutions and integrated intelligent retail
systems. These offerings are designed to accelerate the digital
evolution of traditional industries into agile, innovation driven
enterprises. By leveraging its advanced eCommerce and technology
platform, the Group not only optimises cost structures and
operational efficiency for businesses but also equips clients with
tools to attain superior operational performance.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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BONJOUR

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Business Review (continued)

Strategic Cooperation and Industry Innovation Leadership
(continued)

To catalyze the shift of conventional enterprises toward modernized
frameworks, the Group oversees the “Hong Kong Industry Innovation
Centre” (HKIIC). This flagship initiative harnesses the synergy of
“Industry + technology + Capital” to propel digital transformation.
Designated as the Hong Kong hub for the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macau Youth Entrepreneurship Incubator”, the HKIIC delivers end-
to-end support encompassing shared workspace solutions, startup
incubation and acceleration programs, financing advisory services,
and ecosystem development. HKIIC has been accredited under
Cyberport’s “Accelerator Support Program (CASP)”, affirming their
status as certified accelerators within the Cyberport innovation
ecosystem.

The Group further strengthens its competitive edge through strategic
alliances with bonded warehousing facilities in Guangzhou and
Hainan, bolstering wholesale capabilities and optimising logistics
and distribution networks. These partnerships enhance supply
chain agility, ensuring rapid and cost-effective product delivery while
unlocking access to untapped markets. SMEs benefit from expanded
cross-border eCommerce channels, enabling broader customer
reach and participation in global trade opportunities. Moving forward,
the Group will intensify efforts to scale its cross-border wholesale
operations, positioning itself as a critical enabler for international
suppliers seeking to penetrate and expand within Mainland China’s
dynamic consumer market.

By fostering innovation, collaboration, and digital excellence, the
Group continues to drive sustainable value creation for stakeholders
and partners worldwide.

Strategic Outlook

Digital transformation continues to redefine industries at an
unprecedented pace. Building on the strategic pivot launched in
early 2020, the Group has evolved its business model to align with
emerging technological and consumer trends, ensuring sustainable
value creation and superior shareholder returns. Central to this
evolution is the “Technology + Consumption” framework, which
integrates advanced digital solutions to accelerate consumer
engagement and market penetration. This strategy will remain a
cornerstone of growth in 2025 and continue into 2026, enabling the
Group to cultivate an interconnected, innovation-driven ecosystem
that supports both its operations and the digital ambitions of partner
enterprises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Strategic Outlook (continued)

Retail Innovation via HKMALL (& #5)

The Group’s retail division is spearheaded by HKMALL, a
dynamic digital commerce hub that transcends traditional
online retail. Beyond serving as Bonjour’s flagship eCommerce
portal, HKMALL empowers merchants to establish scalable
digital storefronts, democratizing access to cutting-edge
eCommerce tools. This platform has become a critical enabler
for Hong Kong SMEs, offering a rapid transition from legacy
operations to agile, digitally integrated business models.

Omni-Channel Ecosystem Development

Through its omni-channel retail network, HKMALL fosters
strategic partnerships with suppliers, leveraging data-
driven insights on consumer behavior, product trends, and
purchasing patterns to refine supply chain dynamics. Suppliers
are increasingly integrated into the platform as hybrid online
wholesalers and retailers, enhancing marketplace diversity. To
meet evolving consumer demands, the Group will further curate
a diversified product portfolio aligned with its mission to deliver
a “petter life” for customers. Concurrently, exclusive distribution
partnerships will be prioritized to optimise risk mitigation and
margin expansion.

Operational Efficiency and Sustainability

Digital transformation extends beyond customer-facing
operations to internal process optimisation. By deploying
automation and Al-driven workflows, the Group has
achieved significant gains in operational efficiency, reducing
redundancies and elevating per-employee productivity. A
commitment to sustainability is further embedded through
paperless transactions and resource-light processes, aligning
with global ESG standards while reducing environmental
footprints.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Cross-Border Growth and Collaborative Commerce

In the Period, the Group strengthened its cross-border B2B
capabilities through a joint investment in bonded warehouses in
Guangzhou and Hainan, enhancing its foothold in the Greater
Bay Area’s eCommerce landscape. Complementing this, Al-
powered bonded vending machines were strategically deployed
across high-traffic transit hubs, creating an integrated offline-
to-online (020) ecosystem. These initiatives provide SMEs with
a seamless, one-stop platform to access expansive markets
across the region.

The Group has also cultivated a robust influencer commerce
network, partnering with key opinion leaders (KOLs) on a
consignment basis. This asset-light model eliminates inventory
risks for KOLs while amplifying product visibility, driving
incremental revenue streams at minimal cost.

Confidence in Future Growth

While the Group’s traditional retail segment faced subdued
recovery in 2024, strategic investments in new retail
technologies and cross-border expansions — particularly in the
Greater Bay Area and emerging Chinese markets — position
the business for revitalised growth in 2025 and beyond. The
Group’s HKMall platform and wholesale operations are jointly
driving new 020 global trading opportunities, serving as a
powerful growth engine. Leveraging our unique positioning,
we act as a strategic gateway for Mainland enterprises going
global, providing them with a one-stop solution for their
overseas expansion. With a robust foundation in innovation, an
expanded service scope, and a recalibrated risk management
framework, the Group is poised to capitalise on post-pandemic
opportunities, delivering sustainable returns to shareholders
and reinforcing its leadership in the digital economy era.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Strategic Outlook (continued)
° Confidence in Future Growth (continued)

Overall, while the Group’s retail business experienced a slow
recovery in the Period, coupled with strategic investments in
new ventures as outlined above, the expansion of innovative
business models across the Greater Bay Area and other key
regions in China positions the Group for renewed growth in
2025 and beyond. This is further bolstered by the strategic
push into O20 global trade and supporting Mainland
enterprise overseas. Bolstered by advancements in new retail
technologies and an expanded operational scope, the Group
is confident in its ability to regain momentum and deliver
enhanced value to shareholders. With a robust foundation
and a forward-looking strategy, the Group is poised to make a
timely resurgence, driving sustainable returns and reinforcing its
leadership in the evolving global market landscape.

Financial Review
Overview

Hong Kong’s retail market is indeed navigating a challenging
landscape. The shift in consumption habits, combined with reduced
cross-border spending — likely influenced by travel restrictions and
economic factors — has put pressure on retailers.

Specifically, in the cosmetics sector, while a modest growth rate of
around 2.8% is forecasted, the decline in high-value consumers and
diminished purchasing power due to elevated unemployment rates
are significant headwinds. The unemployment rate reached 3.7% in
July 2025, the highest since 2022. This suggested that although the
market is growing, the quality and volume of spending may be uneven,
with fewer luxury or premium purchases.

Meanwhile, a recent survey by Mckinsey on ecommerce consumers
revealed that they are less prioritization of speed, more sensitivity to
costs and flexible delivery options and return policies. Social media,
personalized solutions, and post-purchase engagement continue
to be powerful drivers influencing consumer buying behavior in
e-commerce. Meanwhile, evolving consumer preferences, growing
price sensitivity, and strong competition from mainland suppliers play
crucial roles in shaping online shopping trends.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)
Overview (continued)

The Group turnover achieved HK$91.0 million, representing a
decrease of 90% from last year (2023: HK$950.3 million). The shop
sales declined by 63%, the sales of technology products declined
96% than 2023 and eCommerce business decrease by 37%. The
Group’s cross border eCommerce platform HKMall is well placed
to capture this ‘New Normal’. Overall gross profit declined by
45%, and gross margin percentage improved by 31% than 2023.
Gross margin for wholesaling and retailing of beauty, health-care
and lifestyle products was 63% (2023: 72%) and wholesaling of
technology products was 1% (2023: 2%). The Group recorded loss
of HK$278.4 million (2023: profit HK$54.0 million, comprising a gain
on deconsolidation of a subsidiary).

As previously indicated, the Group’s reported loss of HK$278.4
million was significantly impacted by non-recurring items totalling
approximately HK$202.7 million. These consisted of a HK$153.8
million loss on a fund investment, driven by the property market
downturn, and a HK$48.9 million of accounting provision for
impaired trade and other receivables. Excluding these exceptional
items, the loss attributable to the Group’s core operations was
HK$75.7 million.

Bank and cash balance as at 30 June 2025 amounted to
approximately HK$3.9 million (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$16.1 million). Net current liabilities increased from approximately
HK$53.0 million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$162.3
million as at 30 June 2025. The current ratio of the Group was also
decreased from approximately 0.64 as of 31 December 2023 to
approximately 0.14 as at 30 June 2025. The Management of the
Group has active plans to improve the financial results leveraging on
digital transformation to achieve ultimate profitability as well as long
term sustainable growth for the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)
Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s cash and bank deposits amounted
to approximately HK$3.9 million (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$16.1 million). The Group’s bank and other borrowings, and lease
liabilities as at 30 June 2025 were HK$101.1 million (31 December
2023: approximately HK$116.5 million), approximately HK$58.0
million borrowings (31 December 2023: approximately HK$43.2
million) were repayable within next 12 months. As at 30 June 2025,
among the current liabilities of approximately HK$189.1 million (31
December 2023: approximately HK$147.4 million), approximately
HK$28.2 million was related to lease liabilities (31 December
2023: HK$27.9 million) and approximately HK$58.0 million was
mainly related to bank and other borrowings (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$15.3 million).

The Group’s net debt ratio as at 30 June 2025 was approximately
1.97 (31 December 2023: approximately 0.41), and was calculated
based on the Group’s bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities
divided by total equity of approximately HK$51.5 million (31 December
2023: approximately HK$282.2 million). Total liabilities to shareholders
funds was approximately 4.0 (31 December 2023: approximately 4.0).
The current ratio of the Group as at 30 June 2025 was approximately
0.14 (31 December 2023: approximately 0.64). The Group services its
debt primarily through the cash earned from its operations.

Net cash outflow from operating activities for the Period was
approximately HK$58.8 million (2023: outflow of approximately
HK$59.0 million). The loss before tax was approximately HK$278.4
million (2023: profit before tax was approximately HK$54.6 million).
The total amount of non-cash items amounting to approximately
HK$223.4 million (mainly comprise of share result of joint venture
and impairment loss on trade and other receivables) and there was a
net increase in working capital of approximately HK$9.2 million.
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BONJOUR

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)
Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

Net cash outflow from investing activities for the Period was
approximately HK$1.3 million (2023: Net inflow of approximately
HK$6.7 million), which mainly represented and net proceeds from
purchase of property, plant and equipment.

Net cash inflow from financing activities for the Period was
approximately HK$47.9 million (2023: Net outflow of approximately
HK$50.4 million), which mainly represented proceeds from other
borrowings and shareholder loans.

Extract of Independent Auditor’s Report

The following is an extract of independent auditor’s report issued by
the Group’s independent auditor:

“Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the eighteen months ended 30 June
2025 in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which describes the principal conditions that raise doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. These events
or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Dilution Impact on Earnings Per Share

The effects of potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for the
eighteen months ended 30 June 2025 and the year ended 31
December 2023.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)
Litigation

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has been involved in numerous
ongoing legal proceedings and claims. The management has made
full provision for the accrued rentals and has been pursuing favorable
settlement solutions with the plaintiffs.

Foreign Exchange and Bank Borrowing Interest Rate
Exposures

The Group has limited exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations
given that most of its assets, receipts and payments are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Macau Pataca and Renminbi
with a few denominated in Japanese Yen and Euro. The Group will
continue to monitor its foreign exchange receipts and payments
and the gearing levels on an on-going basis and, if necessary, will
hedge the foreign exchange exposure by forward foreign exchange
contracts. As at 30 June 2025 and 31 December 2023, the Group’s
bank borrowings were not dominated in foreign currency.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had bank and other borrowings
amounting to approximately HK$73.0 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$47.5 million). The bank borrowings were arranged
at both fixed interest rate and floating interest rate basis at short-
term inter-bank offer rates.

Capital Structure

On 30 September 2024, the Company held an extraordinary general
meeting and resolutions were passed to approve:—

(@) the consolidation of every twenty issued and unissued ordinary
shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company into one consolidated share of par values of HK$0.2
(“Share Consolidation”);

(b)  the reduction of the issued share capital of the Company
by way of a reduction of the par value of each issued
consolidation share from HK$0.20 to HK$0.01 by a
cancellation of the paid up share capital to the extent of
HK$0.19 per issued consolidated share (“Capital Reduction”);
and

(c) immediately after the Capital Reduction, the sub-division of the
authorised but unissued consolidated share of HK$0.20 into
twenty (20) authorised but unissued new shares of HK$0.01
each (“Sub-division”).
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BONJOUR

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)
Capital Structure (continued)

The Share Consolidation became effective on 3 October 2024. On
18 December 2024, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands made
an order confirming the Capital Reduction. The Capital Reduction
and the Sub-division became effective on 23 December 2024.

Details of the Share Consolidation, the Capital Reduction and the
Sub-division have been published on the Company’s announcements
dated 3 September 2024 and 26 December 2024, the Company’s
circular dated 6 September 2024 and the Company’s poll results
announcement dated 30 September 2024.

On 12 November 2024, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with Mr. Chen Jianwen (the “Subscription Agreement”).
According to the Subscription Agreement, Mr. Chen Jianwen has
conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Group has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue a total of 210,000,000 of subscription
shares, at a subscription price of HK$0.158 per subscription
share, by the way of offsetting the part of the outstanding principal
and accrued interest of the shareholder’s loan of approximately
HK$33,180,000 payable to Mr. Chen Jianwen.

Upon the completion of the allotment and issue of the subscription
shares, the amount of HK$33,180,000 under the shareholder’s
loan shall be deemed as repaid. The allotment and issue of the
subscription shares was completed on 13 January 2025.

Charges on Group Assets
As at 30 June 2025, none of the assets of the Group were pledged

(31 December 2023: none of the assets were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)

Connected Transaction Loan Capitalisation involving Issue of
New Shares under Specific Mandate

On 12 November 2024, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with Mr. Chen Jianwen
as the executive director and the controlling shareholder (the
“Subscriber”), pursuant to which the Subscriber has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for and the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue 210,000,000 subscription shares (the
“Subscription Shares”) at a Subscription Price of HK$0.158 per
Subscription Share to the Subscriber, which shall be satisfied by way
of offsetting part of the outstanding principal and accrued interest of
the shareholder’s loan of approximately HK$33,180,000 payable by
the Company to the Subscriber (the “Loan Capitalisation”). Upon
completion, the amount of HK$33,180,000 under the shareholder’s
loan shall be deemed to have been repaid.

The Subscription Shares represent approximately 88.34% of the
existing number of issued shares immediately before Completion and
approximately 46.90% of the enlarged number of issued shares of
447,715,799 shares immediately following Completion.

As the Subscriber is the chairman of the Board, an executive
Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company, and hence
a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, the Subscription Agreement, the Loan Capitalisation,
the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a connected
transaction of the Company and is subject to the reporting,
announcement, circular and Independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save for the Subscriber who
is deemed to be interested in the Subscription Agreement, none of
the Directors has any interest in the Subscription Agreement, the
Loan Capitalisation, the allotment and issue of the Subscription
Shares and the transactions contemplated thereunder or is otherwise
required to abstain from voting on the relevant resolution(s) of the
Board.

The Extraordinary General Meeting has been convened and held on
10 January 2025 for the purpose of considering and, as thought fit,
approving the Subscription Agreement, the Loan Capitalisation, the
allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares and the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the grant of the Specific Mandate for
the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares.
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BONJOUR

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)

Connected Transaction Loan Capitalisation involving Issue of
New Shares under Specific Mandate (continued)

In accordance with Rule 14A.36 of the Listing Rules, the Subscriber
has been required to abstain from voting on the resolution(s) to
approve the Subscription Agreement, the Loan Capitalisation, the
allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares and the transactions
contemplated thereunder at the Extraordinary General Meeting.
Save as disclosed above, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, other
than the Subscriber, no other shareholder has a material interest in
the transactions contemplated under the Subscription Agreement,
including the grant of the Specific Mandate, and has been
required to abstain from voting on the resolution(s) to approve the
Subscription Agreement, the Loan Capitalisation, the allotment and
issue of the Subscription Shares and the transactions contemplated
thereunder and the grant of the Specific Mandate to the Directors for
the allotment and issue of the subscription shares to the Subscriber
at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 10 January 2025.

Completion of the Loan Capitalisation took place on 13 January
2025 and the Subscription Shares were allotted and issued to the
Subscriber under the Specific Mandate obtained at the Extraordinary
General Meeting held on 10 January 2025.

Details of the connected transactions have been published on
the Company’s announcement dated 12 November 2024, the
Company’s circular dated 20 December 2024 and the Company’s
poll results announcement dated 10 January 2025.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates
and Joint Ventures

Save as disclosed in note 39 of the consolidated financial statement,
there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Period.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

The Board will consider plans for investments and capital assets
which can improve the Company’s profitability and liquidity.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)
Human Resources

The Group adheres to a strong belief that one of the most valuable
assets of a corporation is its employees. As at 30 June 2025, the
Group had approximately 59 (2023: approximately 158) full-time
and part-time employees in Hong Kong. Staff costs including
Directors’ emoluments for the Period were significantly streamlined
at approximately HK$51.5 million (2023: approximately HK$59.1
million).

The Group values its human resources and recognizes the
importance of attracting and retaining qualified staff for its continuing
success. Remuneration packages are generally structured by
reference to market terms and individual qualifications. In addition,
share options and discretionary bonuses may also be granted to
eligible employees based on individual’s performance. The Group
also provides mandatory provident fund schemes, medical insurance
schemes, staff purchases discounts and training programs for our
employees.

Events After the Reporting Period

Allotment and issue of 951,290,838 ordinary shares on 16
September 2025 pursuant to the rights issue on the basis of
three (3) rights shares for every one (1) existing share held on the
record date on a non-underwritten basis, and the entering into of
supplemental placing agreements for further extension of the placing
period, details of which are set out in the Company’s prospectus
dated 25 August 2025 and announcements dated 15 September
2025, 22 September 2025 and 25 September 2025, respectively.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

Save as disclosed herein, there was no purchase, sale or redemption
by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of any listed securities of
the Company during the Period.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Period.
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BONJOUR

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)
Change of auditor

RSM Hong Kong (‘RSM”) resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 10 June 2022. On the same day, the Board, with the
recommendation of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”), appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as
the new auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of RSM and to hold office until the conclusion of the
annual general meeting of the Company. For further details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 10 June 2022
and 20 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor of
the Company in any of the preceding three years.

Redemption of Convertible Bonds and issue of Warrants

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 1 April
2021 and 9 April 2021, the Target Company issued the convertible
bonds in the principal amount of HK$129,500,000 (the “Convertible
Bonds”) to Karfond Limited (the “Subscriber”) on 9 April 2021. On
the same day, the Company, the Target Company, Apex Frame, Mr.
Chen Jianwen and the Subscriber entered into a deed of undertaking
(the “Deed of Undertaking”) whereby the Subscriber was granted a
right of first refusal for the sale of the Property and/or the shares of
the Target Company and Apex Frame, and a co-development right in
respect of the Property, further details of which are disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 April 2021.

Pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Bonds, the Disposal
constituted an event which confers a right on the Subscriber to, at
its option, require early redemption of the Convertible Bonds before
its maturity date, which is 9 April 2026 (“Early Redemption”). On
the other hand, pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Bonds,
unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled,
the earliest date on which the Target Company may, at its option,
redeem the outstanding Convertible Bonds is 9 April 2024.

The Directors considered that the issue of Warrants to the
Subscriber at nil consideration would serve as a necessary and
suitable incentive for the Subscriber to (i) consent to the Disposal,
and (i) waive all its rights and claims under the Deed of Undertaking
upon Early Redemption, both of which are conditions precedent to
the Disposal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Review (continued)

Redemption of Convertible Bonds and issue of Warrants
(continued)

Therefore, upon the Fund paying the Subscriber the outstanding
principal amount of HK$110,500,000 together with accrued interest
on behalf of the Target Company to redeem the Convertible Bonds in
full pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the outstanding
Convertible Bonds were redeemed in full and the Subscriber’s
consent to the Disposal became unconditional and effective, and
on 29 June 2022, the Company has issued 581,578,947 unlisted
warrants conferring rights to subscribe for 581,578,947 shares
of the Company (the “Warrants”) upon full redemption of the
Convertible Bonds.

The issue price of the Warrants is nil. The exercise price (subject to
adjustment events set out in and in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Warrants) of the Warrants is HK$0.19 per Warrant
Share, which represents: (1) approximately 38.686% premium to
the closing price of HK$0.1370 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the date of the announcement of the issue of the
Warrants; and (2) approximately 37.681% premium to the average
closing price of HK$0.1380 per share for the last five consecutive
trading days immediately preceding the date of the announcement of
the issue of the Warrants.

For details of the issue of the Warrants, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 28 March 2022, 21 April
2022, 6 May 2022, 20 May 2022, 30 May 2022, 27 June 2022 and
29 June 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 7 June 2022.

The subscription rights attached to the Warrants are exercised in
full, the number of issued shares of the Company will be increased
by 29,078,947 (the “Warrants Shares”), representing approximately
6.49% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 30 June
2025 (i.e. 447,715,799 shares) and approximately 6.10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment
and issue of the Warrants Shares (i.e. 476,794,746 shares).
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Jianwen (“Mr. Chen”), aged 63, is the chairman of
the Board (the “Chairman”) and an executive director. Mr. Chen
was appointed as an executive Director on 20 January 2016. He
is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Chen is a seasoned merchant in various businesses and is mainly
responsible for the business development of the Company. He
is currently the chairman of Haifu International Finance Holding
Group Ltd (“Haifu”) and has diverse investments in Chinese
Mainland including commercial real estate, natural resources and
manufacturing businesses. He is also a justice of the peace of
the Special Administrative Region of Hong Kong (the “HKSAR”),
a member of the Election Committee of the HKSAR, a convenor
of Inner Mongolia Autonomous Regional Committee (Hong Kong
Region) of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
the honorary president of Hong Kong Shine Tak Foundation, the
honorary manager of Nan Tien Institute (Australia) and the founding
vice-chairman of Chinese Academy of Governance (HK) Industrial
and Commercial Professionals Alumni Association.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna (“Dr. Chiu”), aged 65, is an executive
director. Dr. Chiu was appointed as an executive director on 31
December 2020. She is currently the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. Dr Chiu has extensive experience in accounting, business
management and operations. Dr Chiu graduated with a first-class
honours bachelor’'s degree in economics from the University of
Sheffield in the United Kingdom and obtained an Executive Master
of Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Subsequently, she received an honorary doctorate from the
University of Sheffield. Dr Chiu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales, a certified
information systems auditor and a member of the Chinese Institute
of the Certified Public Accountants.

She was the president of the Information Systems Audit and Control
Association (China Hong Kong Chapter) from 2001 to 2006, and the
president of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in 2013. Dr Chiu is currently an independent non-executive Director
of China Qilfield Services Limited (stock code: 2883), China Science
and Education Industry Group Limited (stock code: 1756) and
Shenwan Hongyuan (H.K.) Limited (stock code: 0218). Dr Chiu is
also an independent non-executive director of Nanyang Commercial
Bank Limited.

From 2006 to 2019, she served as a senior vice president, Group
Chief Representative (Eastern China) and consultant in various
member companies of the Li & Fung Group. Dr Chiu was awarded
the Medal of Honor by the Government of the HKSAR in 2013
and was appointed Justice of the Peace in 2017. Dr Chiu received
numerous titles including the “Outstanding Women Professionals”
Award in 2014, the “Outstanding Business Woman” in 2017 and
the “GBA Outstanding Women Entrepreneur” Award in 2021. She
is a member of the Shanghai Municipal Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC), and Hong Kong
Accounting Advisory Expert of the Ministry of Finance of the People’s
Republic of China.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. KWOK Chi Shing (“Mr. Kwok”), aged 63, is an independent
non-executive director. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of each of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Kwok was
appointed as an independent non-executive director on 21
September 2020 of the Company. Mr. Kwok is currently a certified
public accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. Kwok obtained a degree of
Master of Arts in Economics with Accountancy from the University
of Aberdeen in the U.K. in July 1986. He has been a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since January 1991 and a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland since November 1989.

Mr. Kwok is currently an independent non-executive director for a
number of Hong Kong listed companies on the Main Board, namely
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (XEFE T
MR B IER AR AT) (stock code: 620) and Fantasia Holdings
Group Co., Limited (TEHFEZERKREBEBRAR) (stock code: 1777)
and was appointed as an independent non-executive director for a
number of Hong Kong listed companies on the Main Board and the
GEM Board, namely of DeTeam Company Ltd (373875 [E‘A ) (stock
code: 8112, delisted on 20 June 2009) from 27 January 2006 to
22 June 2009, Grand Ocean Advanced Resources Company Limited
GLEESHERARAT) (stock code: 0065) from 27 January 2006
to 18 September 2020, Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company
Limited CER4AMEBZ2ZERBRAQF) (stock code: 8622) from
26 November 2018 to 1 September 2020, EPS Creative Health
Technology Group Limited (EPSEIEREE AR A R) (stock
code: 3860) from 23 January 2017 to 30 June 2021, Speed Apparel
Holding Limited (325 B %R B IR A 7)) (stock code: 8183, delisted
on 12 December 2019) from 23 January 2017 to 12 December 2019
and Hang Chi Holdings (8% £ %A BR 2 B]) (stock code: 8405) from
21 June 2017 to 15 August 2022.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. LEE Kwun Kwan (“Mr. Lee”), aged 63, is an independent
non-executive director. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee of the Company.
Mr. Lee was appointed as an independent non-executive director
on 31 August 2020. Mr. Lee obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree
in the University of Hong Kong in 1986 and Master of Business
Administration degree in Lingnan University in 2003. Mr. Lee is a
veteran in the insurance industry of Hong Kong. Mr. Lee had been
appointed from 2005 to 2006, as the President of the General
Agents and Managers Association of Hong Kong Limited; from 2007
to 2011, as the member of Insurance Training Board of Vocational
Training Council; from 2011 to 2014, as the Founder and First
Convener for the Insurance and Financial Practitioners Alliance; from
2012 to 2016, as a member for the Insurance Advisory Committee
in the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau of the Hong Kong
Government; and from 2014 to 2019, as the Vice President of The
Life Underwriters Association of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lee is also
a committee member of Insurance Management Committee of The
Hong Kong Management Association since 2007, the President
of the International Asset Planner Association since 2011, the
Vice President of Asset Management Committee, CEPA Business
Opportunities Development Alliance since September 2014, and
the Deputy Convener in the Insurance Industry Regulatory &
Development Concern Group since August 2019 and convener from
2022 to 2024.

Mr. YAN Sherman Chuek-ning (“Mr. Yan”), aged 63, is an
independent non-executive director. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the audit committee of the
Company. Mr. Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 15 September 2020. Mr. Yan is currently a practicing
solicitor and a Notary Public in Hong Kong. He is also the Managing
Partner of ONC Lawyers. Mr. Yan was also admitted as a solicitor in
England and Wales. Mr. Yan graduated from the University of London
with a bachelor’s degree in laws and the University of Southampton
with a master’s degree in maritime laws.

Senior Management

Mr. WONG lu Ming (“Mr. Wong”), aged 70, is the chief executive
officer (the “Chief Executive Officer”) and the company secretary of
the Company. Mr. Wong was appointed as chief executive officer of
the Company on 10 July 2020 and was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 9 July 2021. He is also a director
of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He had been a general manager of Internal Audit of Urban Renewal
Authority. Mr. Wong is currently a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He is also currently an executive director and
deputy chief executive officer of Haifu, a director of Global Leather
Intelligence (HK) Limited, China Leather Intelligence Limited, Innogy
Global Limited, Haifu China Petrochemical Group Limited and a
member of executive committee of the Society for the Promotion
of Hospice Care. Mr. Wong also has extensive experience in risk
controls, finance and administration, internal audit of sizable Hong
Kong public bodies and multinational conglomerates.
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. Throughout the Period, the
Company has applied the principles of good corporate governance
and complied with all the applicable code provisions prescribed in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in the
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code for the Period.

Board of Directors
Composition of the Board of Directors

As at the date of the annual report, the Board comprises five
Directors, of whom two are executive directors, namely Mr. Chen
Jianwen and Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna and three are independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Kwok Chi Shing, Mr. Lee Kwun
Kwan and Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning. Each of the Directors’
biographical details are set out in the “Directors and Senior
Management Profiles” of the annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board of Directors (continued)
Composition of the Board of Directors (continued)

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each director
having sound knowledge, experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of the Group. To the best knowledge of the Company, there
is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among members of the Board. All executive directors and
independent non-executive directors bring a variety of experience
and expertise to the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. During the Period,
Mr. Chen Jianwen, an executive director, and Mr. Wong lu Ming,
respectively continue to be the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer. During the Period, the roles and duties of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer have been separately undertaken by different
officers.

Mr. Chen Jianwen, the Chairman, is responsible for the leadership
of the Board, assignment of responsibilities among members of
the Board, and maintaining the proper conduct and proceedings of
meetings of the Board and the shareholders, and overseeing the
Group’s overall direction and strategic planning. In addition, the
chairman of the Company also plays a key role in encouraging all the
Directors to actively contribute to the Board affairs and establishing
good corporate governance practices and procedures.

Mr. Wong Ilu Ming, the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for
managing the business and affairs of the Company, recommending
and implementing strategic, business and operating plans,
directing and overseeing the activities of the Group, developing and
implementing operational policies under the strategic directions
adopted by the Board, developing and recommending organizational
structure, and ensuring that the Board has the required information
to fulfill its duties.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board of Directors (continued)
Functions of the Board of Directors

The Company is governed by the Board which is responsible for
directing and supervising its affairs. The Board is accountable to
shareholders for the development of the Group with the goal of
maximising long-term shareholders’ value, while balancing broader
stakeholders’ interests.

The Board is also responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, overseeing the Group’s businesses and evaluating the
performance of the Group. Besides, the Board also focuses on
overall strategic development of the Group and its policies with
particular attention paid to the growth and financial performance of
the Group.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to
executive directors and management of the Company with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the business/
functions, while reserving certain key matters in making strategic
decision for its approval. When the Board delegates aspects of
its management and administration functions to management, it
has given clear directions as to the powers of management, in
particular, with respect to the circumstances where management
shall report back and obtain prior approval from the Board before
making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
there are three independent non-executive directors representing
at least one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-
executive directors, Mr. Kwok Chi Shing has appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors the written confirmation of their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on
such confirmation, considers that Mr. Kwok Chi Shing, Mr. Lee Kwun
Kwan and Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning are independent.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board of Directors (continued)
Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal

Mr. Kwok Chi Shing, Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan and Mr. Yan Sherman
Chuek-ning, as the independent non-executive directors, each has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of one
year commencing from 31 August 2020, 15 September 2020 and 21
September 2020, and will be renewed unless and until terminated by
either party serving not less than 30 days’ written notice.

In accordance with article 108 of the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles of Association”), Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen,
Susanna and Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company. All the retiring Directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM of the
Company.

Directors’ Training

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and
funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the Directors.

During the Period, all Directors received regular briefings and
updates on the Group’s business, operations, risk management
and corporate governance matters. Materials on new or changes to
the legal and regulatory environments applicable to the Group were
provided to the Directors.

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance for the Directors and officers covering the costs,
losses, expenses and liabilities that may arise from the performance
of their duties. The insurance policy covers legal action against
the Directors and Officers to comply with the requirement of the
CG code. During the CG period, no claim was made against the
Directors and Officers.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board of Directors (continued)
Directors’ Training (continued)

A summary of training received by the Directors for the Period
according to the records provided by the Directors is as follows:

Reading
Training materials
organised by updating on
professional new rules and
organizations regulations
RESFR
BEMREEN KRWRAIKRKRA
EEHEA Name of Directors b= B 44 )
BITES Executive Directors
FRfE et Mr. Chen Jianwen v v
R EE Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna v v
BIERITES Independent Non-executive Directors
EREERE Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan v v
gk Mr. Kwok Chi Shing v v
BIELE Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning v v
EEgERREETER Board Meetings and Board Practices

EFgABFRETRIORER &
FETRRAEAMBRESZEUNREESTE
FHRARZBRATRTERZ -EFR
REEZFETEZRTHRERSTRZ
ZRFEFBE BMEESFHERSE
KT mEEAARE - ARBZAHT
WE(T2AWE)) BEERBELEE
BATFTARERTDNEBRSEMANE
FEERNOEFREEFTTEEE
M- ZRERFEXH BEEFEU
BRETZEMERZEN  LEUR
EXEE2LATRFRFHMBER
E-2REFHAESAAMEZR
REERB MABDMEEENBDES
CRUHEENRBEFEZRTEN-
NEMETEERREFETERER
RABT THNEFERHEEEET
EFXEEEREFFEZER

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

The Board meets at least four times a year regularly, and the Board
will also meet on other occasions when a board-level decision
on a particular matter is required. The Directors receive details of
agenda items for decision in advance of each Board meeting and all
Directors are given the opportunity to include matters for discussion
in the agenda. The company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) is responsible for distributing the notice and
agenda of Board meeting and detailed documents to the Directors
prior to the Board meetings in accordance with the CG Code and the
Articles of Association of the Company to ensure that the Directors
are able to make informed decisions regarding the matters discussed
in the Board meetings so that they may receive accurate, timely
and clear information. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary who regularly updates the Board
on governance and regulatory matters. The Company Secretary is
also responsible for ensuring the procedures of the Board meetings
are observed and providing opinions to the Board on matters
in relation to the compliance with the procedures of the Board
meetings.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board of Directors (continued)

Board Meetings and Board Practices (continued)

Any Director wishing to do so in the furtherance of his or her
duties, he or she may take independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense. The Directors are encouraged to update their
skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group through their initial
induction, ongoing participation in Board and committee meetings,
and through meeting with key members of the management.

During the Period, three regular Board meetings were held. The
attendance records for the Directors’ meetings are set out below:

Directors’
Attendance
ERHERY
BITES Executive Directors
B At Mr. Chen Jianwen 3/3
HREEE T Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna 4/4
BiIERITES Independent Non-executive Directors
WEMFTE Mr. Kwok Chi Shing 4/4
TEBRE Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan 4/4
BOERE Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning 4/4
BRAXE General Meeting

RAEB  ARABDER=ZXTKREKX
g R_E_mEABZ+BE
Tz BE_ZFEREBEFATER
TENEAB=ZtTHEZEAHE
—Bt+HEETZ2MERERNAE -

During the Period, the Company held three general meetings,
being one AGM for the year 2023, held on 26 June 2024 and two
Extraordinary General Meetings held on 30 September 2024 and 10
January 2025. The attendance record is set out below:

EELHEHETMT
Directors’
Attendance
BEEHERY
BITES Executive Directors
FEfE A Mr. Chen Jianwen 3/3
HREEE LT Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna 3/3
BiERITES Independent Non-executive Directors
WEMITE Mr. Kwok Chi Shing 3/3
TEBRLE Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan 3/3
;TS E Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning 3/3
36 Annual Report 2024/2025



EEXERRS (&)
EXE2Z8T
BZEZEY

AABDER_BE2=ZFA+tAK
YERZEE HEEHELETH
REXERTRIZHER - BAT B
ZEENEEE-LBUFANTES
BEREE-FTEELAERANE.
E-BEREEREREETERE -
BEZZEEERAIIBRE RBRE
BERANBEZERBFZRB - AEBR
TP ZEERGEVBRREHEE
ZEEEERN-

BERZEEREFERLARIZHUM
Bt EBEREEEFECEEMR
W BREZEGZHEAER B
FAEBNEZE EREEARANBE
ERB VG BREARBZFRA
RERTHRS TAEFTRMR
RhEZE -BREZECSEERELEH
FTHRBZEERGEEMBRER -BXZ
ZECTEHEEEREKRIMEZBEME
TER U mEREERABEE
R M BRBRRL  NEE PR
ZESRARAEN - RAHE FZ
ZESERTHOREH UER (H
PEE AEEBEE_ZT A5 A
StHETNERZEEREEMH
BRERERAEEBHE_Z_NF+_A
=t+—BLE+ZERZREEZER
REMBRE UMNARPYBRERA
EFeRMUHEESERFHEMLE  TE
BERAEERMZ S5 RAKREERU
RERBEERANBEZRR BZ
ZEEERZHFECSHEHIWT

n

BONJOUR

Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board Committees
Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 17 June 2003
with written terms of reference no less exacting terms than the CG
Code. At present, members of the Audit Committee comprise three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwok Chi Shing,
Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan and Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning. Mr. Kwok Chi
Shing is the chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the effectiveness of both external audit and risk
management and internal control systems. The audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Period have been reviewed
by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee acts as an important link between the Board
and the Company’s auditor in matters within the scope of the
Group’s audit. The duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
discuss on the effectiveness of external audit, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, the Company’s annual report
and accounts, interim report and to provide advice and comments
to the Board. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Period. The
Audit Committee meets regularly with the management and the
external auditor to discuss the risk management and internal control
systems, financial reporting system, the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group. During the Period, four meetings
were held to review, among others, the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the eighteen months ended
30 June 2025 and the unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the twelve months ended 31 December
2024 with the recommendations to the Board for approval; and
has reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Group and its systems of risk management and internal control. The
attendance records for the Audit Committee meetings are set out
below:

Members’

Attendance

MEZHEZR

BRZEEHRE Members of the Audit Committee

PELE Mr. Kwok Chi Shing 4/4

FEBERE Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan 4/4

BIELE Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning 4/4
—EBCNE S —E_RFEFER 37
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 16 September 2005 with written
terms of reference no less exacting terms than the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee has the delegated responsibility to
determine the remuneration packages of executive directors and
senior management and makes recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive directors. No member of
Remuneration Committee should be involved in deciding his own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee will consider factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based
remuneration and review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of two members, including
two independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lee Kwun
Kwan and Mr. Kwok Chi Shing, Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. During the Period, one meeting was
held to review the remuneration packages of all the Directors and the
senior management. The attendance records for the Remuneration
Committee meetings are set out below:

Members’
Attendance
REZHER

HFMNEEERE Members of the Remuneration Committee
EFEBERE Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan 11
PWEMLE Mr. Kwok Chi Shing 1/1

EEFMNO2EREINEALINEE
REAUKRERNTRIEE - BE-T
“HFERB=ZTHLEHEBZESHMN
HBHNEEMBREWE 140

38

The remuneration of Directors is determined with reference to their
duties and responsibilities in the Company as well as the prevailing
market conditions. Details of emoluments of Directors for the Period
ended 30 June 2025 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 16 September 2005 with written terms of reference
no less exacting terms than the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for nominating potential candidates for
directorship based on the candidates’ qualifications, business
experience and suitability to the Company, reviewing the nomination
of the Directors, making recommendations to the Board on such
appointments and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy on 22
August 2013. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) on 14 December 2018 which sets out the nomination
criteria and procedures for the Company to select candidate(s)
for possible inclusion in the Board. The Nomination Policy could
assist the Company to achieve board diversity in the Company and
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and its corporate governance
standard.

When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors such as the
qualifications, skills, integrity and experience will be taken into
consideration as a whole. In the case of independent non-executive
Directors, they must further satisfy the independence criteria set
out within Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Since the selection of
candidates should ensure that diversity remains a central feature of
the Board, a range of diverse perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or professional
experience would be considered.

The process to identify potential candidates for the Board would be
as follows:

(1) identifying potential candidates, including recommendations

from the Board members, professional search firms and the
shareholders of the Company;
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)
Nomination Policy (continued)

(2) evaluating the candidates based on the approved selection
criteria through methods such as reviewing the resume and
conducting the background checks;

(3) reviewing the profiles of the shortlisted candidates and
interview them; and

(4) making recommendations to the Board on the selected
candidates.

The Nomination Policy also includes the Board succession plan
to assess whether vacancies on the Board would be created
or expected due to the Directors’ resignation, retirement, death
and other circumstances and to identify candidates in advance
if necessary. The Nomination Policy will be reviewed on a regular
basis.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, including
two independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Yan Sherman
Chuek-ning, Mr. Kwok Chi Shing and the executive director,
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susannna. Mr. Yan Sherman Cheuk-ning is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. During the Period, one
meeting was held to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board, assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors, and make recommendations to the Board relating to
the renewal services of independent non-executive directors. The
attendance records for the Nomination Committee meetings are set
out below:

Members’
Attendance
REZHER

REZEEHRE Members of the Nomination Committee
BIELE Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning 1/1
PEMLE Mr. Kwok Chi Shing 1/1
HEEE L Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna 0/0

EEEBREE

EFgN_E—_—_F="BA”-+N\B&
MECEESARECHEEE RIBEH
EEHHEEE EEgas U THEE

EARAE -

(a) HIETREBHEABDHNEEXEERR
RRER MREEZ

40

Corporate Governance Functions

The terms of reference on corporate governance functions was
adopted by the Board on 28 March 2012. The Board is responsible
for performing the following corporate governance duties with its
written terms of reference:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Corporate Governance Functions (continued)

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the “Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report” as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

During the Period, the Board performed the above mentioned duties
accordingly.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements and
Financial Reporting

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Period have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Directors acknowledge
their responsibility for preparing the accounts and presenting a
balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects. Save as disclosed in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are aware of
certain events or conditions that indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Directors, after making due
inquiries and considering the basis of cash flow forecasts and taking
into account the measures, conclude the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to meet in full of its working capital requirements
and financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

Auditor’s Remuneration

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited was engaged as the auditor of
the Company during the Period. The remunerations paid or payable
to Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited for the audit and non-audit
services (i.e. agreed upon procedures) amounted to HK$1,800,000
and HK$460,000 respectively.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Accountability and Audit (continued)
Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communications among Board members, with
shareholders and management. According to rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, the Company Secretary, Mr. Wong lu Ming has taken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the Period.

Board Diversity Policy

In respect of the gender diversity of the Board, as at the date of the
annual report, 4 Directors are male and 1 Director is female. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance, and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. It is expected that the ratio of female Directors will
reach more than 15% in the following years. The Company will
achieve this goal through active nomination of suitable candidates
with no gender limitation to be newly appointed Directors in the next
few years.

As of 30 June 2025, there were a total of 58 full-time employees
and 1 part-time employees. Female employees was 33, representing
57% in the workforce (including management) versus 72% in 2023.
The Company has a diverse workforce and will continue focusing
on ensuring gender diversity. We will provide resources and training
to enhance employees’ competency and productivity. We will build
a diverse talent pool to serve the evolving needs. Further, men
and women may have different cognitive abilities, such as men’s
proficiency in mathematics and women’s proficiency in verbal
and interpersonal skills. Therefore, a mix of cognitive abilities in
a gender diverse team may enhance the team’s overall creativity
and innovation as proved by research. Moreover, a gender diverse
team produces high quality decisions. Although there may be some
mitigating circumstances where gender diversity can be very hard
to achieve (for instance, male workers are more commonly seen
regarding physical labour and female workers are more often seen
during psychological consultation), the Company will keep focusing
on the workforce gender diversity to maintain its current strength as
well as to further improve its competitiveness in the future.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Accountability and Audit (continued)

Mechanisms to Ensure Independent Views

The Company makes certain that the Board has access to
independent views and input through the mechanisms listed below:

1.

The Nomination Committee should review the Board
composition and the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors annually, in particular the portion of the
independent non-executive directors and the independence
of the independent non-executive director who has served for
more than nine years.

A written confirmation was received by the Company under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in relation to his/her independence to
the Company. The Company considers all its independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

In view of good corporate governance practices and to avoid
conflict of interests, the Directors who are also Directors and/or
senior management of the Company’s controlling shareholders
and/or certain subsidiaries of the controlling shareholders,
would abstain from voting in the relevant Board resolutions on
the transactions with the controlling shareholders and/or its
associates.

The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent non-
executive directors at least once annually.

All members of the Board can seek independent professional
advice when necessary to perform their responsibilities in
accordance with the Company’s policy. The mechanisms to
ensure independent views are reviewed by the Nomination
Committee for ensuring independent views and input are
available to the Board on an annual basis, whether in terms
of proportion, recruitment and independence of independent
non-executive directors, and their contribution and access to
external independent professional advice.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Accountability and Audit (continued)
Shareholders’ right
Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting enquiries to the Board

To ensure effective communication between the Board and
the shareholders, the Company has adopted a shareholders’
communication policy (the “Policy”) on 28 March 2012. Under the
Policy, the Company’s information shall be communicated to the
shareholders mainly through the Company’s general meetings,
including AGMs, financial reports (interim reports and annual
reports), and its corporate communications and other corporate
publications on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available. Any
such questions shall be first directed to the Company Secretary at
the Company’s head office and principal place of business in Hong
Kong or the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office, Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F.,
Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Accountability and Audit (continued)
Shareholders’ right (continued)
Putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

The number of shareholders necessary for a requisition for putting
forward a proposal at a shareholders’ meeting shall be any number
of shareholders representing not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings at the date of the requisition.

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall be
deposited, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses in giving notice of the proposed resolution(s) or circulating
any necessary statement, at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six
weeks before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the
meeting.

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by
sending the written requisition to the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong. The Company will verify
the requisition and upon confirming that the requisition is proper and
in order, the Board will proceed with necessary procedures.

Investor and Shareholder Relations
Constitutional Documents

During the Period, there was no significant change in the
constitutional documents of the Company.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy
Purpose

The Company recognises the importance of providing current
and relevant information to the shareholders. This shareholders’
communication policy (the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”)
aims to set out the provisions with the objective to ensure that the
shareholders and potential investors are provided with equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about
the Company, in order to enable shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner, and to allow shareholders and potential
investors to engage actively with the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Investor and Shareholder Relations (continued)
Shareholders’ Communication Policy (continued)
General Policy

The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders
and will regularly review the Shareholders’ Communication Policy to
ensure its effectiveness.

Information is communicated to the shareholders as well as the
stakeholders through periodic disclosure through the Company’s
financial reports (interim reports and annual reports), AGMs and
other general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making
available all the disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and
other corporate publications on the website of the Stock Exchange
and corporate communications, on the website of the Stock
Exchange at www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at
http://corp.bonjourhk.com.

Effective and timely dissemination of information to shareholders
shall be ensured at all times. Any questions, requests and comments
can be addressed to the Company by mail to 12/F., Bonjour Tower,
No. 36-50 Wang Wo Tsai Street, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong or through
the Company’s share registrar.

The Company believes that communication with shareholders
by electronic means, particularly through its website, is an
efficient way to distribute information in a timely and convenient
manner. Shareholders are encouraged to access to the corporate
communications posted on the Company’s website to help reduce
the quantity of printed copies and hence reduce the impact on the
environment.

The Company’s website will be updated with material posted to
the website of the Stock Exchange immediately thereafter. Such
material includes but not limited to financial statements, results
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and
associated explanatory documents.

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.

Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts, email

addresses and enquiry lines of the Company in order to enable them
to make any query in respect of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Investor and Shareholder Relations (continued)
Shareholders’ Communication Policy (continued)
General Policy (continued)

The Company has reviewed the Shareholders’” Communication Policy
conducted for the year ended 31 December 2021 and considered
that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been well
implemented and effective.

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with shareholders and investors.
Accordingly, the Board and the Group’s senior management
maintains close communications with investors, analysts, fund
managers and the media by various channels including roadshows,
individual interviews and meetings. The Group specifically assigns
Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna, an executive Director and the chief
financial officer of the Company, being the contact person of investor
relations to respond the requests for information and queries from
the investors.

The Board also welcomes the views of shareholders on matters
affecting the Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’
meetings to communicate with the Board or management of the
Company directly.

During the Period, there were no other changes in the Articles of
Association.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on 14 December 2018 which sets out the appropriate procedure on
declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the Company.
The Company takes priority to distributing dividends in cash and
shares its profits with the shareholders. The dividend distribution
decision of the Company will depend on, among others, the financial
results, the current and future operations, liquidity and capital
requirements, financial condition and other factors as the Board may
deem relevant. The Board may also declare special dividends from
time to time. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatements or loss.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

The Board has overseen the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. A review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems has been conducted annually and the systems
are considered to be effective and adequate. The Company has
engaged external professional firm to carry out the analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the systems, and has procedures in place to keep information
confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of interest.
Stringent internal structures have been designed to prevent the
misuse of inside information and avoid conflicts of interest.

During the Period, the Board complied with the code provisions on
risk management and internal control as set out in the CG Code.

During the Period, the Board, through the Audit Committee,
conducted a review on both design and implementation
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.

During the Period, the Group appointed Grant Thornton Advisory
Services Limited (“GTASL”) to:

° assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of workshops and interviews; and

° independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover, improvements in
internal control and risk management measures as recommended
by GTASL to enhance the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the Group were adopted
by the Board. Based on the findings and recommendations of
GTASL as well as the comments of the Audit Committee, the Board
considered the internal control and risk management systems
effective and adequate.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Our Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group has established its enterprise risk management
framework in 2016. While the Board has the overall responsibility
to ensure that sound and effective internal controls are maintained,
management is responsible for designing and implementing an
internal control system to manage all kinds of risks faced by the
Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritised and allocated treatments. Our
risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk
Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the Board and
management to manage the risks of the Group effectively. The Board
receives regular reports through the Audit Committee that oversights
risk management and internal audit functions.

Principal Risks

During the Period, the following principal risks faced by the Group
were identified and classified into strategic risks, operational risks,
financial risks and compliance risks.

Strategic Risks

Change in political and economic landscape, competitor landscape;
corporate strategy misalignment, reputation risk and risk of failure to
meet consumer’s expectation

Operational Risks

Risk of product liabilities, risk of poor customer services, risk of
technological breakdown, risk of purchasing/selling counterfeit
products and shoplifting risk and insufficient insurance for employee
compensation

Financial Risks

Liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and inflation
risk

Compliance Risks
Risk of breach of labelling requirement, licensing requirement and

risk of change of rules and regulations in Hong Kong, Macau &
Chinese Mainland
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Our Risk Control Mechanism

Management of the Company has established a set of
comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in areas of
operational, financial risk controls for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, for maintaining proper accounting
records, and for ensuring the reliability of financial information to
achieve a satisfactory level of assurance against the likelihood of the
occurrence of fraud and errors.

The Group maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified
major risks of the Group. The risk register provides the Board, the
Audit Committee, and management with a profile of its major risks
and records of management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant
risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood
of occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The risk register
is updated by management as the risk owners with addition of new
risks and/or removal of existing risks, if applicable, at least annually,
after the annual risk evaluation has been performed. This review
process can ensure that the Group proactively manages the risks
faced by it in the sense that all risk owners have access to the risk
register and are aware of and alert to those risks in their area of
responsibility so that they can take follow-up action in an efficient
manner.

Our risk management activities are performed by management on
an ongoing process. The effectiveness of our risk management
framework will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic
management meeting is held to update the progress of risk
monitoring efforts. Management is committed to ensure that risk
management forms part of the daily business operation processes in
order to align risk management with corporate goals in an effective
manner.

The Group will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management annually and further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The
Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and
are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal audit function
for the Group in order to meet its needs. Nevertheless, the Directors
will continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
function.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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BONJOUR

Directors’ Report

The Board presents the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Period.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review

The business review of the Group for the Period is set out in the
sections of Five-Year Financial and Operational Summary, Chairman’s
Message, Management Discussion and Analysis, Sustainability
Report and the paragraphs below.

A separate Sustainability Report will be available on the Group’s
website under the “Investor Relations” section and the website of the
Stock Exchange.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”) for the disclosure of information
and corporate governance. The Group also complies with the
requirements of Employment Ordinance and ordinances relating to
occupational safety for the interest of employees of the Group. No
important event affecting the Group has occurred since the end of
the Financial Year.

Key Risk Factors

The following lists out the key risks and uncertainties the Group is
facing.

Global Economic Conditions

The global economic condition has been weaker than expected.
Downside risks have been increased since there is slowing growth
in emerging markets. The continuing adverse economic conditions
may affect the results of operations and financial performance of the
Group adversely.

To address economic uncertainties, the Group pursues steady
earnings growth by strengthening product portfolio, enhancing in-
store promotion, adopting careful cautious network diversification
plan on points of sales, intensifying cost controlling measures and
exploring business diversification opportunities.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Key Risk Factors (continued)
Impact of Local and International Regulations

The business operation of the Group is also subject to government
policy, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension of
business operation by the authorities. The Group closely monitors
changes in government policies, regulations and markets as well as
conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
Employees

The Group recognises the accomplishment of our employees by
providing comprehensive benefit package, career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs.
The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all employees.
No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents are found
in the Period.

More than a half of our employees have been serving our Group
for more than three years. As an employee-oriented corporate,
various benefits are given to our employees to boost their morale.
Employees are entitled to annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave and statutory holidays. Salaries of employees are
maintained at competitive levels while bonuses are granted on a
discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include mandatory
provident fund, statutory and medical insurance and sales
commission. The total employee benefit expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$52.2 million for the eighteen months
ended 30 June 2025 (2023: approximately HK$59.1 million).

The Group commits to managing its business without undue
influence and has regarded honesty, integrity and fairness as its
core values. All directors and employees are strictly prohibited from
exercising authority, making influenced decisions and actions or
gaining access to the Group’s assets and information through their
employment in the Group to achieve private and personal gain.
Disciplinary action would be taken if an employee has committed an
act of serious misconduct. Directors and officers liability insurance is
in place to protect the Group’s interest in case of any wrongful acts
of employees.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Key Risk Factors (continued)

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
(continued)

Employees (continued)

Employees’ performance review and appraisal are conducted
annually. Remuneration and promotion decisions are made according
to employees’ performance appraisal results, so as to reward and
encourage positive behaviour of employees. A structured training
and development approach has been established to ensure that
employees receive consistent training to suit business needs and
help improve their knowledge and skill, as well as building their
career in our Group.

Customers

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers
through various means and channels, including usage of business
intelligence to understand customer trends and needs and
regular analyse on customer feedback. The Group also conducts
comprehensive tests and checks to ensure that only quality products
are offered to the customers.

Most of our customers are retail customers which represented
approximately 32.8% of our total turnover during the Period. As
wholesale customers usually make purchases in bulk, they are given
a discount to the retail price offered at the retail stores. We do
not enter into any long-term sales agreements with our wholesale
customers. During the Period, the five largest customers accounted
for approximately 66% of our total turnover. We have maintained
long-term well-established business relationships with our
customers, amongst which three of them have more than ten years
of business relationships with us as at the date of the annual report.
All of our five largest customers during the Period are independent
third parties.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Key Risk Factors (continued)

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
(continued)

Customers (continued)

All of our retail sales at our retail stores are settled in cash, by smart
card, credit card or mobile digital payment. Our wholesale customers
usually settle their purchases in cash upon delivery. However, as
determined by the management on a case by case basis, open
credit terms with a maximum limit of HK$1.0 million of 30 days to
120 days may be granted to established customers with satisfactory
payment records and creditworthiness. During the Period, credit
sales accounted for approximately approximately 60% of our total
turnover. Our Directors consider that the credit policy adopted by
us is prudent. During the Period, the approximate percentage of
total turnover settled by cash payments and non-cash payments are
approximately 40% and approximately 60% respectively. Details of
the trade receivables of the Group as at 30 June 2025 are set out
in note 25 to the financial statements. Up to the date of the report,
none of the trade receivables from the major customers has been
settled.

During the Period, we did not encounter any material sales returns
from our customers. It is our policy that returned goods can be
refunded or exchanged for other products after purchase at our
retail stores and upon receipt from online purchase subject to certain
conditions were within 30 days and 7 days respectively.

Suppliers

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to
meet our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner.
The departments work closely to make sure the tendering and
procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and just manner.

We source our products from our selected local and overseas
distributors, manufacturers and traders of which more than half of
our products are sourced from local suppliers and the rest are from
overseas including Japan, Korea, Switzerland, France, Thailand
and Chinese Mainland etc. We purchase our products mainly from
authorised distributors, directly from manufacturers and some
supplied by independent traders. We have never placed excessive
reliance on any one of our suppliers and our Directors anticipate that
there will not be any supply problem in the foreseeable future. Our
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 98% of our total
purchase during the Period. All five of them are independent third
parties and have more than 2 years of business relationships with us
as at the date of the annual report.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Key Risk Factors (continued)

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
(continued)

Suppliers (continued)

QOur yearly product research and development plan will be reviewed
and modified seasonally to catch up with the fast-moving trend and
market situation if necessary. In order for us to cooperate with good
reputation partners, we have adopted supplier selection policy. We
only procure our products from our list of selected suppliers. In
selecting our suppliers, we assess on, and take into account, factors
in various aspects, including quality of their products, price rate,
popularity of their cosmetic and related products, lead time, trading
terms, advertising and promotion support and credibility of the
supplier.

Given the great variety of our products sold, we have not relied on
any single brand or any particular supplier for the provision of the
Group’s products. Our Directors consider any failure of our Group
to purchase from a particular supplier would not have any material
impact on our business.

Our overseas suppliers generally request us to pay 30% to 50%
deposit of the order sum before delivery of our products and settle
the remaining balance before or after the product arrival depending
on the sales terms. For our local suppliers, the credit period may
vary from 30 to 120 days. We generally make our payments within
the credit terms by means of telegraphic transfer, letter of credit or
cheque. Details of the trade payables of the Group as at 30 June
2025 are set out in note 29 to the financial statements. Up to the
date of the annual report, none of the trade payables to the major
suppliers as at 30 June 2025 has been settled.

During the Period, the Group did not have any significant disputes
with our major suppliers.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 90 to 91.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any interim and final
dividends for the Period (2023: Nil).
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 21 November 2025 to Friday, 28 November 2025, both days
inclusive, during the period no transfer of shares will be registered.
The holders of shares whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 28 November 2025 will be
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM of the Company. In order
to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company, all transfer of shares, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 20 November
2025.

Five-Year Financial and Operational Summary

A summary of the financial results, assets, liabilities and operational
data of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
2. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements
on page 180.

Share Capital

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 30 June 2025 was
447,715,799 shares of par value of HK$0.01 per share. Details of
movements of the share capital of the Company during the Period
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Period are set out in notes 37 and 38 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 211 to 214 and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 94 respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Pursuant to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, share
premium, share-based payment reserve and retained profits of the
Company are distributable to the shareholders. As at 31 December
2023 and 30 June 2025, none of the Company’s reserves were
available for distribution to the shareholders.

Annual Report 2024/2025



EFERE (8

SEEH

REBABEBERERDEZEES N
HINFE165E168BE x5 B MK
MizE10°

A <& By 58

EEMERTHNEEERE LT R
RERATERBZHH BE AL
RABFZz#Hs A& EEME
FIEREARUNRREAEEZFHME
T HREREAATRRBFRG £
REEFEMHE-BIBEEFT2HARE
1% = @A BN = o

FEEDGERBERHAERFI NN
HNEAN SRBERERREBKRERN K
BEXHEN AT EETREEHLEGE
BRREHSHEREXERBAARRES
ERRAEEWREEBIEA -

KRBT RNBEBRESE - FRHE
E CEREERBEREZLER- - 5tE
AEHRATEFERGIANTHERE

i
—fi o

rEBREARFNEL2TEZHROASS
B2 HEa QRS RINEFE
(MeEEs8) 2EBEERILE
BitmaEEstE  #HABREERESR
HEMEBEBDLEFH AEEKRP
EAEENHNBARNEE RS A
M HHRFEEN TR REESSE
(MhRBEESEE ) > EFBRE L
BommlAREHEMSE)  ZFHWEB
NBEARRBEEAFEREMBEN
ETEDLE (RS HTEREREEE)
ﬁ¢?§%$ﬁ%¢ﬁhﬂ°$$l
) 5 E HR st B FTE RN IR B S
%%Wﬁ%ﬁ%&%%ﬁm@ﬁ@ﬁ
m AR PR o

ﬂf

= @\ R E MR ET 8 89 2 =R BD B
%’1%‘); FTREE AL ()E&zi:‘;
—F+ZA=+—HERZZEZHHF
ANA =+ HIEmEHRRE SRR ER
BEREMRETEBWHER ; R(INKZ
T _—F+ZA=+—BERZZZH
FRAB =+ HA%E E I EDZ U H R
UABESATHMRGFINIREHR
IKIE o

||H+>+>r

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

n

BONJOUR

Directors’ Report (continued)

Segment Information

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Period by reportable
segments is set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 165 to 168.

Emolument Policy

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee, and approved by the Board, as authorised
by the shareholders in the AGM of the Company, having regard
to their time commitment and responsibilities, the salaries paid by
comparable companies, employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration. No
Directors are involved in deciding their own remuneration.

The Group offers comparative remuneration package, including
medical and retirement benefits, to eligible employees. Apart from
basic salary, executive directors and employees are eligible to
receive a discretionary bonus taking into account of the factors
such as market conditions as well as corporate and individual’s
performance during the Period.

The Company has also adopted share option schemes as an
incentive to the Directors, eligible employees and consultants, details
of the schemes are set out in this “Directors’ Report” under the
heading “Share Option”.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those Hong Kong employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme, which contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme
(the “Central Pension Scheme”, together with the MPF Scheme, the
“Defined Contribution Schemes”) operated by the local municipal
government, which these subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage, which was pre-determined by the local municipal
government, of the sum of basic salary and allowance of employees to
the Central Pension Scheme. The contributions by the Group for the
Defined Contribution Schemes are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the relevant rules
of the respective schemes.

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes vest
fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i) for each of
the two Periods ended 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, there
was no forfeiture of contributions under the Defined Contribution
Schemes; and (i) there were no forfeited contributions available for
the Group to reduce its existing level of contributions to the Defined
Contribution Schemes as at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Emolument Policy (continued)

For each of the two periods ended 31 December 2023 and 30 June
2025, the Group did not have any defined benefit plan.

Emoluments of Directors, Five Highest Paid Individuals and
Senior Management

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, the five highest paid
individuals and the senior management of the Group are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 172 to
178.

Equity-linked agreement

Details of the equity-linked agreement entered into during the Period
or subsisting at the end of the Period are set out below:

Convertible Bonds

On 29 June 2022, all the outstanding Convertible Bonds were
redeemed in full. For further details, please refer to the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Financial Review —
Redemption of Convertible Bonds and Issue of Warrants” above in
the annual report.

Share Option
I 2003 Scheme

Share options are granted to the Directors, executives and
employees of the Company under the share option scheme
approved by a resolution in writing passed by the sole
shareholder on 17 June 2003 and was terminated by the
shareholders on 27 May 2009 (the “2003 Scheme”).

Il. 2009 Scheme

On 27 May 2009, the Company has passed a resolution in a
shareholders’ meeting for the adoption of a new share option
scheme which was terminated by the shareholders on 24 May
2019 (the “2009 Scheme”).

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Share Option (continued)

2019 Scheme

On 24 May 2019, the Company has passed a resolution in a
shareholders’ meeting for the adoption of a new share option

scheme (the “2019 Scheme”).

Outstanding share options

granted under the 2019 Scheme prior to such termination
shall continue to be valid and, subject to the vesting schedule,
exercisable in accordance with the 2019 Scheme. The vesting
period for options shall not be less than 12 months.

(1)

2

Purpose

The purpose of the 2019 Scheme is to enable the Group
to grant options to selected participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Directors
consider the 2019 Scheme, with its broadened basis
of participation, will enable the Group to reward the
employees, the Directors and other selected participants
for their contributions to the Group.

Who May Join

The Directors may, at its absolute discretion, invite any
person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants, to take up options to subscribe for shares:

(@) any eligible employee or any of our subsidiaries or
any Invested Entity;

(b) any directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of our subsidiaries or
any associated companies;
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Share Option (continued)

2019 Scheme (continued)

(2) Who May Join (continued)

(©

any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
and

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of business or business development of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the
Company for the subscription of shares or other securities of the
Group to any person who fall within any of the above classes of
participants shall not, by itself, unless the Directors otherwise
determined, be construed as a grant of option under the 2019
Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the above class of eligible participants to the

grant of any option shall be determined by the Directors from time to

time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to his/her contribution

or potential contribution to the development and growth of the
Group.
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Share Option (continued)

2019 Scheme (continued)

n

BONJOUR

(3) Maximum Number of Shares Subject to the 2019

Scheme

(@ The initial total number of shares which may be
allotted and issued upon exercise of all options
(excluding, for this purpose, options which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 2019
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group) to be granted under the 2019 Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue
at the day on which the 2019 Scheme is approved

(the “General Scheme Limit”").
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Share Option (continued)

2019 Scheme (continued)

(3) Maximum Number of Shares Subject to the 2019
Scheme (continued)

(b)

The Company may issue a circular to the
shareholders and seek approval of the shareholders
in general meeting to refresh the General Scheme
Limit provided that the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the 2019 Scheme and any
other share options scheme of the Group must
not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the refreshed limit and for the
purpose of calculating the refreshed limit, options
(including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or
exercised in accordance with the 2019 Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group)
previously granted under the 2019 Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group will not be
counted. The circular sent by the Company to the
shareholders shall contain, among other information,
the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of
the Listing Rules.

Annual Report 2024/2025



EFERE (8

RERR1E (B)

. —ZE—AEt8 (8)

(3) —FE—NFHEERZR
wE#E LR (&

(c)

RKABHARRKRERE
LEBINES KRB E
MEEBE—KtE
LRV BEBEREN (M8
B) FREEBIME
B > ¥ X (c)Fr it B9
EMLEBREARNFRE
AEINI2EAERTE
BEBRE-RZBRT
KNATBERKRETE
R MZBRAHE
EE2HEN—KHE
ot~ T 82 R RS AR
HEREKEH - BEEZ
HAERHBRENE
B O AR RE BB IR R Y K
TMEERZEMN £
HmHREBIE17.02(2)(d)
BRENER

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

n

BONJOUR

Directors’ Report (continued)

Share Option (continued)

lll. 2019 Scheme (continued)

(3) Maximum Number of Shares Subject to the 2019
Scheme (continued)

©

The Company may seek separate shareholders’
approval in general meeting to grant options beyond
the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the
refreshed limit referred to in (c) above to participants
specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought. In such event, the Company
must send a circular to the shareholders containing
a general description of the specified participants,
the number and terms of options to be granted,
the purpose of granting options to the specified
participants with an explanation as to how the terms
of the options serve such purpose, the information
required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Share Option (continued)

2019 Scheme (continued)

4)

(5)

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be allotted and issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the 2019 Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised
or outstanding options) to each eligible participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued
shares for the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular
to the shareholders and the shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company with such participant
and his/her associates abstaining from voting. The
number and terms (including the exercise price) of options
to be granted to such participant must be fixed before the
shareholders’ approval and the date of Board meeting for
proposing such further grant should be taken as the date
of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise price
under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

Subscription Price for Shares and Consideration for
the Option

The subscription price for shares under the 2019 Scheme
will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall not
be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant, which must be a Business
Day; (i) the average closing price of shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant;
and (i) the nominal value of the shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1
acceptance of the grant of an option.

is payable on

Annual Report 2024/2025



EFERE (8

BRE (&)
. —ZE—h&Et8 (8)
(6) FERRIEFEA R 1T (& 05 T
X - UNGIE:S - §%:
24

MBMES21XA
MEHBERE-

2
=

BRERTRE _T-—NE
HEEREEERTHETE
WA EERKEANBRA
BRI ZHRUBER
BELENFEHZAER
tmo BERW M EERERE
REBBMEATERI0FLE
ROMABTERERANR
IERYRTE °

(7) RAEHIR

BRENBEBEBHAR LS
128 A °

(8) —FE—NF:EZHIR

TE-NAFE BRI M
“E-hAFEEZHES
TOFHREREN ) —F
—NFFENFETFHRE
ﬂEO

BRESTHE T HET
B 488 A341,256,599
BN EEREHBHEAR
EEETRMHHATA8%

EEFERSABH TRRE_-Z
—NFFERHETERBHEH
1] 8 Bg 1 o

BE_Z_-"#+°"B=+—HKZ
ETRERB=1+TH > BEBEBRES
S EREIRYENEREZE A
341,256,59914 ©

BE_E_=F+-A=+—HIEE
MEE_E_RAFB=+HILE+N\E
B AABIREBEERESTIRENER
BOETHROABEAS  HARER
HE_Z-_="F+"A=+—HILFE
RBEE ST _HRFANB=Z+HLE+NE
BEZETHBENRMINEELEHEEN
0% ©

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

n

BONJOUR

Directors’ Report (continued)

Share Option (continued)
lll. 2019 Scheme (continued)
(6) Time of Acceptance and Exercise of Option

An offer of the grant of an option may be accepted by
a participant within 21 days from the date of the offer of
grant of the option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the 2019 Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date upon which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof.

(7) Minimum Period

The vesting Period for options shall not be less than 12
months.

(8) Period of the 2019 Scheme

The 2019 Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the 2019
Scheme is adopted and the remaining life of the 2019
Scheme is 6 years.

The total number of shares available for issue under
share option scheme is 341,256,599 shares, representing
approximately 7.18% of the issued share of the Company
as at the date of the annual report.

No share option has been granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled
under the 2019 Scheme up to the date of the annual report.

The number of share option available for grant under the scheme
mandate of the share option scheme as at 31 December 2023 and
30 June 2025 is 341,256,599.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under the share option scheme of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and the eighteen months ended 30
June 2025 is nil, representing 0% of the weighted average number
of shares of the relevant class in issue of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and the eighteen months ended 30 June
2025.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the Period and up to the date
of the annual report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Jianwen (Chairman)
Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing

Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan

Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning

In accordance with article 108 of the Articles of Association, Dr. Chiu
Lai Kuen, Susanna and Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan will retire by rotation
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company. All the retiring Directors,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM of the
Company.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group as at the date of the annual report are set out on pages 27 to
30.

Directors’ Service Contracts

All Directors have entered into a service agreement with the
Company. Mr. Chen Jianwen has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of two years commencing from
April 2020 will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than 30 days’ notice in writing. Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen,
Susanna has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a term of 3 years commencing from 31 December 2020 to 30
December 2023 and will continue thereafter until terminated by
either party giving not less than 30 days’ notice in writing. Mr. Kwok
Chi Shing has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a term of 1 year commencing from 21 September 2020 to 20
September 2021 and will continue thereafter until terminated by
either party giving not less than 30 days’ notice in writing. Mr. Lee
Kwun Kwan has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a term of 1 year commencing from 31 August 2020 to 30 August
2021 and will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than 30 days’ notice in writing. Mr. Yan Sherman
Chuek-ning has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for a term of 1 year commencing from 15 September 2020 to 14
September 2021 and will continue thereafter until terminated by
either party giving not less than 30 days’ notice in writing.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Directors’ Service Contracts (continued)

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM of the
Company has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation.

Directors’ Material interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts that are significant in relation to the Group’s
business

Save as disclosed in the annual report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its parent company, its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries were a party and in which a director of the
company or his/her connected entities had a material interest, where
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Period or at any time
during the Period.

Indemnity of Directors

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Period.

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company or Associated Corporation

As at 30 June 2025, save as disclosed under the heading “Share
Option”, the interests of the Directors and Chief Executive Officer in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)

2RI -BEEARM RE#ESLHESE 2 disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules were as follows:
SN
MEXBKRMG ZEES Interest in the shares of the Company
giEkRn#E EEBITRARL
B4y BHREE (Hizt4) @t Bt
Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary shares issued share
Name of Directors Capacity and nature (Note 4) Total capital
R Sk EEEAA 225,097,293 225,097,293 50.28%
Mr. Chen Jianwen Beneficial owner
HEBEE L Bm#EAA 50,000 50,000 0.02%

Ms. Chiu Lai Kuan Susanna  Beneficial owner

g2

(1) FEEEXKEBEH1,577,287,000& 8
(R RB B ETRA433.18%)
B {EAXRKERARE-BERRD
EIEM—% 2% A10,000,0008 T
ERNER - ZEERER 21
ENBZ+N\BHEBERRR-

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

Note:

(1) Mr. Chen Jianwen has charged 1,577,287,000 shares, representing
approximately 33.18% of the issued share capital of the Company, as
security for a loan in the amount of HK$10,000,000 provided by the
Chargee under a loan agreement. The charge has been released upon
settlement which took place on 28 August 2024.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company or Associated Corporation (continued)

Interest in the shares of the Company (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, none of the Directors
or the Chief Executive Officer had, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO, nor were they taken to or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO, any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
or any interests which are required to be entered into the register of
interests kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
or any interests which are required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in the
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, was interested in or had any short
position.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt Securities

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the Period was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate; and none of the Directors, chief executive officer of the
Company or their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for securities of the Company or had exercised any
such rights during the Period.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business
During the Period, none of the Directors or management
shareholders of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules) had

an interest in a business which compete or may co-operate with the
business of the Group.
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Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

FAABRENEZI KR !
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BONJOUR

Substantial Shareholders’ Interest and Short Positions in the

As at 30 June 2025, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares which fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

REMNEE Long Positions in the Shares
HERT
R 17 #E49
BAL
R, E g/ #EEtE EERY¥E  HEARKMHE PR & B (Hrz1)
Approximate
Number of Number of percentage of
Capacity/ ordinary underlying Number of issued shares
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares shares shares held (Note 1)
RKIEBRAF BanEEA 3,064,200 29,078,947 32,143,147 7.18%
Karfond Limited Beneficial Owner (H1its) (Hfz2R8)
(Note 8) (Notes 2 and 8)
BRREBERRAT RELEEG 3,064,200 29,078,947 32,143,147 7.18%
Far East Consortium Limited Interest of controlled corporations (Hizt8) (H7:23%8)
(Note 8) (Notes 3 and 8)
Far East Consortium (B.V.I.) Limited ~ S#ZE#R 3,064,200 29,078,947 32,143,147 7.18%
Interest of controlled corporations (H1az8) (Wr:z4%8)
(Note 8) (Notes 4 and 8)
HEBRRAH SEEEED 3,064,200 29,078,947 32,143,147 7.18%
Ample Bonus Limited Interest of controlled corporations (H1its) (Hr:25%8)
(Note 8 (Notes 6 and 8)
Far East Consortium International ~ S#EZE#ER 3,064,200 29,078,947 32,143,147 7.18%
Limited Interest of controlled corporations (Hizt8) (r:26%8)
(Note 8) (Notes 6 and 8)
Sumptuous Assets Limited SEEEER 3,064,200 29,078,947 32,143,147 7.18%
Interest of controlled corporations (H1az8) (Hr:z6%8)
(Note 8) (Notes 6 and 8)
Far East Organization (International) 21 E#% 3,064,200 29,078,047 32,143,147 7.18%
Limited Interest of controlled corporations (H1its) (Hr:26%8)
(Note 8) (Notes 6 and 8)
EE LY RELEETD 3,064,200 29,078,947 32,143,147 7.18%
Mr. Chiu David Interests in a controlled corporation (Hizt8)
(Note 8)
BREETLL L3 3,064,200 29,078,947 32,143,147 7.18%
Ms. Chiu Ng Nancy Interest of spouse (H1:28) (1526~ 718)
(Note 8)  (Notes 6, 7 and 8)
“EoNE T REER 69
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It > Far East Consortium (B.V.l.) Limited
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(4)  Far East Consortium (B.V.l.) Limited
NEABEHEERLAB2EHB A
b HEBERAAERANFar East
Consortium (B.V.l.) Limited#F & 2 0
TERAR D PR o
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International Limited# 1R &1 145 5 R
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Limitedfy f& 4s & 2 FSumptuous Assets
Limited# A > (S H I A B54.02% > M
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Substantial Shareholders’ Interest and Short Positions in the
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company (continued)

Long Positions in the Shares (continued)

Notes:

(1) These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of
issued shares as at 30 June 2025 (i.e. 447,715,799 shares).

(2)  The share capital of Karfond Limited was wholly owned by Far East
Consortium Limited. Accordingly, Far East Consortium Limited is
deemed to be interested in all the underlying shares held by Karfond
Limited.

(83)  The share capital of Far East Consortium Limited was wholly owned by
Far East Consortium (B.V.l.) Limited. Accordingly, Far East Consortium
(B.V.I.) Limited is deemed to be interested in all the underlying shares
held by Far East Consortium Limited.

(4)  The share capital of Far East Consortium (B.V.l.) Limited was wholly
owned by Ample Bonus Limited. Accordingly, Ample Bonus Limited is
deemed to be interested in all the underlying shares held by Far East
Consortium (B.V.l.) Limited.

(5)  The share capital of Ample Bonus Limited was wholly owned by
Far East Consortium International Limited. Accordingly, Far East
Consortium International Limited is deemed to be interested in all the
underlying shares held by Ample Bonus Limited.

(6)  The share capital of Far East Consortium International Limited was
substantially owned by Sumptuous Assets Limited with 54.02% of its
share capital and Mr. Chiu David with 0.99% of its share capital. And
the share capital of Sumptuous Assets Limited was wholly owned by
Far East Organization (International) Limited. Furthermore, the share
capital of Far East Organization (International) Limited was wholly
owned by Mr. Chiu David. Accordingly, Sumptuous Assets Limited,
Far East Organization (International) Limited and Mr. Chiu David are
deemed to be interested in all the underlying shares held by Far East
Consortium International Limited.

(7)  These underlying shares are held by Mr. Chiu David, as Mrs. Chiu Ng
Nancy is the spouse of Mr. Chiu David, Mrs. Chiu Ng Nancy is deemed
to be interested in all the shares held by Mr. Chiu David by virtue of the
SFO.

(8)  These underlying shares are unlisted warrants issued by the Company
to Karford Limited on 29 June 2023 upon full redemption of the
Convertible Bonds. These interests in shares comprise of (i) a total
of 3,064,200 shares held by Karfond Limited; and (ii) the 29,078,947
underlying shares that may be subscribed for pursuant to the
29,078,947 unlisted warrants issued by the Company to Karfond
Limited on 29 June 2022.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

Save as disclosed herein, there was no purchase, sale or redemption
by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of any listed securities of
the Company during the Period.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the Period, the Group’s largest and five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 39% and approximately 98% of
the Group’s purchases respectively, and the Group’s largest and
five largest customers accounted for approximately 26% and
approximately 66% of the Group’s turnover respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholder,
which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital has any interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.

Investments in Subsidiaries

The principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements on pages
222 to 224.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the Period.

Event after the reporting period

Particulars of events after the reporting period are set out in note 45
to the consolidated financial statements.

Corporate Governance
The Company is committed to adopting corporate governance

practices. The Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 31 to 50.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Related Party Transactions

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties regarded
as “related parties” under the applicable accounting standards.
Details of these transactions are disclosed in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the Directors,
the transactions disclosed as related party transactions in note 45
to the consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined under
the Listing Rules in force at the time of the entering into of the
relevant transactions, which is either a de minimis transaction or
under exemption, both are exempt from the announcement, the
circular and the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Market Overview: Hong Kong Retail Sector and Global
Dynamics

Hong Kong’s retail sector navigated a complex landscape in 2024
and into 2025, balancing persistent challenges with transformative
opportunities. While global economic volatility, shifting consumer
behaviors, and geopolitical tensions tested resilience, the
accelerated adoption of digital innovation — particularly crossborder
e-commerce — emerged as a defining growth driver.

° Local Retail Challenges: Adaptation Amid Uncertainty

The post-pandemic recovery of Hong Kong’s retail market
remained uneven, marked by slower than expected rebounds
in key segments. Tourist arrivals, historically dominated by
high-spending Chinese Mainland shoppers, shifted toward
experiential travel over luxury retail, dampening sales in prime
commercial districts. Concurrently, rising living costs and
inflationary pressures suppressed local consumer confidence,
prompting cautious spending patterns.

° Digital Transformation: Redefining Retail Engagement

The accelerated shift toward digitalisation has become a
defining force in Hong Kong'’s retail sector, reshaping customer
expectations and business strategies alike. Ecommerce
penetration surged to unprecedented levels, with online
sales now accounting for over 25% of total retail revenue in
2024/2025, up from 20% in 2023 and 15% in 2022. Retailers
are increasingly adopting omnichannel strategies, integrating
online and offline (020) experiences to cater to tech-savvy
customers. Innovations such as Al-driven personalised
marketing, social commerce platforms, and live-stream
shopping have become essential tools for driving engagement
and loyalty.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Market Overview: Hong Kong Retail Sector and Global
Dynamics (continued)

Global Headwinds: Geopolitics and Supply Chain
Pressures

Hong Kong’s retail sector faced intensified global pressures:

- Geopolitical strains: The US-China trade war and
currency volatility (e.g., a strong HKD) reduced the city’s
appeal for tourists from weaker-currency markets.

- Supply chain disruptions: Escalating import costs for
electronics, fashion, and luxury goods compelled retailers
to adjust pricing strategies, potentially impacking sales
volume.

- Sustainability imperatives: A growing global emphasis on
eco-conscious consumption pushed retailers to adopt
sustainable practices, from ethical sourcing to carbon-
neutral operations.

To navigate these challenges, businesses implemented
strategic measures, including diversifying supply chains,
optimising inventory systems, and embedding sustainability into
core operations to meet evolving consumer expectations.

Cross-Border E-Commerce: Gateway to the Greater Bay
Area

The most transformative opportunity in 2024 stemmed from
Hong Kong’s deepening integration with mainland China’s
Greater Bay Area (GBA). With a collective disposable income
exceeding RMB2.3 trillion, the GBA’'s affluent middle class
emerged as a key river of demand for premium, internationally
sourced goods. Cross-border e-commerce platforms became
vital channels, offering seamless access to high-quality goods
while circumventing traditional logistical barriers.

Strategic Outlook: Innovation as a Catalyst for Growth

Despite systemic challenges, Hong Kong’s retail sector
demonstrated remarkable resilience in 2024 by embracing
innovation, sustainability, and cross-border collaboration.
As consumer preferences continue to evolve, retailers that
prioritize omnichannel excellence, data-driven decision-making,
and regional collaboration are best positioned to capitalise on
emerging opportunities.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Market Overview: Hong Kong Retail Sector and Global
Dynamics (continued)

° Looking Ahead: Agility and Innovation as Growth Drivers

In summary, the retail sector’s future success will depend on
its ability to navigate an increasingly interconnected yet volatile
global economy. Key to this will be a steadfast commitment to
agility, customer-centricity, and forward-thinking strategies.

HKMALL (F%%), a leading cross-border e-commerce
platform, exemplifies this strategic evolution. By leveraging
its advanced infrastructure and localised expertise, HKMALL
empowers Hong Kong retailers to access both the GBA’s
affluent consumer base and global markets. This dual reach
reinforces Hong Kong’s position as a pivotal hub in both
regional and international trade networks, driving growth and
innovation in the retail sector. HKMALL is well positioned to
leverage this development and expand its reach into the GBA
and beyond to global markets.

Business Review

The Group embarked on a transformative journey since 2020,
redefining its business model to adapt to the rapidly evolving
retail landscape. This transformation has been centered around
expanding product offerings, leveraging technological innovation,
and building a robust omnichannel ecosystem. 2024 is a year
of strategic transformation for the Group. The Group has further
streamlined its operations by taking a bold strategic decision to
terminate the traditional physical retail shop operations, whilst
focusing the resources and investment into enhancement of the
HKMALL eCommerce operations as well as development of the
new form of B2B business via O20 operations in Chinese Mainland
leveraging on bonded warehouse operations. While these efforts
have positioned the Group for long-term growth, the termination of
the physical shops have contributed to a decline in turnover, and
with additional investment in building the new business model, the
past year presented significant challenges that impacted financial
performance.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Business Review (continued)

The Group has however, successfully diversified its product range
since 2020, expanding from pure cosmetics to include “Beauty,
Health & Lifestyle” products, enhancing the consumer experience.
This expansion has allowed us to cater to a broader customer
base and align with shifting consumer preferences. Operationally,
the Group has harnessed technological innovation to transition
from traditional retail to a new business ecosystem that benefits
all stakeholders, including consumers, merchants, and suppliers.
HKMALL 2.0 is a global eCommerce platform that supports Hong
Kong merchants and overseas brands across 34 countries and 41
market platforms, and has created an ecosystem to assist Hong
Kong small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in digitally transforming
their traditional business models. This is going strong, and number
of suppliers participating in HKMALL is on the increase. As of 30
June 2025, there are over 390,000 SKUs and 4,600 suppliers on
HKMALL, compared to around 310,000 SKUs and 3,200 suppliers in
2023.

Bonjour’s strategy emphasizes omnichannel excellence, creating
value for customers through seamless integration of online and
offline channels. These efforts have continued into 2024, by
developing the bonded warehouse operations in Hainan and
Guangzhou, significant investments have been made to enhance
multichannel initiatives and building capabilities for cross-border
sales.

The Group also collaborated with reputable shopping platforms in
the Mainland to accelerate sale of the Group’s private label beauty
products in the period. A successful pilot run was partnering with
Hunan TV to sell “Suisse Reborn” skincare products on their TV
Shopping Channel “Happigo” (R%488), successfully marketing
products to Mainland customers through a digital TV platform.

Recognising the growing influence of social media and Key Opinion
Leaders (KOLs) on consumer purchasing decisions, the Group has
established a dedicated product outlet spanning over 10,000 square
feet. This space allows KOLs to source a wide variety of products
and conduct live showcases on social media, promoting products
and engaging with audiences in real-time.

The Group collaborates with many organizations to promote live
streaming and encourages the young generation to be educated on
digital business. The Group has worked with the Junior Chamber of
Commerce to launch competitions that nurture aspiring KOLs in live
commerce and online marketing for the past four years.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Business Review (continued)

Despite these achievements, the Group experienced a decline in
turnover in the Period. Key factors include:

1.  “Global Economic Challenges”: Slowing global economic
growth, inflationary pressures, and fluctuating exchange rates
dampened consumer spending.

2.  “Strategic Retail Infrastructure Restructuring”: The Group
prioritized sustainable growth over short-term gains, exiting
traditional retail markets and reallocating resources to digital
new retail models. While these measures impacted turnover,
they are expected to yield stronger profitability in the long run.

3.  “Strategic Investments in Bonded Operations” A significant
portion of the Group’s resources was channeled into building
bonded warehouse operations and deploying bonded cross-
border vending machines in Chinese Mainland. These initiatives
are part of the Group’s long-term strategy to enhance cross-
border e-commerce capabilities and improve supply chain
efficiency. While these investments temporarily impacted
turnover, they are poised to drive future growth by enabling
faster and more cost-effective access to Mainland markets
for international products. These initiatives not only enhance
consumer experience but also foster cross-border trade
between China and global markets.

Looking Forward

Looking forward, the Group remains optimistic about the growth
potential of cross-border e-commerce and omnichannel retail. While
the decline in turnover reflects the challenges of the past eighteen
months, it also underscores our commitment to building a more
resilient and agile global business. By staying attuned to market
dynamics and investing in strategic initiatives, we are confident
in our ability to drive sustainable growth and deliver value to our
stakeholders in the years to come.

Flagship Platform for Beauty and Lifestyle Excellence

HKMALL is a leading eCommerce platform offering a diverse range
of beauty, skincare, health and lifestyle products through both
outright ownership and consignment models. As a comprehensive
marketplace, HKMALL caters to a wide array of consumer needs,
providing access to premium products from around the globe.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Business Review (continued)

Flagship Platform for Beauty and Lifestyle Excellence
(continued)

Within the HKMALL ecosystem, the Group operates “Bonjour Global
Outlet”, a dedicated e-shop specialising in beauty and skincare.
Bonjour Global Outlet proudly features an extensive portfolio of over
100 overseas renowned brands, including exclusive distribution
agreements with prestigious names such as “Suisse Reborn”, “Dr.
Bauer”, “Yumei”, “WOWWOW?”, “Dr. Schafter”, “.Skin Focus”, “Love
Impact” and “Swiss 3” etc. The e-shop’s curated offerings span
luxurious fragrances, innovative cosmetics, revitalising haircare, and
indulgent body care products, ensuring customers have access to
the very best in beauty and skincare.

HKMALL is committed to delivering exceptional value by offering
high-quality products at competitive prices, making luxury and
efficacy accessible to all. A dedicated team continuously monitors
market trends and consumer behavior, leveraging in-depth research
to identify emerging preferences and popular items. This proactive
approach enables HKMALL to stay ahead of industry trends and
meet the evolving needs of its customers.

By prioritizing quality, innovation, and customer satisfaction, the
Group seeks to enhance customers’ lives with exceptional products
tailored to their unique preferences and lifestyles. This dual approach
ensures that the Group remains a trusted leader in the beauty,
skincare, health and lifestyle sectors, addressing the ever-changing
demands of modern consumers.

Strategic Cooperation and Industry Innovation Leadership

Beyond advancing its own growth, the Group remains steadfast in
empowering small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) through
premium eCommerce solutions and integrated intelligent retail
systems. These offerings are designed to accelerate the digital
evolution of traditional industries into agile, innovation driven
enterprises. By leveraging its advanced eCommerce and technology
platform, the Group not only optimises cost structures and
operational efficiency for businesses but also equips clients with
tools to attain superior operational performance.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Business Review (continued)

Strategic Cooperation and Industry Innovation Leadership
(continued)

To catalyze the shift of conventional enterprises toward modernized
frameworks, the Group oversees the “Hong Kong Industry Innovation
Centre” (HKIIC). This flagship initiative harnesses the synergy of
“Industry + technology + Capital” to propel digital transformation.
Designated as the Hong Kong hub for the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macau Youth Entrepreneurship Incubator”, the HKIIC delivers end-
to-end support encompassing shared workspace solutions, startup
incubation and acceleration programs, financing advisory services,
and ecosystem development. HKIIC has been accredited under
Cyberport’s “Accelerator Support Program (CASP)”, affirming their
status as certified accelerators within the Cyberport innovation
ecosystem.

The Group further strengthens its competitive edge through strategic
alliances with bonded warehousing facilities in Guangzhou and
Hainan, bolstering wholesale capabilities and optimising logistics
and distribution networks. These partnerships enhance supply
chain agility, ensuring rapid and cost-effective product delivery while
unlocking access to untapped markets. SMEs benefit from expanded
cross-border eCommerce channels, enabling broader customer
reach and participation in global trade opportunities. Moving forward,
the Group will intensify efforts to scale its cross-border wholesale
operations, positioning itself as a critical enabler for international
suppliers seeking to penetrate and expand within Mainland China’s
dynamic consumer market.

By fostering innovation, collaboration, and digital excellence, the
Group continues to drive sustainable value creation for stakeholders
and partners worldwide.

Strategic Outlook

Digital transformation continues to redefine industries at an
unprecedented pace. Building on the strategic pivot launched in
early 2020, the Group has evolved its business model to align with
emerging technological and consumer trends, ensuring sustainable
value creation and superior shareholder returns. Central to this
evolution is the “Technology + Consumption” framework, which
integrates advanced digital solutions to accelerate consumer
engagement and market penetration. This strategy will remain a
cornerstone of growth in 2025 and continue into 2026, enabling the
Group to cultivate an interconnected, innovation-driven ecosystem
that supports both its operations and the digital ambitions of partner
enterprises.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Strategic Outlook (continued)

Retail Innovation via HKMALL (& #5)

The Group’s retail division is spearheaded by HKMALL, a
dynamic digital commerce hub that transcends traditional
online retail. Beyond serving as Bonjour’s flagship eCommerce
portal, HKMALL empowers merchants to establish scalable
digital storefronts, democratizing access to cutting-edge
eCommerce tools. This platform has become a critical enabler
for Hong Kong SMEs, offering a rapid transition from legacy
operations to agile, digitally integrated business models.

Omni-Channel Ecosystem Development

Through its omni-channel retail network, HKMALL fosters
strategic partnerships with suppliers, leveraging data-
driven insights on consumer behavior, product trends, and
purchasing patterns to refine supply chain dynamics. Suppliers
are increasingly integrated into the platform as hybrid online
wholesalers and retailers, enhancing marketplace diversity. To
meet evolving consumer demands, the Group will further curate
a diversified product portfolio aligned with its mission to deliver
a “petter life” for customers. Concurrently, exclusive distribution
partnerships will be prioritized to optimise risk mitigation and
margin expansion.

Operational Efficiency and Sustainability

Digital transformation extends beyond customer-facing
operations to internal process optimisation. By deploying
automation and Al-driven workflows, the Group has
achieved significant gains in operational efficiency, reducing
redundancies and elevating per-employee productivity. A
commitment to sustainability is further embedded through
paperless transactions and resource-light processes, aligning
with global ESG standards while reducing environmental
footprints.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Strategic Outlook (continued)

Cross-Border Growth and Collaborative Commerce

In the Period, the Group strengthened its cross-border B2B
capabilities through a joint investment in bonded warehouses in
Guangzhou and Hainan, enhancing its foothold in the Greater
Bay Area’s eCommerce landscape. Complementing this, Al-
powered bonded vending machines were strategically deployed
across high-traffic transit hubs, creating an integrated offline-
to-online (020) ecosystem. These initiatives provide SMEs with
a seamless, one-stop platform to access expansive markets
across the region.

The Group has also cultivated a robust influencer commerce
network, partnering with key opinion leaders (KOLs) on a
consignment basis. This asset-light model eliminates inventory
risks for KOLs while amplifying product visibility, driving
incremental revenue streams at minimal cost.

Confidence in Future Growth

While the Group’s traditional retail segment faced subdued
recovery in 2024, strategic investments in new retail
technologies and cross-border expansions — particularly in the
Greater Bay Area and emerging Chinese markets — position
the business for revitalised growth in 2025 and beyond. The
Group’s HKMall platform and wholesale operations are jointly
driving new 020 global trading opportunities, serving as a
powerful growth engine. Leveraging our unique positioning,
we act as a strategic gateway for Mainland enterprises going
global, providing them with a one-stop solution for their
overseas expansion. With a robust foundation in innovation, an
expanded service scope, and a recalibrated risk management
framework, the Group is poised to capitalise on post-pandemic
opportunities, delivering sustainable returns to shareholders
and reinforcing its leadership in the digital economy era.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Strategic Outlook (continued)
o Confidence in Future Growth (continued)

Overall, while the Group’s retail business experienced a slow
recovery in the Period, coupled with strategic investments in
new ventures as outlined above, the expansion of innovative
business models across the Greater Bay Area and other key
regions in China positions the Group for renewed growth in
2025 and beyond. This is further bolstered by the strategic
push into O20 global trade and supporting Mainland
enterprise overseas. Bolstered by advancements in new retail
technologies and an expanded operational scope, the Group
is confident in its ability to regain momentum and deliver
enhanced value to shareholders. With a robust foundation
and a forward-looking strategy, the Group is poised to make a
timely resurgence, driving sustainable returns and reinforcing its
leadership in the evolving global market landscape.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float of at least 25%
throughout the Period.

Charitable Donations

During the Period, the Group made charitable donations amounted
to approximately HK$626,000 (2023: approximately HK$626,000).
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Independent Auditor

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited was appointed as the auditor of
the Company on 10 June 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of RSM Hong Kong on 10 June 2022. Details of the
change of auditor were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 10 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor of
the Company in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Period
have been audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, who will
retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company. A resolution will be proposed at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company to re-appoint Grant Thornton
Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Jianwen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

° Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the shareholders of Bonjour Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bonjour
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 224, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the eighteen months ended 30 June
2025, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the eighteen months ended 30 June
2025 in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matter

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
which describes the principal conditions that raise doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. These events
or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Inventory valuation and allowance

EENENMAEERARENEE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

SRR S BWRERMETS.2(v) 24
Refer to notes 5.2(iv) and 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RIZEZREFARA=+H> BEEEFAEFEREY
12,880,000 7t K /w iH 17 B R 5T #EE 410,420,000
Too AR S M BRI T4 7P & 5 BER PR A
T EERNAETEEEEREE AR

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held gross inventories
of approximately HK$12,880,000 and accumulated
allowance for slow-moving inventories of approximately
HK$10,420,000. As described in the accounting
policies in note 4.7 to the consolidated financial
statements, inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

BEEERBFEHEBERY - HEXE -BaARNEE
IR EE s B S -

Management estimates the allowance for slow-moving
inventories with reference to inventory turnover days,
sales performance, expiry period and marketability of
inventories.

EERINZBE REZETFRET A HRE SRR
FENEERGHETEEEEFHEARAE-

We focused on this area because of the significant
judgement for management to determine the
appropriate amount of allowance to be recognised for
aged or obsolete inventories.

84

EEEMGEEMEREENSSREFEE .
Our audit procedures in relation to inventory valuation
and allowance included:

s TEMTHFEEMBEAKIEEFTRRERFS
identifying and assessing aged and obsolete
inventories when attending inventory counts;

e BB OERFEAFEEMAETIEER ;
comparing the subsequent net realisable value to
the cost of inventories;

s TR
BAHER ; &
understanding and evaluating the Group’s
inventory provision policy and the key
assumptions and judgement; and

BEEENFERBBRIERRR

e HERFRENGHHETEREIMEELEETEMN
L
performing a recalculation, on a sample basis,
of the allowance for slow-moving inventories
recognised during the period.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Revenue recognition

EENENTREMRENER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

LRRE MR RMIEE4.155.1(iii) K8
Refer to notes 4.15, 5.1(iii) and 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EEETIERERT BERE EERKHARMEMH
E-BE_ZT_AFAA=+THLE+NER> B&£H

EA W #I90,968,000/8 7T (MER - BEREERH
E an i B DA e 5 90 E cm #H 0 Bl S - Ui 754,518,000
77T 536,450,000 7T) ©

The Group is principally engaged in the sales of
beauty, healthcare, lifestyle and technology products.
The Group generated revenue of approximately
HK$90,968,000 (HK$54,518,000 and HK$36,450,000
for the sales of beauty, healthcare and lifestyle
products and the sales of technology products
respectively) for the eighteen months ended 30 June
2025.

EEEINEAE DHEtRXSZNUERETEEKR
MkEREEENE SEERSFERZEATREA
B BT 'F L2 RO A 88 1) 8 e 456 7T B oo WAL 7 S RV BRF 5 o
We focused on this area because of the significant
volume and amounts of transactions and the level
of significant judgement made by management in
assessing whether the Group acts as a principal or
an agent and the timing of revenue recognition of
technology products.

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

ESEMNEEl 2 Bt IEFEE
Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition
included:

o  THERITE BEEENKEBRIABHERRE S
EEEBHEZTARREAN (CERBEREME
miHE) BT ;
understanding and assessing the Group’s
revenue recognition policy and process, including
management’s assessment of principal versus
agent, particularly for the sales of technology
products;

e HISEEREAMWNmESINREEANIRIERNRS
&Eﬁm b
obtaining an understanding of design and
implementation of management’s key internal
controls in relation to revenue recognition;

s HMEBREMBERAGX UBERITESHENN
MEHD R EBREmEREREERR

B At 5

inspecting key customers’ contracts, on
a sample basis, to identify and assess the
commercial terms and conditions relating to
transfer of control of goods with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e BREEN-MAXGRERHEMBEMNIER
W LERPEMERNEERS T EREIR
B SEENWGRDBERBEEERNG ; &
comparing sales transactions recognised during
the period, on a sample basis, with contracts,
logistic documents and customers’ acceptance
of goods and assessing whether revenue was
recognised properly in accordance with the
Group’s revenue recognition policy; and

e HIToMBEFUHNEMNTERHKGEERES -
performing analytical procedures to identify any
unusual patterns of revenue.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2025 annual report
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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BONJOUR

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagements and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs wiill
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor

Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

30 September 2025

Lam Kam Fung
Practising Certificate No.: P07822
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

BE HE
~NB=+H +ZB=+—H
E+NEA EFE
Eighteen
months ended Year ended
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
baF FET FAET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
=F -0 Turnover 8 90,968 950,271
BEEEmEA Cost of goods sold (56,514) (887,219)
EF Gross profit 34,454 63,052
Hh A Other income 9 38,794 9,628
B ABRILGRS Gain on deconsolidation of a
AR Z W@ subsidiary 40 - 102,996
DEE AR AN Distribution costs (5,151) (15,166)
THHEZ Administrative expenses (118,572) (116,059)
B 5 R EMEUWIRR Impairment loss on trade and
BIERE other receivables (48,886) (1,072)
EREEERERE Impairment loss on right-of-use
assets 18 (455) (162)
I (B518) 3%  (Loss)/Profit from operations (99,816) 43,217
EI=YD:N Finance costs 11 (24,860) (13,381)
DME—RIEEE 4 Share of result of a joint venture 23 (59,094) 24,775
BIEHESERES Loss on deemed disposal of the
B518 joint venture (46,921) -
BATFERAER Fair value changes in financial
(MRAFEEAIBZE)  asset at fair value through
ZERMBEEAFEEE  profit or loss (‘FVTPL”) (47,746) -
PRIG AT (B518) @ F (Loss)/Profit before tax (278,437) 54,611
Friemme, ) Income tax credit/(expense) 12 80 (640)
HARY 4 EE (B548) (Loss)/Profit for the period/
i F year 13 (278,357) 53,971
(#ZE3)
(Restated)
=ik (B518) &7 : (Loss)/Earnings per share: (86.1) 71l 2743l
BEARR#EE Basic and diluted 16 HK(86.1) cents HK27.4 cents

FO8E224EHHMFAILE LS The notes on pages 98 to 224 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

R —BE Do
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For The eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

BE HE
~NB=+H +ZB=+—H
LE+N\EA EFE
Eighteen
months ended Year ended
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
iok=3 FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HARY 4 EE (B548) (Loss)/Profit for the period/
R F year (278,357) 53,971
AHARG HEEHMZAE  Other comprehensive income/
i (FX) (expense) for the period/year,
(Pr#E) - net of tax:
TS ENDIEEEmm Items that will not be
ZIEH subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss:
RHRFEcEEEHt= Remeasurement (losses)/
z (B518) /Wi gains on long service
payment liabilities 35 (4) 98
BATFESFAEMEBME  Fair value changes in financial
W (FRAFEFA assets at fair value through
Hith2EUE) 22/ other comprehensive income
BEZATEEZS (“FVTOCI") 20 267 (4,734)
263 (4,636)
BB A gEEM D IEE Items that may be reclassified
EmEH subsequently to profit
or loss:
RHEM B AT R Release of exchange differences
£ [0] (& 2 = %8 on disposal of subsidiaries 567 -
KEBREEINEFELEZ Exchange differences arising
PE R ERE on translation of foreign
operations 1 )
568 ©)
AHIRDFEEHMZPE  Other comprehensive income/
i (Fx) (expense) for the period/year 831 (4,638)
TEME, EERE Total comprehensive
(FIxZ) iR 48 %E (expense)/income for the
period/year (277,526) 49,333

$598E224BE MM 5 B ItE F 47
BERY—BE Do

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

e

The notes on pages 98 to 224 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZEZRFANA=+H As at 30 June 2025
RZIEZHEF A ——
~NB=+H +-B=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
baF FET FAET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
EREEE Non-current assets
Mz BB NKRE Property, plant and equipment 17 460 820
FREEE Right-of-use assets 18 13,191 37,562
BEEE Intangible assets 19 - -
HEhKkEEE Rental and utility deposits - 1,991
BMAFESF AEMEME  Financial assets at FVTOCI
Wz EMEE 20 676 409
BATFEFAERZ Financial asset at FVTPL
THMEE 21 214,639 -
N e = Investments in associates 22 - 551
R—EEErEZIRE  Investment in a joint venture 23 - 368,400
228,966 409,733
REIEE Current assets
78 Inventories 24 2,460 9,657
FEW B 52 R Trade receivables 25 9,151 1,160
HERKkEZE Rental and utility deposits 5,023 6,826
BRRIE T R EAM Prepayments, deposits and other
FE WL AR =R receivables 26 6,260 60,623
IR1T R IR B4R Bank and cash balances 28 3,911 16,109
26,805 94,375
mEAaE Current liabilities
FET B 2 IR Trade payables 29 5,949 4,811
HMEMRR BU Other payables, deposits received
HEdi 51! and accrued charges 30 51,239 58,817
aHNaE Contract liabilities 31 4,710 8,355
FEAI IR IR R =R IE Amount due to the controlling
shareholder 27 40,960 32,142
IRIT R EHMER Bank and other borrowings 32 58,016 15,334
HEaE Lease liabilities 33 28,193 27,910
189,067 147,369
mENEERE Net current liabilities (162,262) (52,994)
HEERTHAR Total assets less current
liabilities 66,704 356,739
92 Annual Report 2024/2025
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REMBRRAR (B) Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)
R_E_RFENA=+H As at 30 June 2025
MRIE_RHE A TE =
~NA=+H +—_RA=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
B &t FET FAET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
EREAEE Non-current liabilities
HER Other borrowings 32 14,935 32,179
HEaE Lease liabilities 33 - 41,085
EHRBeEE Long service payment liabilities 35 310 1,239
15,245 74,503
BEEEE Net assets 51,459 282,236
BXRRK#E Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 36 4,477 47,543
R Reserves 38 46,982 234,693
MRS Total equity 51,459 282,236

WNZ_E_HAFNB=+H% &/273 Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the
EEgHERBE#ERT  THUTA  Company on 30 September 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

ITRBEE !

Chen Jianwen Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna
PR {2 XX R
Director Director
EFE EE

FI8E224AEM I AL E 445847 The notes on pages 98 to 224 are an integral part of these

BERH—B Do

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

n

BONJOUR

8=E HE
—EZHE BT =
~A=+H +ZR=+—H
LE+N\EA EFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
iog=3 FET FAET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REEREFREEZ Cash flows from operating
RERE activities
BRiRA (B538) Al (Loss)/Profit before tax (278,437) 54,611
U T EIBEBEHBE ! Adjustments for:
L AL A Finance costs 11 24,860 13,381
RITERBF B WA Interest income on bank
deposits 9 (7) (28)
FAeRamEENE Imputed interest income on
U A rental deposits 9 (526) (743)
SETREMMEIMEE  Imputed interest on bank and
F) 2 other borrowings 9 (2,238) (3,330)
‘ﬁzﬁﬁi?‘EﬁiE’\] EED Surcharge on outstanding
Min& commitment 2,930 -
RIEERERMEE Derecognitions of financial
liabilities 9 (28,705) -
BIR A BREE Overprovision of reinstatement
cost 9 (958) -
EHIR®S S (&[D]) ## (Reversal of)/Provision for long
service payments 35 (972) 260
ME--BMERZEITE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 13 764 247
FREEEINE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 13 27,161 23,396
HEWME- BB MEH Loss on disposal of property,
Z 518 plant and equipment 13 942 -
—IM B AT L4 4S  Gain on deconsolidation of a
AR Z W subsidiary 40 - (102,996)
BATES ABRZ Fair value changes in financial
TMEEQ T EES asset a FVTPL 47,746 -
RIEHESEREL Loss on deemed disposal of the
#5148 joint venture 23 46,921 -
TE BagEhxr Share of result of a joint venture
e 23 59,094 (24,775)
REE AT Z/ERMME  Impairment loss on investments
JES%,EJ in associates 13 551 -
B 5 K HEHMEWER R Impairment loss on trade and
BEEE other receivables 48,886 1,072
EREEERERE Impairment loss on right-of-use
assets 18 455 162
T iE B R 2 (O] Reversal of allowance for slow-
moving inventories 13 (3,649) (12,560)
“ECNE S TE_RFEFR 95
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

8=E BHE
“EZHE BT =
~NB=+H +ZBA=+—H
E+N\EA EFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
g FAET FAET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
EEESEIHPI2LE  Operating loss before working
518 capital changes (55,182) (51,303)
FERD Decrease in inventories 10,846 10,030
FE U B 5 BR FR 38 N Increase in trade receivables (24,175) (1,107)
BMIE ] REM Decrease/(Increase) in
FEURBRFURL (3E50)  prepayments, deposits and
other receivables 24,265 (13,757)
FET B 5 8RR Increase/(Decrease) in trade
wmn, CRisb payables 1,141 (816)
HMEMERE - BUWETE  Increase in other payables,
K FE = & g deposits received and accrued
charges 901 421
G#8E8 (B/) /18I0 (Decrease)/Increase in contract
liabilities (3,645) 8,355
REXHBMAZRE Cash used in operations (45,849) (48,177)
HEsGAZENHME Interest paid on lease liabilities (5,962) (6,796)
fEﬁEzET’@TE E v Interest paid on bank and other
(SRR borrowings (5,787) (3,314)
PEIERIRERIE L Interest paid on amount due to
BF R the controlling shareholder (1,230) (24)
2iEE (B Fif§8#  Income taxes refunded/(paid) 72 (640)
REEENFFAIREFE  Net cash used in operating
activities (568,756) (58,951)
KREZHFREEZ Cash flows from investing
HERE activities
B U F 2 Interest received 7 28
ﬁ%)\%% iR 5 K 5% 1 Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (1,494) (17)
HEYE -BEKHZRMBEZ Proceeds from disposal of
FriS# I8 property, plant and equipment 148 -
ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂ@)ﬁ’uﬁ%?ﬁ@ Repayment of rental and utility
deposits - 1,717
HEEQAB BN Advances to associates - (12,234)
HEAE QB BR Advances to related companies - (1,006)
HEEABIE Capital contributions to associates - (551)
HERATFES AEM  Proceeds from disposal of
2EHWHZZEMEEZ  financial assets at FVTOCI
Fr S IE - 19,227
—RBIMBATRIE4 S Deconsolidation of a subsidiary,
ARR (B LRSS net of cash deconsolidated
ARZIRE) 40 - (431)
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BONJOUR

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

8=E HE
—EZHE 2=
~A=+H +-B=+—H
LE+N\EA EFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
iog=3 FET FAET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REEE (FTA) /FiE4% Net cash (used in)/from
ZHREFEE investing activities (1,339) 6,733
REEEFREL ZIRE  Cash flows from financing
WE activities
IBITREMMBEBRZFE  Proceeds from bank and other
E Qe borrowings 41.1 58,200 30,050
BEIRITREMMBERNR Repayment of bank and other
borrowings 41.1 (42,373) (22,555)
KEERIREBEZFT{ERIE Proceeds from the controlling
shareholder 41.1 71,935 85,115
EIERIERER Repayment to the controlling
shareholder 41.1 (30,727) (7,200)
HENMRHNAEED Principal element of lease
payments 41.1 (8,952) (35,010)
HEMBAS (0EE Disposal of subsidiaries, net of
) cash disposed of 39 (187) -
BE RS EEHEFEE Net cash from financing
activities 47,896 50,400
HERIREZLEYHE L  Net decrease in cash and cash
B equivalents (12,199) (1,818)
PER¥FE4) 2 IR& KIE Cash and cash equivalents at
TEEBY the beginning of the period/year 16,109 17,929
EREE s & Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 1 2)
HRHEER " FXZ Cash and cash equivalents at
RERREEEY the end of the period/year 3,911 16,109

F98E224BE MM 5 B Itk F 47

R —BE Do

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

The notes on pages 98 to 224 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

GENERAL INFORMATION

Bonjour Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The address of
its registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O.
Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and its
principal place of business is 12/F., Bonjour Tower, No. 36-50
Wang Wo Tsai Street, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong. The Company’s
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 44.

On 9 January 2023, the Group has lost control over Hop Fung
Lung Limited, formerly known as Bonjour Cosmetic Wholesale
Center Limited, which was principally engaged in wholesaling
and retailing of beauty, healthcare and lifestyle products in
Hong Kong, subject to a winding-up order was made by the
High Court to appoint an official receiver as a provisional
liguidator to liquidate the company. Further details are
described in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements
on page 217.

As at 30 June 2025, the Board of Directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) consider the ultimate controlling party of the
Company to be Mr. Chen Jianwen.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

On 27 December 2024, considering the efficiency and
effectiveness on preparation of results announcement and
reports, the Company resolved to change the financial year
end date from 31 December to 30 June. Accordingly, the
current financial period covers a period of eighteen months
from 1 January 2024 to 30 June 2025. The comparative figures
cover a period of twelve months from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023, which may not be comparable with amounts
shown for the current period.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRS accounting standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations
(“HKFRS Accounting Standards”) and the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

Annual Report 2024/2025
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BONJOUR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and include the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The material accounting
policies adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) that have been used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented unless otherwise stated.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amended HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial assets
stated at their fair values as explained in the accounting policy
in note 4.9.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the result of which forms the basis of making
the judgements about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The areas where critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
are disclosed in note 5. These estimates and assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current period and future periods.

Going concern assessment

During the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025, the
Group incurred net cash outflows from operating activities of
HK$58,756,000 and, as of that date, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$162,262,000. The Group’s business operations
are mainly financed by bank and other borrowings, loans from
the controlling shareholder and internal source of financing.
As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s bank and cash balances
amounted to HK$3,911,000. In view of these circumstances,
the Directors have been continuously implementing measures
to improve and maintain the Group’s liquidity which include:

(@) The Company has completed rights issue with the
shareholders to subscribe the Company’s shares with
net proceeds of HK$22.08 million raised (note 45), and
proposed placement of shares to improve the Group’s
working capital,

Annual Report 2024/2025



REMBRR]WE (&)

ZECAFANA=+HIEFNEA

RNEE (B

(b) BERERKRIEBRRXEE
EREBLAEEETMH
tZHAEBREEEN
BITREBEE=Z"UHBET"
UEBEELERER_-_ZF 1R
FRAE=+TH®+ZEA
HAR R B 3K 5

(c) "EBERIMEREMN & IZF
R UAREEERE ;

(d) *EBEEBBEIILERTH
FRIRITETE A LLEE
BYRE B S W A SRR > 1T A
rEBEEETRHTEES
kiEr&EBRBHES R
R

(e) AEBRUEBHER DL E
ERERMEZZLHAEL
BTERZORE -

A AERFELEEEN
EEAOR  EEEHRE—MESRN
EEA - BREE _E_AF A
=+HERD12EBBIERE -
EENReREEINHAERE
KEENEHREREUA KRB I
MERRERKRBEERRENT
BEMEH T ETHEBRR N Z
EREVERERRERIRE XA
BHEEERIEEN RS HRTH
90,632,000 7T ©

AEBERRTRERABAE
Do THBURREEEM Litt(c)E
(e)BRAEF AE I & 5 & % B AR
ETENNEERONED -ZF
EHHARREKAFEERIETE
Mo EHAERFELERRE
NDEEEREMB > WHEPEEE
FHERXBBERETERESE
ERBEHFEIERE-

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

n

BONJOUR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b) Mr. Chen Jianwen, the ultimate controlling shareholder,
has agreed and committed to continue to support
financially the operations of the Group to meet all third-
party obligations for at least the ensuing twelve-month
period after 30 June 2025;

() The Group has taken various cost control measures to
tighten the costs of operations;

(d) The Group is actively negotiating with external parties
and banks to obtain new sources of or renew financing
to finance the Group’s working capital and improve the
Group’s liquidity position; and

(e) The Group will continue to maintain its relationship with
the parties providing facilities to the Group and comply
with any covenant requirements.

In assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
the Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast which
covers a period of not less than twelve months from 30 June
2025. The Directors’ cash flow forecast made certain key
assumptions with regard to the anticipated cash flows from the
Group’s business operations and the availability of financing
facilities from external parties and the controlling shareholder.
As at the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has unutilised financing facilities from
Mr. Chen amounting to HK$90,632,000.

The Group’s ability to achieve the cash flow forecast depends
on management’s ability to successfully implement the
improvement measures (from (c) to (e) described above) on the
profitability and the continuous availability of those financing
facilities. These events or conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, therefore, it may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Notwithstanding the above, the Directors after making due
inquiries and considering the basis of cash flow forecast and
taking into account the above measures, conclude the Group
will have sufficient financial resources to meet in full of its
working capital requirements and financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have been made to restate the carrying
amounts of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
any further liabilities which might arise and to classify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities
respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have
not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Annual Report 2024/2025



REMBRR]WE (&)
BE_ZE_nFNA=1THIE+NEAR

3. RMMIKREEITIEEMBRS
ZRE SR

3.1

RZE_NE—F—HH
BHEEPRERBNEE
FIEAMBREEN T
Z 8

RAMRE *EBEERE
BEBEHMAGRM
THKEEIBEBYHFRS
ZRHGHERUGRERRZF
mEPHRER HEAEER
MEFEEER T -F
“TmE-—B—BHRBEHNE

FE A R 58 ) A 2K
ERMBHRE  EREEN
E8516% HEAR
CHEN)
EEGHEN BAENEARD
F1% (B5TK)  HETRDR
BEREER
(ZECZEF)
ik CH)
ERGHEN  WEZENERD
B1% (BI4) 8BE
BEEGHEN  HEBRERH
FIRRER
MHREED

EIEACHES)

RREETEEUBRE
R E A E R AR
R IO Y DR
ROBRR25 5L E
EAEALE-

R =

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

n

BONJOUR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

3.1

Amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January
2024

In the current period, the Group has applied the following
amended HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the HKICPA for the first time, which are relevant to the
Group’s operations and effective for the annual periods
beginning on 1 January 2024 in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The adoption of the amended HKFRS Accounting
Standards had no material impact on how the results and
financial position for the current and prior periods have
been prepared and presented.
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EEMBEmRME (&) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

3. BRMNHITREEBIIEAMBHRE 3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS

ZREER (B) ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
3.2 BEEMERMRERNEE 3.2 Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting
MR EENGEHER Standards
RZEERAVBRRERE At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
HE - AEBITEERE % financial statements, the Group has not applied any new
B 18 R & 2R AE AT # 5T or amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
WRRETNEEBETERS been issued but are not yet effective. These amended
ZA G ER - ZFLKIES] HKFRS Accounting Standards include the following which
ERVEBEBRGEN G E may be relevant to the Group.
Bl £ 4% 7] Ak B K £ B A BE
UL TFEIE
R BEASR
ZEBBHNEE
HRAER
Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after
EEMBREENE ISR —HMBRRIRAEE “Z2-ttH—HF—H
HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
EEVMBREENFEIOR LA HAZTEEENBELATNEE —E2t+tH—HF—H
HKFRS 19 — Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
EEUBREENBORRBTBVMBRGSENETR (BTXR) 2T XRFE—HA—H
—EMIAENDEEFENES]
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Amendments to the Classification 1 January 2026
and Measurement of Financial Instruments
EEUBREENBORRBEBVMBRGSENE7TIR (BTHR) 2T XRFE—HA—H
— P REBEBAEREEETNINEN
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Contracts Referencing Nature- 1 January 2026
dependent Electricity
BEEUBREENE10RN RE B G ER L2858 (B5TA) A K E
—REERHEBERIREGEPEZBANEEHEHNEE
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets Not yet determined
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BEEGHEANF215 (BT X)) —RZo k% —EhAFE—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
EEUBREEBNGHER (BTX) —EEUHFRSEN G5 —EZRFE—A—H
HEAMNFERE-—F115
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Annual Improvements to 1 January 2026
HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
BEHEEEEST (BFIX) —UHBBRREN-—ERAHEFR T+ FE—H—H
EZREEHRINEHRERNDLE
Amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 — Presentation of Financial 1 January 2027

Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

3. RMMIIKREEIERMBRSE 3.
ZREER (&)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
3.2 BElEMEMEKRERNE S

3.2 Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting
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Standards (continued)

The Directors are in the process of making assessments
of what the impact of these new and amended HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are expected to be in the
period of initial application on or after the effective date
of the pronouncement. Information on new and amended
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are expected to have
impact on the Group’s accounting policies is provided
below. The Directors consider that the initial application of
other standards is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements”. It carries forward many of the existing
requirements in HKAS 1, with limited changes, and
some HKAS 1 requirements will be moved to HKAS 8
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures”.

HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition and
measurement of financial statements items but the
presentation of them. It introduces three major new
requirements, including:

- reporting newly defined subtotals (namely
“operating profits” and “profits before financing
and income tax”), and classifying items into five
newly defined categories (namely “operating”,
‘investing”, “financing”, “income tax” and
“discontinued operation”), depending on the
reporting entity’s main business activities, in the
statement of profit or loss;
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3. BRMNHITREEBIIEAMBHRE 3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS
ZRGHER (B) ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

3.2 BEEMERMRERNEE 3.2 Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting
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Standards (continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

T BHREZZEI R E Statements” and related amendments to Hong Kong
REBZEESTEZIEFTE Interpretation 5 (continued)
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- disclosure of management-defined performance
measures (“MPMSs”) in a single note to the financial
statements; and

- enhanced guidance of aggregation and
disaggregation of information in the financial
statements.

Besides, narrow-scope amendments have been made to
HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”, which includes:

- using “operating profit or loss” as the starting point
for indirect method for the presentation of operating
cash flows purposes; and

- the option for classifying interest and dividend cash
flows as operating activities is eliminated.

In addition, there are consequential amendments to
several other standards.

HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other HKFRS
Accounting Standards, are effective for annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 and must be
applied retrospectively with specific transition provisions.

The application of HKFRS 18 will not have material impact
on the consolidated financial position of the Group but is
expected to affect the presentation of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of cash flows and disclosures in
the future financial statements. The Group will continue
to assess the impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December in prior years and starting from current
period, 30 June each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the financial statements of
subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiaries.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised profits
(except for foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated.
Unrealised losses arising from intra-group transactions
are also eliminated unless there is any transaction that
provides evidence of impairment. Accounting policies of
the subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to
ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted
by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having contractual obligations in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of financial liabilities.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.1

Consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity,
separately from the equity attributable to the owners of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation
of total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the period/year between non-controlling interests and the
owners of the Company even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having deficit balances.

Changes in the Company’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of both
controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount of the
non-controlling interests adjusted and the fair value of the
considerations paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Company loses control of its subsidiaries, the
gain or loss on disposal of subsidiaries is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate fair value
of the considerations received and the fair value of
any retained interests in those subsidiaries, and (ii)
the previous carrying amounts of the assets (including
goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiaries and any non-
controlling interests and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
any interests retained in those former subsidiaries are
measured at fair value when the control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment loss, unless it is classified as held for sale or
included in a disposal group classified as held for sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.1

4.2

Consolidation (continued)

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the end of the reporting period. All dividends
whether received out of the investees’ pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit
or loss.

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence, which is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the entity
but is not control or joint control of those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions relating
about relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

Investments in associates or a joint venture of the
Group are initially recognised at cost and subsequently
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method. Identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the associates or joint venture
arising from acquisition are measured at their fair values
at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for
impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in profit or loss in which the
investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the Group’s investments in
associates or a joint venture are carried at cost and
adjusted for the shares of the associates’ or joint
venture’s post-acquisition profits or losses and other
comprehensive income for the period/year included in the
Group’s profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the period/year, until the date on which significant
influence or joint control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2 Associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
investments in the associates or joint venture including
any long-term investment that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investments in the associates or joint
venture, after applying the expected credit loss (“ECL”)
model to such investment, where applicable, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associates or joint venture.

Unrealised profits arising from transactions between
the Group and its associates and a joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the associates or joint venture. Unrealised losses arising
from those transactions are also eliminated unless there
is any transaction that provides evidence of impairment.
Accounting policies of the associates and joint venture
have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the
Group.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
determines whether there is any objective evidence
that the investments in associates or a joint venture is
impaired. If such indications are identified, the entire
carrying amount of the investments (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (i.e. higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) against its carrying amount.
In determining the value in use of the investments, it is
the share of the present value of the estimated future
cash flows expected to be generated by the associates
or joint venture, including cash flows arising from their
operations and the proceeds on ultimate disposal of
the investments. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset (including goodwill) that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investments. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.2

4.3

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is also the functional
and presentation currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of the group
entities at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the retranslation
of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates prevailing the dates
of the transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rates when the fair value was determined.
When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary asset
or liability is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income, whereas a
fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary asset or liability
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency, are translated into the Group’s
presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rates at the end of the reporting period;

- Income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates over the reporting period, unless it is
not a reasonable approximation to use the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions; and

- Foreign exchange differences recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
“foreign currency translation reserve” except to the
extent that the translation difference is allocated to
the non-controlling interest.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated into
the Group’s presentation currency at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or loss
of significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange
differences in respect of that operations attributable to
the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange
differences that have previously been attributed to non-
controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control)
of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and is not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposal of associates or joint venture not
involving a change of accounting basis), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Property, plant and equipment, including land and
buildings, is initially recognised at acquisition cost
(including any cost directly attributable to bringing the
assets to the location and condition necessary for them
to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management), less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment less their residual values, if any,
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives and lease terms recognised in profit or loss. The
principal annual depreciation rates are as follows:

2% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter

Land and buildings

Leasehold Over the period of lease or their
improvements expected useful lives, whichever
is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and 10% — 20%
equipment
Motor vehicles 30%

The estimated residual values, useful lives and lease
terms are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

Gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

()

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has
elected not to separate non-lease components
and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value items.
The lease payments associated with those leases
which management decided not to capitalise, on a
lease-by-lease basis, are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the lease term.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-
use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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BONJOUR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5 Leases (continued)

()

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of-use assets under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and are measured
at amortised cost. Any excess of the nominal value
over the initial fair value of the deposits is accounted
for as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownerships of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
terms are depreciated on a straight-line basis from
the lease commencement dates to the end of their
useful lives. Otherwise, they are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of their useful
lives and the lease terms. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use assets for impairment when such
indicator exists.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is recognised using the effective
interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability, if applicable, are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

115



MmN

BONJOUR

EEMBEmRME (&) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4.5 THE (&) 4.5 Leases (continued)
(i) ZEEFEBZBEABA (i)  The Group as a lessee (continued)
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The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if
the Group changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in
the lease contract (the “lease modification”) that
is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this
case, the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the lease modification. The only exceptions are
any rent concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B
of HKFRS 16 “Leases”. In such cases, the Group
has taken advantage of the practical expedient
not to assess whether the rent concessions are
lease modifications and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments
in profit or loss in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5 Leases (continued)

()

(i)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset,
or profit or loss if the right-of-use asset is already
reduced to zero.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
the lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified
as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. Otherwise, the lease
is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
in accordance with note 4.15.

When the Group acts as an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as an
operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
exemption described in note 4.5(), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

The Group sub-leases some of its properties and
the sub-lease contracts are classified as operating
leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5 THE (& 4.5 Leases (continued)
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4.6

(iii) Sales and leaseback transactions

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a
sale in accordance with HKFRS 15, the Group as a
seller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset arising
from the leaseback at the proportion of the previous
carrying amount of the asset and recognises any
gain or loss that relates to the rights transferred
to the buyer-lessor only. Right of use asset and
lease liability with fixed payments are subsequently
measured in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Software that is acquired by the Group and has finite
useful life is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less its
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
its estimated useful life. Amortisation commences when
the intangible asset is available for use.

The estimated useful life of the software is approximately
10 years.

The estimated residual value and useful life are reviewed
and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting

period.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment as further
described in note 4.21.
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BONJOUR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.7

4.8

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost basis and comprised of costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets (except for trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component measured at
the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15) and
financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets, other than those designated as hedging
instruments, are classified into amortised cost, FVTPL
and FVTOCI in the consolidated financial statements.
Financial liabilities, other than those designated as FVTPL,
are classified into amortised cost only. The relevant
accounting policy is further described in notes 4.9 and
4.12 respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.8 Recognition and derecognition of financial

instruments (continued)

The Group derecognises financial assets only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets
expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownerships of
the assets to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownerships and continues to control the transferred
assets, the Group recognises their retained interests in
the assets and associated liabilities for amounts they may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownerships of transferred financial assets,
the Group continues to recognise the financial assets
and also recognises collateralised borrowings for the
proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amounts of the financial liabilities derecognised
and the considerations paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.9 Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. The classification is determined by both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets (i.e. to hold the financial assets and collect their
contractual cash flows), and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets (i.e. the contractual
terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interests). After
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Interest income is
included in “other income” in profit or loss. The underlying
accounting policy is further described in note 4.15.
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business
model other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and
sell’ are categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of
business model, financial assets whose contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest
are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial
instruments fall into this category, except for those
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for
which the hedge accounting requirements under HKFRS

9 apply.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.9 TRMEE (B

4.9 Financial assets (continued)

122

RERE Equity investments
BABZSKREDEAER An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL,
TEFABZ BKRIFEZERE unless the investment is not held for trading purposes and
WIFEEE > BRI BE on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes
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are recognised in profit or loss as “other income”. The
underlying accounting policy is further described in note
4.15.

4.10 Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price, whereas those contain a significant
financing component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction cost. All
receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less allowance for
ECL. Further policy is described in note 4.22.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand.

Cash and cash equivalents is assessed for ECL by

management regularly. Further policy is described in note
4.22.
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EEMBEmRME (&) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
 E_E_RFENA=Z1THIEF /A For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4d12ERMBEREETA 4.12 Financial liabilities and equity instruments
THEEAER TALR Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
BRI LENZHEZAR according to the substance of the contractual
REREAEMBRSER arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
B EAETESHEEGENR financial liability and an equity instrument under the
Hm THAZEERETDE. applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards.
HEm TEALBEHEELT An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
FEmMEEEBERZ TR residual interest in the assets after deducting all of its
mEMEHN LEBE U liabilities and is recognised at the proceeds received, net
BaE (R EEETRA) of direct issue costs as if the instrument is issued by the
BB -BUWZITIEBREAAT Company.
T o

4.13:t BER 4.13 Interest-bearing borrowings
FFEERULTELFEER Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
REMAER HEFRE value less transaction costs, and subsequently measured
RA AR AT = © at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
EEEFBRIEFTA BRIE In the consolidated statement of financial position,
RERSHR AEEBERE interest-bearing borrowings are classified as current
GERIEERGTHERD liabilities unless as at the end of the reporting period,
+ZEAB UDEAIERD the Group has a right to defer the settlement for at least
BE TG EERDES twelve months after the reporting period to classify as
mENEE non-current liabilities.
AEBRBREARHZA Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
BESTHEE RN A RS or before the end of the reporting period, are considered
NERZHDPEAME I in classifying loan arrangement with covenants as current
EREBFFTUETR - KNE or non-current. Covenants that the Group is required to
RHRSHBBAETHZRE comply with after the reporting period do not affect the

2 Tk classification.

MEMIZIBEWE4. 1810 Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss in
BmP g - accordance with note 4.18.

A14B R EMBEMIRR GBR 4.14 Trade and other payables (other than refund
& &R liabilities)
B REMENERROS Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
BAFEESD - RBES value. After initial recognition, they are measured at
B B REMENERMNK amortised cost using the effective interest method unless
B E A =L A the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
E EMMREETRE case they are stated at invoiced amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.15 Revenue and other income

Revenue mainly arises from the retail sales and
wholesales of merchandise.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an agent,
it considers whether it obtains control of the products
before they are transferred to customers. Control refers
to the Group’s ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from the
products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes, and further deducted by any trade discounts
or rights of return offered to customers.

For sales contracts of retail sales and wholesales of
merchandise that had an original expected duration of
one year or less, the Group has chosen not to disclose
the information related to the aggregation amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations in accordance with paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15.

Retail sales of merchandise

Revenue from retail sales of merchandise is recognised
when control of the goods has been transferred,
being at a point in time when customers purchase
the merchandise at retail stores and online platforms.
Payment terms and conditions vary by different retail
sales channels but the Group generally provides credit
terms of 7 to 30 days upon the issuance of sales invoice
to e-commerce customers and due immediately for
customers purchasing the merchandise in retail stores.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHBEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

415 m R HMEA (&

4.15 Revenue and other income (continued)
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Retail sales of merchandise (continued)

According to the Group’s sales policy, customers have
rights of return for a period of 7 to 30 days upon their
purchase which give rise to variable consideration. At
the point of sales, a refund liability, included in “other
payables” with a corresponding adjustment to revenue,
is recognised for the merchandise expected to be
returned, whereas the Group has a right to recover the
merchandise from customers included in “inventories”
with a corresponding adjustment to cost of goods sold.
This right to recover returned goods is measured at
the former carrying amount of the inventories less any
expected costs to recover the merchandise (including
potential decrease in value).

Management therefore applies the expected value
method to estimate the amount of returned merchandise,
on a portfolio level basis, by taking the Group’s current
and future performance expectations into account. This
estimated amount is included in the transaction price
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is resolved.

Wholesales of merchandise

Revenue from wholesales of merchandise is recognised
when control of the goods has been transferred, being
at a point in time when the merchandise are delivered
to wholesalers. Payment terms and conditions vary by
wholesalers based on the billing schedules but the Group
generally receives full payments from the customers
related to the sales of technology products and provides
credit terms ranged from 30 to 120 days upon the
issuance of sales invoice for the rest of customers. The
Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of
HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component as the period
of financing is 12 months or less.
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4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

415 m R HMWA (&)

4.15 Revenue and other income (continued)
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& aa #H # (#)

Wholesales of merchandise (continued)

BEHERMEREBENE A contract liability is recognised when the customers for
PREDAERKEDA TR the sales of technology products business pay advanced
RN ﬁ e O BRIEYH deposits in full before the related revenue is recognised.
EE-BHEANBRESE When the sales contract includes a significant financing
K& -E.‘ Al S IR W o component, the contract balance includes interest
BEEBEEREMNZERAN accrued under the effective interest method (as stated in
ME (T EWALPR “interest income” below).

i) o

B’E KA Dividend income
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Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date
when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
as it accrues using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For those that
are credit impaired subsequent to initial recognition, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less ECL) of the asset. If
it is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation will be
reverted to the gross basis.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral
part of the total rental income over the lease term.
Variable lease payments, if any, that do not depend on
an index or a rate is recognised as income when they are
earned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.16 Employee benefits

()

(i)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related services are provided by employees. The
related liability is recognised for the amounts that
are expected to be paid to the employees if the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
to pay these amounts as a result of the past
services provided by the employees which can be
estimated reliably.

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. Provisions are made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Defined contribution plans

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement plans which are available for all eligible
employees located in Hong Kong, Macau and the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “MPF Ordinance”) for
all eligible employees located in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by various independent trustees.
It requires that mandatory contributions are made
by both employers and employees separately to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000, which are expensed as the related
services are provided by the employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

416 EER/H (&)

4.16 Employee benefits (continued)

128

(i) TEEEZZ (8) (i) Defined contribution plans (continued)
ARBFNMESE All eligible employees located in Macau were
HEEVAEMEE members of the Social Security System operated
BT EENT g RE by the Macau SAR government. It requires that
FENKE HBRTE R mandatory contributions are made by both
FREEHHMLER employers and employees to the Social Security
(g R (el i K oo Fund, at the relative amounts of fixed contributions
FToEEHMNAEHEE varies among the types of employment contracts
HAHEEETNE signed with the employees, which were expensed
BEaMBEEME ¥R as the related services were provided by the
BERMARERSER employees.
ZtH o
O R E A AR LAY Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are required to
ME ABImME HES join the defined contribution retirement plans for all
IO 5 BE S & eligible employees located in the PRC arranged by
RIEHHEMERUR the local government labour and security authorities.
FENESERIE Contributions are made at the applicable rates
B 1 E %8 B IKET based on the amounts stipulated by the authorities,
B o HERTH R & A B &6 which are expensed as the related services are
MAETHNERERER provided by the employees.
EEEMEH TREBIR
HAEREREF -

(iii) REIR#H £ ([RAR (i) Long service payment (“LSP”) liabilities

#EE) BE

=& BRE (R R®IF
PIYEETER AL
ERRKAXNZEN
REzBRFE S
BESFEEREFE
RBEFERMRKRS

The Group’s net liability in respect of LSP payable
upon the cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Employment Ordinance
is calculated by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return of their
services rendered in the current and prior years.

Zi: = The LSP liabilities are the present value of LSP less
HAE - RHARBEE the negative service costs arising from the accrued
EARBRBEENIER benefits derived from the contributions made under

88 1R & 8 18 & 5t &
FENER (EHE T
EBE RKESEHEEES
By R PR E £ BRI FE 5t
BMEENE RS K
o

the MPF Scheme that have been vested with the
employees which are deemed to be contributions
from the relevant employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.16 Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Long service payment (“LSP”) liabilities
(continued)

The calculation is performed by an independent
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. The present value is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows
using the interest rates of high-quality corporate
bonds that are denominated in the foreign currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and have terms
to maturity approximating the terms of the related
pension obligation. If there is no deep market of
such bonds, the market interest rates of government
pbonds will be used.

Remeasurements of the net LSP liabilities which
include actuarial gains and losses are recognised
immediately in other comprehensive income and
will not be reclassified to profit or loss. The related
service costs and interest expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Interest expenses are determined by multiplying
the net LSP liabilities by the discount rate used to
measure at the beginning of the reporting period,
taking into account of any changes in the net LSP
liabilities during the period.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises costs for any
related restructuring.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

Share warrants

Share warrants issued to eligible employees to convert
into a fixed number of shares at a fixed exercise price
are classified as equity instruments. At the date of issue,
the fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes model
and the difference between the proceeds and fair value is
recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase
in “share warrants reserve” included in the equity. At the
time when the share warrants are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in “share warrants reserve” will be
transferred to “share capital”.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government subsidies

Government subsidies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there is
reasonable assurance that the subsidies will be received
and the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it.

Government subsidies that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same period in which
the related expenses are incurred.

Government subsidies related to income are presented in
gross under “other income” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprises of current tax and
deferred tax which is recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that it relates to a business combination
or items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4.20f18 (& 4.20 Taxation (continued)
B HG 7R 1 Current tax
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Current tax comprises of the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period/
year and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of the previous financial years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is
measured by using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes
any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if the
Group (i) has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and (ii) intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused
tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits (including the existing taxable temporary
differences) will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax
credits can be utilised.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its
assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4.20f 18 (&) 4.20 Taxation (continued)
BEERE (B) Deferred tax (continued)
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4.21

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets. For leasing transactions in
which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
to the lease liabilities and the related assets separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
the lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised and such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment
and if any of the indication exists, the carrying amount of
the relevant asset will be written down in profit or loss to
its estimated recoverable amount.
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4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

421 TRMEERME (E)

4.21 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
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The following assets are subject to impairment testing:

Intangible assets with definite useful life (note 19);

- Property, plant and equipment (note 17);

- Right-of-use assets (note 18); and

- Investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint
venture (notes 22, 23 and 44).

The recoverable amount is determined for an individual
asset or CGU (the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently), unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent from
other assets or CGUs. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual CGUs in a reasonable and consistent basis.
Goodwill arising from business combination is allocated
to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. The recoverable
amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use
is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount and is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU,
and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other
assets in the CGU on a pro-rata basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.21

4.22

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the resulting carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
trade receivables, rental and utility deposits, deposits,
other receivables and bank and cash balances).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Generally, credit losses are measured as the present value
of all expected cash shortfalls between the contractual
and expected amounts. The expected cash shortfalls
of fixed-rate financial assets are discounted using the
effective interest rate determined at the initial recognition
if the effect is material. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either 12-month ECLs or lifetime
ECLs. For 12-month ECLs, these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period
if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12
months). For lifetime ECLs, these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of
the instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

422 MEERME (E)

4.22 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
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Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, except for those financial instruments
that are determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date, and other financial instruments for which
credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables is always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group individually assessed for debtors
with significant balances and/or established a provision
matrix to group its trade debtors with similar credit risk
characteristics and past due days based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, external indicators,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Loss allowances for other financial assets are measured
at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs, unless when
there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.22 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both gquantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment that includes forward-looking
information.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; and

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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REMBmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
 E_E_RFENA=Z1THIEF /A For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4.22FMEERE (B 4.22 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
EHHE & Definition of default
EEEUTERE  AEH The Group considers a financial instrument to be in
RAEETMITHEEDN: default when:
- XBHFHERTH —  there is a breach of financial covenants by the
B, % counterparty; or
— WEEILIBINR - information developed internally or obtained from
BRIENENEBTR & external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
BARKAETEHZ to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
NHRBEBFEEA (B1F (without taking into account any collaterals held by
AER) (W FFEE the Group).
EEMIFAE NI MAIE
W) o
e L P4 R K Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
EERXIB WENNHAES the Group considers that default has occurred when
BiE1208 AIELELN contractual payments are more than 120 days past
REAEBERERASE due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
BEREBEBERLIENMLL - information that demonstrates otherwise.
NREMTIEANENRR The Group considers a financial instrument to have low
RE - ERATRBERNET credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the borrower
HERBREMREEBHBE has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
NR3 - I B BME 8 & FFH obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
AR BEEBNREIRIER economic and business conditions in the longer term
ERAMEBLEERL—FF may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
BERABTHEHARRES borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

MERBHEN  AIAEE
RZEMIEESEAR

BEHNEERR-

BHEEBEERKRSHE S ECLs are measured at each reporting date to reflect
FE O UMRMEMIABY changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
BHERUALNEERRE initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amounts is
FoFEHEEEESBNE recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
MEHFHHENETZPENDES The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
HERDNEE AEER financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
Bt T EEREENK their carrying amounts through a loss allowance account.

mREBE TREEEREE
B HREEFHERS

2o
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BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

422 MEERME (&

4.22 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
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Credit-impaired financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reassesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or being
more than 120 days past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the debtor is
either under liquidation, bankruptcy proceedings or more
than 24 months past due. The amount will be further
written off when the Group takes enforcement actions to
recover after obtained appropriate legal advice.

Any subsequent recoveries of a financial asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss when the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FEGHEEK (&) 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

423 BERAARER

4.23 Provisions and contingent liabilities

EAEERBESIHEEK
BREEITHET ST
METZETEIEER
KEN@mAEH BEERERE
RERI SR 5 BF > B S R ER B
HeomEEBBEEKR B
Bz B EBERAR®

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

FzZzEtzXHZRES
iR o
FTEHEEARSRGEHEE All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting

TR A LR
BB AT B R 1 B o

i 48 B 2= % B9 B BE %
AR ‘JZ?H%&T;HEJE%%

TEHORERZEETRER
j REBE RIEKENZ M
B AT AE MR - I R A&
ENEBARTIERAS
RARTBEEETHEE &
EAEEERSHFRE TE
KEARINAREGE BEER
oM H AV BI AR M R AV 1B
o Bl Bk Ih o

EEBRBERMEND DN
%%Bﬁ;ﬁi‘z%ﬁ,ﬁﬁ%% 73 &
B L ml B E B E

period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

When some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any unexpected

ARIIENEDEBILIEE- reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
MENEINSEUAESE amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the

WEREERR-

4.24 D8R E

AEBRBEERRNETEE
ERRE (ERAAITE
E(TRTEE))) 2EWOIA
BHBZERREEE DS
RiEROBER > UHKRE
MAEBEFAERSDH
BERDEMFLRE KK
ZEHEMBOBERIE AR
TEEFE2ROIABHYBE
BBy X BEMRE D IR &
FEENZTEE @ KME
UEETE-
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4.24

carrying amount of the provision.
Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the chief operating
decision maker, being the executive directors of the
Company (the “Executive Directors”), for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance of
those components. The business components in the
internal financial information reported to the Executive
Directors are determined following the Group’s major
products and geographical locations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.24

4.25

Segment reporting (continued)

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments:

° Wholesaling and retailing of beauty, healthcare and
lifestyle products; and

° Wholesaling of technology products

Each of these operating segments is managed separately
as each of the products requires different resources as
well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers
are carried out at arm’s length prices. On the other hand,
corporate assets and liabilities which are not directly
attributable to any operating segments will be aggregated
separately as “unallocated corporate assets and liabilities”
which mainly belong to the headquarters and joint
venture.

The measurement policies which the Group used
for reporting segment information under HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments” are the same as those used in its
financial statements prepared under HKFRS Accounting
Standards.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.
Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.25 Related parties (continued)

(0)

the party is an entity and if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vl

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

5. BAEHERGHHAEERZNE 5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
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E R R ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
5.1 EEAZEBER 2R E 5.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(i) FHEEERE (i)  Going concern basis
EEGEEHBERET These consolidated financial statements have been
BIFEKRESEERE prepared on a going concern basis, the relevant
A8 BA ST 1 &8 B MY s assessment is set out in note 2.
Do
(ii) #%15 E ap 38 E FF 15 (i) Assessment on sales of technology products

Significant judgement is required by management in
determining whether the Group acts as a principal
or an agent in particularly the sales of technology
products.

Considering the Group controls technology products
before they are transferred to customers mainly
because (i) the Group has a primary responsibility
for fulfilling all promises to provide technology
products to customers, including the acceptability;
(i) the Group is exposed to inventory risk; and (iii)
the Group has a discretion to establish all prices
of technology products. Hence, management
concludes the Group acts as a principal, which
recognises revenue in a gross amount of
consideration expected to be entitled in exchange
for those goods to be transferred.
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REMBmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
%@ ECE_ARFNA=Z1+HIEAH/\EA  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

5. FABHERGHHAEERZNE 5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ERR (& ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
5.1 FEERA SRR E 5.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(#) (continued)

(iii) & &2 T 5 & E

(iii) Accounting for joint ventures

X & B B C R
Business Innovation
Investment Fund

(HEHREMWE
%E@é%%%)(i
F1)WEEARBSR
BEhREZRE  H
AEfEEEREE
WEBFREBEZHmMHE
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EEREZEELR
e — LRI -
WZIEZ=%+2"A8
—t+—H EE®W0E
REBERE-NEE
E_HERAZ= +E|
FE+-NANEAER TR
EERENKEIEM
DEATERERAFESA
BmzesmEEIIR
XEBEHESNEE
EEZLEEHBIEL-
E—DHFEBEHN W
230

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

The Group’s investment in CR Business Innovation
Investment Fund L.P., an exempted limited
partnership fund in the Cayman lIslands (the
“Fund”), was accounted for as an investment in
a joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which
exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control. As at 31 December 2023,
although the Group held 75% interest in the Fund
and a contractual right to appoint two out of five
members of the Fund’s investment committee,
important decisions that have significant impact on
the Fund’s return require unanimous approval of all
members of the Fund’s investment committee. As
a result, the Fund was classified as a joint venture
as at 31 December 2023. During the eighteen
months ended 30 June 2025, a reclassification from
“Investment in a joint venture” to “Financial assets
at FVTPL” was made upon a change in the Group’s
level of influence over the Fund. Further details are
set out in note 23.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

5.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

()

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. In determining
whether there is any indication of impairment,
management exercises judgements and estimations,
particularly: (i) whether any events or indicators
appeared which may impact assets’ value; (ii)
whether the carrying amounts of assets can be
supported by their respective recoverable amounts,
in the case of value in use, the net present values of
the estimated future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the assets; and (jii)
the appropriateness of key inputs to be applied in
the cash flow projections, i.e. discount rates, growth
rates, market comparable and weighting factors.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), management estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU in which the asset belongs
to. Changes in any assumptions and estimates
applied in the cash flow projections could materially
impact the net present value used in the impairment
assessment.

As at 30 June 2025, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets were HK$460,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$820,000) and HK$13,191,000 (31 December
2023: HK$37,562,000) respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

5. FABHERGHHAEERZNE 5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ERR (& ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)
5.2 e FEERENEER 5.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
B (&
(ii) EWEZKRZ EME (i) Impairment loss on trade receivables, other
g AR 7k X K 7 & B 7k receivables and rental and utility deposits
Bz HEER

EEERBEEREN
REkEREEER
EHBRMETEEE
5 8RR~ H A8 U BR AR
Rk KE#EE
WWEEEOMEFF
FHZERK RRE
LEETEEM% 5
MESEZFRHAEE
FEERNTEH A
R A B Tt
BEBEARKEBERERN
BERMBEMERZRFH
HE o

BFHEEEEERY
Lt 2B - EBR
AERBEERERFEH
TR AR EESR

& 5t & B BE
Bl

W_ZE_HRE A
—t+H EWESE
Moy H fh B BR W
KR MEE/kKER®R
EHEREED N B
9,151,0008 7t (=&
—_=ZE+ZBR=Z+—

H:1,160,000% 70)
(DK BEHEERIA
B#16,283,000% 7T
(ZE2_=F+=_AH~
=+—H :843,000
%m)) &11 283,000

000
BT (ZEZ=ZF
+-—_B=4+—8:
18,058,000 75) ) °

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

Management estimates the impairment loss on trade
receivables, other receivables and rental and utility
deposits based on the assumptions about risk of
default and expected credit loss rates. Management
uses judgements in making these assumptions and
selecting key inputs to the ECL models based on
historical credit loss experience, external indicators,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
estimates. When the actual future cash flows are
different from the expected, such difference will
impact the provision amounts when the estimates
are changed.

As at 30 June 2025, the carrying amounts of
trade receivables, other receivables and rental
and utility deposits were HK$9,151,000 (31
December 2023: HK$1,160,000) (net of allowance
for ECLs of HK$16,283,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$843,000)), and HK$11,283,000 (31 December
2023: HK$69,440,000) (net of allowance for
ECLs of HK$50,770,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$18,058,000)), respectively.
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REMBHmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

5. BIBYEIRGHABMEREZMNE 5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ERR (& ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

5.2 AEFHRERZNEER
R (B

5.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii) BHIFEEE (iii) Allowance for slow-moving inventories
HIHEEEEDZE
FEEEBEXH -HERX
B -EZENBENHRRE
HE (ERERE DN

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is determined
with reference to inventory turnover days, sales
performance, expiry period and marketability of

e FENE) B

R EFHMEI REE
BZEZEEHTRIED
E’J%ﬂtﬁ.ﬁro = B RE
WER R EEE

inventories, which are extracted from the ageing
analysis and net realisable value assessments.
Those assessments involve significant estimations
by management to take into account of the recent
market condition. When the actual allowance is
different from the initial allowance, such difference

EREBEREEMS
B HBETFENRT
BRmEEFERERE-

will impact the carrying amount of inventories and
allowance for slow-moving inventories in the period
when the estimates are changed.

WRZZEZHERA As at 30 June 2025, the carrying amount of
—t+H HFZENEKEA inventories was HK$2,460,000 (31 December 2023:
EA2,460,000%& 7T HK$9,657,000) and the accumulated allowance for
(ZE2EZ=Z=+ZA8 slow-moving inventories was HK$10,420,000 (31

=+—H :9,657,000
BT RAHEHEER
st #E 510,420,000

December 2023: HK$14,068,000).

N

%Tﬁ(_gizfﬁ
+=ZBA=+—-8:
14,068,000% 73) °

146 Annual Report 2024/2025



REMBREWE (@)

BE_E_RAFNA=Z+HIEFHNEAS

6. MBREKEER
FEEBNEFIHAZR

BAB DENEEE &S A
B N E L R R E R -

FAERVBEBREBERR

BRAERE EEFE%E’JTT%EE'J
Mo SKREERPDHAERHY
?%%EEEE’\Ji%EK?F'J%i;oZK%
TEREFFEMITETANS
iz E E R o T IEE ) B R U E
HEE-8E—FEML AR
AEENRMBREEEBRRIL

6.1 M K2

HRAEBRKE
EEEER
ZEPEBESER
& E’dZFﬁﬁEEE
BERMEUA
) BT (1)
x5 (FEml)
,\nﬁ,ﬂf?l\ EEEEEE

s

m =

F oy

R =
B

ol

ELRR o LLSNES ST E BY 3

ﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁ%Eﬁﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁl

MmEREBIT Bﬁ??A

%HEE%BHDHEZ ° ]
DRNEEXD
EJJ%ZK%%E@HZ‘?%
ELABR AEEIL
fe] IE T0 ¥ B 3R LB
KRR MIEFEEER
22 R il TE P R

B 'K o
R E 7T

N _E_HFAABA= +E’

HETRZARE R

%m%ﬁ%ﬂ@ﬂg
_E¢+:H:+—E'
5%) M BEHM SRR
METAE I AEERRS
%%IE %%mﬂﬁm

85

25,0008 7T (B =

(e
S HD

BB >8R
Rk fhE S B H X O ) WSS R K

i
FH\§'|

H%%ﬂﬁﬁwmgmiﬁﬁm%

—+

ﬁﬁ
e
Fl
&

=y
[eay

i S+

=1

SHR
|
|| & b o W

M%ﬁMHm
[1\S & D B

n

BONJOUR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s business activities expose itself to a variety of
financial risks, including foreign currency risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The overall objectives of
the Group’s financial risk management policies focus on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise
potential adverse impact on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group did not invest into any financial derivatives to hedge
against those risk exposures instead of close monitoring to
respond. There are no changes to the types of risk exposures
and the financial risk management policies against the prior
year.

6.1 Foreign currency risk

The Group has limited exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, monetary assets
and monetary liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the group entities, except
for bank balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”),
Macao Pataca (“MOP”) and United States Dollar (“USD”)
mainly give rise to foreign currency risk. Foreign currency
denominated financial instruments translated into HK$
at closing foreign exchange rates at the reporting date
are disclosed in the respective notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group does not have any formal
hedging policy to mitigate the foreign currency risk,
instead management monitors closely and formulates
hedging policy if the risk exposure expands since
management considers the underlying movements of
foreign exchange rates to be insignificant to the Group’s
financial performance.

Sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2025, if the HK$ had weakened or
strengthened 5% (at 31 December 2023: 5%) against
RMB, MOP and USD, with all other variables held
constant, consolidated loss after tax for the eighteen
months ended 30 June 2025 and the equity would have
been HK$25,000 (for the year ended 31 December 2023:
HK$334,000) higher or lower, arising from the bank
balances denominated in RMB, MOP and USD which
the Group is mainly exposed to foreign currency risk at
the end of the reporting period. The amount of exposure
is translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling on
the same date for presentation purpose. The analysis
was performed on the same basis for the year ended 31

FE+-_B=+— E&EE:
334,00087T) - A& %8
HEHMWEXBEAE T
DHEF ZDrHEEE
—EIZFA+ZR=+—
HIEFEEHEBBNEEET

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6.2 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its contractual obligations resulting a financial
loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
is attributable to its operating and investing activities,
including trade receivables, deposits, other receivables,
rental and utility deposit and bank balances.

As at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, the
maximum exposure to credit risk for all financial
instruments stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position is the carrying amount as disclosed in
note 6.5.

Trade receivables

Management established a credit risk management
policy which individual credit evaluations are performed
on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account of information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within 120 days (31 December 2023:
120 days) from the invoice dates. Debtors with balances
that are more than 12 months (31 December 2023: 12
months) past due are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. In general,
the Group generally receives full payments as advanced
deposits from the wholesales customers for the sales
of technology products business and provides credit
terms ranged from 30 to 120 days (31 December 2023:
30 to 120 days) from the invoice dates for the rest of
wholesales customers, 30 days (31 December 2023:
30 days) from the invoice dates for the e-commerce
customers for the retail sales business and due
immediately for the retail sales customers who purchase
the merchandise in retail stores. The Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6.2 Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk attributable to individual customers nor individual
geographical locations for both current period and prior
year.

As explained in note 4.22, the Group measures loss
allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, assessed individually or based on provision
matrix, as appropriate. The Group further writes off the
debtors with balances that are more than 24 months (31
December 2023: 24 months) past due to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables:

“EZRFNA=TH
30 June 2025

TEHARSIE X IRME48 %R BiERE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% FET FET
% HK$’000 HK$’000
BNHA (ki@HA) Current (not past due) RiEA N/A - -
BHA1E30H 1-30 days past due 2.44% 2,092 51
FIEA31E60H 31-60 days past due REHA N/A - -
FiEA61ZE90H 61-90 days past due REHA N/A - -

BEHAEEE0H More than 90 days
past due 69.54% 23,342 16,232
25,434 16,283
ZEINE  “EZHREER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6.2 Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

2T =_F+ZA=+—H
31 December 2023

TEHARS I X IRE4EZE BIEEE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% FAET FAET
% HK$'000 HK$'000
BNHR (R#AHER) Current (not past due) 0.37% 543 2
BEHA1E30H 1-30 days past due 0.48% 209 1
HEHAB1E60H 31-60 days past due 1.15% 347 4
HEHAG1E90H 61-90 days past due 1.96% 51 1

B HAEBE90H More than 90 days past

due 97.89% 853 835
2,003 843

TEHBEELEETLREBEBE
3R (ZEBE_=F+_A12
Zt+—H:24@8) WER
EESRAESH ZEH
BREFEBUR MK EF
SHEHEBENKERE S
B Ak R R AR E B E U
BHEBEFHRAKCEREN
BEAZENER

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 36 months (31 December 2023: 24
months). These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over
which the historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

Annual Report 2024/2025



n

BONJOUR

REMBmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_EFE_AFNA=Z1+HIEA+/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6. HMBRAMEIRE (&) 6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
6.2 EERME (& 6.2 Credit risk (continued)
EWE SR () Trade receivables (continued)
AN/ FRNEREKRES Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of
AN EBEREBEREH W trade receivables during the period/year are as follows:
T

BE_ES_1F #®HE—_Z_=%
~NB=+H +-HA=+—H

E+NEA EEFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
NI NFEK At 1 January 2024 and 2023
—H—H 843 6,125
B ERRERN Impairment losses recognised for
AERE the period/year 16,174 709
i 25 Written-off (734) -
—ER BRI Deconsolidation of a subsidiary
ra AR - (5,991)
RAB=+8/ At 30 June/31 December
+ZB=+—H 16,283 843

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR 151
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B (2023F12831H
5,687,000& 75) » M=ZY
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1,779,000/ 7t (20234
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6.2 Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables and rental and utility deposits

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
determines appropriate credit limits with regular individual
assessment on the recoverability based on historical
credit loss experience, external indicators, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment. Other monitoring procedures are
in place to ensure that appropriate follow-up actions are
taken to recover those overdue debts.

Management is of opinion that there is no significant
increase in credit risk on other receivables and rental
and utility deposits since initial recognition as the risk
of default is low after considering the factors set out in
note 4.22. Therefore, the loss allowances recognised
during the period/year were limited to 12-month ECL
assessments, except for the credit-impaired balances of
HK$50,770,000 (31 December 2023: HK$18,058,000)
that were expected not to be recovered and subject to
lifetime ECL assessments.

Included in the carrying amounts of other receivables are
the carrying amounts of loan receivable and amounts due
from associates and related companies. With reference to
the key terms of the loan receivable as disclosed in note
26, management considers the credit risk to be partially
(31 December 20283: substantially) mitigated by the
property held as collateral, with an estimated fair value of
HK$3,965,000 (31 December 2023: HK$5,687,000) that
gives rise to a deficit of HK$1,779,000 (31 December
2023: headroom of HK$371,000) under (2023: over)
their carrying amounts as at 30 June 2025. Therefore,
the loss allowance under stage 3 after discounting of
HK$1,779,000 was recognised during the eighteen
months ended 30 June 2025 (for the year ended
31 December 2023: HK$363,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6.2 Credit risk (continued)

BB R IURHEE R Other receivables and rental and utility deposits
KEEE (B (continued)
A/ FEAEREMERRKR Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of
MURBERKEZEN other receivables and rental and utility deposits during the
BIREEREESNT period/year are as follows:
BE_E_HF HBEZ_=F%
~B=+H +ZHA=+—H
LtE+NEB IEFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
NI NFEK At 1 January 2024 and 2023
—H—H 18,058 17,695
B ERRERN Impairment losses recognised for
AERE the period/year 32,712 363
RARAB=+8/ At 30 June/31 December
+-B=+—H 50,770 18,058

R1T 4% B

FEBREBETEHMAR
WEERBRER RESH
FHOREBEREEFRE
B TeEEFRINERT
EEERIREFEARK
&

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

Bank balances

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from the
bank balances is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, which management considers to

represent a low credit risk.

153



MmN

BONJOUR

REMBRR]WEE (&)
BE—T-nFNA=1THILTN\EAR

6. MBRREER (&)
6.3 RBEERARK

MBEETRMENERB
BEIBRTHBEBRXNER®
FHEHMETMEEEENT
MEBEEBEEETNEARSE
e AEBNBRBERE
RHRHETFTRKHEE
THERERENER UER
AEHE%EE%ﬁ&E
BEREEENEBERE S UK
REEBRERRINEEH
NARBREREBEETIEE > LUR
TEHEBRERERBEARBE R
Bk

U0 B 2P IR EE 0 AN EE
REFERBEFEDE
ERETHHEE AL P A
BEERHEGEEBBEERD
EE BETAEERFELE
BENFEERTRERERR -
FE It > EFHREZ RIS
REAEBEBERENYB
ERUNMEARBEE T
Ko sFBHIICMIEE2 -

154

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable equity securities
and adequate committed lines of funding from the
controlling shareholder and external parties to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer terms.

As disclosed in note 2, the facts that the Group incurred
net cash outflows from operating activities and its current
liabilities exceeded its current assets for both current
period and prior year indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Directors therefore take various measures
to ensure the Group possesses sufficient financial
resources to meet its liquidity requirements. Details are
set out in note 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6.3 RBEETARK (

)

=

6.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

TR AEBIFTES
BB AR SRR R
BHEHPB HRESGHR
MRBEEREREAEERA
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The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based
on the contractual undiscounted cash flows and the

THNEEHHRSE ! earliest date the Group is required to pay:
DR—F
FEEKX —EERE MEERE HBRLE
Less than Between
1 year or 1 and Between 2 Over
on demand 2years and 5 years 5 years
FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
RIZEZHE At 30 June 2025
AA=+H
B MEMEMERT  Trade and other payables 56,874 - - -
RITER (e Bank borrowings (note) 3,079 - - -
HifEm Other borrowings 55,499 10,105 895 5,100
FEAT AR AR R R IE Amount due to the controlling
shareholder 40,960 - - -
HE&E Lease liabilities 29,432 - - -
185,844 10,105 895 5,100
AR S At 31 December 2023
+ZB=+—H
B REMEMEER  Trade and other payables 61,765 - - -
RITET (M EH) Bank borrowings (note) 3,792 - - -
HrfEm Other borrowings 13,970 21,253 10,930 5,382
P AR AR SRR IE Amount due to the controlling
shareholder 32,142 - - -
HESE Lease liabilities 32,335 29,002 14,752 -
144,004 50,255 25,682 5,382
M st ATOR —FfZE Note: Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
KB EE A KSR included in “Less than 1 year or on demand” time
EREEZBANBOIRIT band, with an aggregate undiscounted principal and
& RAEIR K& KA interest amounts of HK$3,079,000 (31 December 2023:
B A3,079,000%8 HK$4,107,000) are presented below when management
T(ZEZ=%+ZAH evaluates that the bank will not exercise its discretionary
=+—H 14,107,000 rights to demand immediate principal nor interest
Bw) O RNTITXEY B payments instead of following the scheduled repayment
HEEBIGHETHER dates as set out in the relevant borrowing agreements.
EOTEAENBEREEXRD
REEASHIME M
JFEBEEBERBEN
HMStEIERB -

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

155



MmN

BONJOUR

REMBHmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

6. HMBRAMEIRE (&) 6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
6.3 NBMEERAMR (& 6.3 Liquidity risk (continued)
D — B R EFH Maturity analysis - Bank borrowings with a
B 1 E KB EIEZ BT repayment on demand clause based on scheduled
RITER repayment dates
MR-F  —FERf BRLF  AMRLE REfE
Total
Less than Between 1 undiscounted Carrying
1year and5years Over 5 years amount amount
FEn FE1 FEm T FE7
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
30 June 2025 RZEZ5ErR=1+H 684 2,395 - 3,079 3,075
31 December 2028 MZFZ=F+ZA=t—H 676 2,707 724 4,107 3,792
6.4 FIER MK 6.4 Interest rate risk

MERRBEHEMIANA
$Tﬁﬁﬁij§$ﬁim§#}.
ERZEIES XN i
BB R o $$lmﬂ?ﬂﬁ
In%@ﬁ EERCEWE
L/ ﬁﬁ&ﬁ@@ﬂu&%
MERRKRRMIE - ZIBHA
X EWRITHERKIBIT
BREAEERERBERES M
EHXER  MZEEBERNZE
SEENEWERHME
% M ER KR EREMRERE

ECERFArEERERA T
BN ERMRE-
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Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
interest rate risk mainly arises from bank balances, loan
receivable, bank and other borrowings and amount
due to the controlling shareholder. The bank balances
and bank borrowings bearing at variable interest rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk, while
the loan receivable, other borrowings, amount due to the
controlling shareholder and lease liabilities bearing at fixed
interest rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk.
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REMBmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_EFE_AFNA=Z1+HIEA+/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025
6. HMBRAMEIRE (&) 6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6.4 FIERM (& 6.4 Interest rate risk (continued)
EEETHERERTXME Management regularly monitors the Group’s interest rate
KEBNFFNERRT UF profile per annum as set out below in order to minimise
EREBMEBENEXEHME the interest rate risk exposure subject to changes in
AR =R R o #5108 R market interest rates. The Group does not have any

SR EBERNRAERKF formal hedging policy to mitigate such risk given that the
ERATFEENTHRIR related financial impact is limited to the Group’s financial
i = i S I S W i performance for both current period and prior year.
BELBREEMAR-
RZEZLE s
~NBZ+H +ZAZ+-H
As at 30 June As at 31 December
2025 2023
L ES FET ELSES FET
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate HK$'000 rate HKS'000
A= FES Variable interest rate
—R174% - Bank balances Daily deposit 3,911 Daily deposit 16,109
rates rates
SABERNE EREDNE
—iR7BF - Bank borrowings Prime rate* (3,075) Prime rate” (3,792)
-2.5% -2.5%
REERE REZHZ
-2.5% -2.5%
—[Ef#£ - Rent payable Prime rate* (35,042) N/A -
+3%
REENZ TER
+3%
(34,206) 12,317
il Fixed interest rate
—EWER - Loan receivable 4.675% 3,898 4.675% 5,695
—HffEFH - Other borrowings 2.75%-25.5% (69,876) 4%-16.8% (43,721)
—MEfE®R - Amount due to the controlling
A shareholder 2.75%-24% (40,960) 2.75%-18% (32,142)
-HEEBR - Lease liabilities 8.00% (28,193) 8.00% (68,995)
(135,131) (139,163)
il Net exposure (169,337) (126,846)
* REBEMNXIEEERKIE * The Prime rate represents Hong Kong Prime rate as
BHEBRRE TR HA specified by The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
HNEEAREBEF X Limited from time-to-time.
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MBmERME (&) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
“E_RENA=Z+HIE+ABE  Forthe eighteen months ended 30 June 2025
MEERERE (8) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
6.4 FIERAME (&) 6.4 Interest rate risk (continued)
S E D Sensitivity analysis
RZEZRAFEXB=1H"> At 30 June 2025, if the interest rates had increased or
WA ELAHXTEIOOME decreased 100 basis points (31 December 2023: 100
EE (2 _=+C ﬁ basis points), with all other variables held constant,
=+—H 100@&EZ) > consolidated loss after tax for the eighteen months
FTEEMESERTE EU ended 30 June 2025 and the equity would have been
AEBE@BRFERR Eﬁ% HK$141,000 (year ended 31 December 2023: profit
mﬁ TA Fﬁ EXNE=E— after tax of HK$103,000) higher or lower, arising from
ZHEN 7S B=+H8B1L+ /\ the financial instruments which the Group is exposed
B8 85 RREEER to interest rate risk. For the fair value interest rate risk,
MmN /141,000 the sensitivity analysis assumes the change of interest
BT (BHE_ZE_=ZF£+_ rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period
B=+— EIlJ:EE CkBRME and had been applied to remeasure those financial
#mA103,00087T) A instruments. For the cash flow interest rate risk, the
FEMERRMS  BHE sensitivity analysis assumes the variable interest-bearing
DB EE @J [ financial instruments were held by the Group at the end
EHRELE T EEARE of the reporting period and the associated risk exposure
M EZEETM I A -MIR is measured at an annualised impact of the changes in
EREMNERARBME > B interest rates. The analysis was performed on the same
EXMBREAERRRS basis for the year ended 31 December 2023.
HERFEIEFEE/MT
B MAB B R IR 12 7] X & )
B F 1L 2 quE % 7 i ¥
HBEE_ZET=F+=A
=+—BLEHFEEHERHNE
AEELT o
6.5 &R T EEEA 6.5 Categories of financial instruments
RiEaMBEREKXRETW The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated
FEERTIEmMI AR statement of financial position relate to the following
ilE=R categories of financial instruments:
RZEZEHE RZEZ=
~BA=+H +ZB=+—H
As at 30 June As at 31 December
2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EREE Financial assets:
B AT RIS R Financial assets at amortised cost
BE 22,977 58,734
WMATEstABER 2 Financial asset at FVTPL
TREE 214,639 -
WATESF AEMEE Financial assets at FVTOCI
Wz ERMEE 676 409
EHEaR: Financial liabilities:
MR A5 ERIE R Financial liabilities at amortised cost
aiE 171,099 141,420
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
levels fair value hierarchy (as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair value
measurement”). The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation techniques is as follows:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

significant unobservable inputs

unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement

observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1
and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

Management is responsible for fair value measurements of
financial instruments. Discussion of valuation process and
results among management is held twice a year to coincide
with both interim and annual reporting dates. In particularly,
for those financial instruments categorised as level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy, management engages an independent
professional valuer to perform the fair value measurements on

behalf of the Group at those reporting dates.

The relevant levels in the fair value hierarchy where the
financial instruments were categorised as at 31 December
2023 and 30 June 2025 were entirely based on the lowest
level of inputs that were significant to their respective fair value

measurements.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur. There were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 for both current

period and prior year.

7.1 Disclosure of levels in the fair value hierarchy:

The Group’s financial instruments measured at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position on a
recurring basis were categorised as Level 3 fair value

hierarchy as at 30 June 2025 and 31 December 2023.
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MBHRRWE (B)
BE_ZE_nFNA=+THIE+NEAR

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

DERBIRATFEERD

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

7.2 Reconciliation of financial instruments categorised

ERMTAEHIK: as Level 3 fair value hierarchy:

BHE_Z-HF BE_ZE-_Z=
~B=+H +=ZB=+-—H
L+ N\EB ILEE

Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BATESAHEMEEWEZ  Financial assets at FVTOCI
THEE
FELHRAEES . Unlisted equity securities:
é:%_mi&_g::i
—HB—H At 1 January 2024 and 2023 409 349
REMEmkEER Net unrealised gain recognised in other
FERUHFEE () comprehensive income (note) 267 60
RAB=+H/ At 30 June/31 December
+ZB=+—8 676 409
ek EMEFLEMRAEAD Note: Any gains or losses from the remeasurement of the
5 EENME AW E K unlisted equity securities are recognised in the “financial
BERPAEMEEBEN assets at FVTOCI reserve” in other comprehensive
T A F@EtAEAM income. Upon disposal of the equity securities, the
2EKREZEHMEEHF amount accumulated in other comprehensive income will
BIHPRER - HEKRAD be transferred directly to accumulated losses.
HEm o oREME2AEKRD
NS EREEEEE
ERHEE-

BHE_E_hEF BE_Z-=F
~"B=+H +ZB=+—H
t+N\EA ILEE

Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RAFEABREZ Financial asset at FVTPL
THEE
RESMWIKRE ! Investment in the Fund:
AR MERZTI=F
—HB—H At 1 January 2024 and 2023 - -
BEMOENEE Effect from the reclassification
(R RA M 5E23) (as detailed in note 23) 262,385 -
RIBEPRER Net unrealised loss recognised in profit or
RETFEE loss (47,746) -
BARB=+8/ At 30 June/31 December
+Z-A=+—H 214,639 -
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BONJOUR

& Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_EFE_AFNA=Z1+HIEA+/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

7.3 Valuation techniques and key inputs used in Level 3

fair value hierarchy:

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements:

RABRRBAUE

Unobservable inputs

TEEERAFELER

Enterprises’ value-to-sales ratio

RZmERBNEZ R

Discount for lack of marketability

lES
Interest Rate

RERIMNER

Developer’s Profit Margin

Notes:

0.24-1.21
ZET=4:0.09-2.60)
0.24-1.21

(2023: 0.09-2.60)

(ZEZ=%F:205%)
(2023: 20.5%)

—EC=F R ER)
4.5% (2023: N/A)

“ECZF I RER)
10% (2023: N/A)

(@) The fair value of unlisted equity securities is determined
using the value-to-sales ratio of comparable enterprises
adjusted for lack of marketability discount. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the value-to-
sales ratio and is negatively correlated to the discount
for lack of marketability. As at 30 June 2025, it is
estimated that with all other variables held constant, an
increase/decrease in value-to-sales ratio and decrease/
increase in discount for lack of marketability by 10% and
10% (31 December 2023: 10% and 10%) would have
increased/decreased the other comprehensive income
by HK$24,000 and HK$3,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$47,000 and HK$12,000) respectively.

The valuation techniques and key inputs used for the
fair value measurement of the financial instruments
categorised into Level 3 were the same as the prior year.

(b)  The fair value of investment in the Fund is determined
using the adjusted net asset approach. The fair value
measurement is negatively correlated to interest rate
and developer’s profit margin. As at 30 June 2025, it
is estimated that with all other variables held constant,
an increase and decrease in interest rate by 10% would
have decreased and increased the profit or loss by
HK$11,461,000 and HK$11,706,000 respectively and
an increase and decrease in developer’s profit margin by
10% would have decreased and increased the profit or
loss by HK$8,858,000 and HK$9,021,000 respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

7.4 Fair value of financial instruments carried at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at amortised cost were not materially different

from their fair values as at 31 December 2023 and 30
June 2025.

TURNOVER

An analysis of the Group’s turnover by major products
recognised during the period/year is as follows:

BE_E_-_1& ®HE_Z_=

AB=+H +ZZHR=+—H
L+ N\EB IEEE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EHMBMEAEDE155F Revenue from contracts with
HEANNZTES4UE .  customers within the scope of
HKFRS 15:
HEER - BEREERE Sales of beauty, healthcare and
E lifestyle products 54,518 64,824
HE I E & Sales of technology products 36,450 885,447
90,968 950,271

BN G EREE A METSE S
MEEREE—DDIFD R H
10(b) & 10(c)IWEE °

REBHNELEZ T BHAH
BhREBTEEaEMAEBRRSE X
BB10% UL EME BRI EE10(d)
FE ZBEEEERREEMNES
R sE6. 24 58 o

AEECEREABMB RS EL
B155EH121(a) RN EBRERE R
FoRAAEAFELABBERBE
FECAEBRETREBEHFEH
MFHUTHHEGHNETH
NEENEBR BAKEAR
EXEEOER-

Further disaggregation of turnover by the timing of revenue
recognition and geographical markets is disclosed in notes
10(b) and 10(c) respectively.

The Group’s customer base is well-diversified and the
customers who contributed more than 10% of the Group’s total
turnover for both current period and prior year are disclosed in
note 10(d). Details of credit risk management on the customers
are disclosed in note 6.2.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121(a) of HKFRS 15 that permits not to include information
about the turnover when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the sales contracts which had an original
expected duration of one year or less for both current period
and prior year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

9. HMWA 9. OTHER INCOME
BE_E_RFE #HEZZ_:=
~B=+H +ZHA=+—H
E+N\EA IEFEE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000

TR (Misk(a)) Government subsidies (note (a)) 106 4,734

RITERBIF] BULA Interest income on bank deposits 7 28

SRS ERN BUW A Imputed interest income on rental

deposits 526 743

RITREMER ZHEEFE Imputed interest on bank and other

borrowings 2,238 3,330
WA Rental income 5,411 291
KRIEERERLE & (Mi5E(b)) Derecognition of financial liabilities

(note (b)) 28,705 -

ERMABREEE Overprovision of reinstatement cost 958 -

bE R U /R ER Exchange gain, net 431 155

HEIUL A Sundry income 412 347

38,794 9,628

M &E - Notes:

(a) BE_ZE_=ZF+"-HA=+— (@ The Group recognised the government subsidies of
BEFE AEEBRETEBRN HK$4,412,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023 in
EENTRERmZE IR EENH respect of the COVID-19 related subsidies arising from the
AU AR % 55 A8 B Bh FE SR U Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
®EN4,412,0008 T ZE S Government. The purpose of the funding is to provide financial
ETRBEFREMBIZRF MU support to employers to retain their employees or hire more
RREPRELTEBRFTELE employees as the business revives, provided the Group
BHENEBEHRFGRBEHES complies with the required conditions at the end of the reporting
RERFEZEE - period.

by BEE_ZT_HAENNAB=+H (b)  During the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025, an amount of
FE+NBEAEE FFHERE HK$28,705,000 was derecognised as a result of deregistration
ABELMBIERBZEER of a creditor.

28,705,000 7T ©
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AEBREFGEAMEULUEE
BEER HFAEMERSE
RERERDEERBANINZ2 R
BERNPNARX R - FEZEERRK
E(TXEEBEEREKEE)) (IR
TES)EBEBEHNAME
AEHRDHM FHIWERKE
4.240

A 2RO BZBERD A
RERERMS  TEBEERRK
ERUTEEEERNERDE
BEZEXE - EEREBR

RE2RNBEERREALERRMEA
WEE ERATEFABZZ
EMEERKN (ZTTEZ=F 1 X
GELRENKRE) HHEEE
UkBEHERTEEREENHEHET
FRFEMNEESRABRFEER
T (LIFEERBRATZ2RD M
BEBEE) FRobo

RE2RNEEERELAERRMAE
BE - BHEHEIZEARNEEROA
EaERN ZFEEREAD
FEE - TEERBRIUEZ®D
WOXEHEH -

RE2RNEENCELAERRMAE
EXBREEGRAE HRE
ZEDEFREEZHEBERFE
EFZEEEMRENEETER
DEeNEERE (MER) 52
EZRELRZ B AL RERZ
BREE-

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its business by business lines and
geographical locations in a manner consistent with the
information reported internally to management for resources
allocation and review of performance. The chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM”), being the Executive Directors,
has identified the business lines into two reportable segments
as disclosed in note 4.24.

For the purpose of assessing the resources allocation and
review of performance between the reportable segments, the
CODM monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Reportable segment assets include all of the Group’s assets
with the exception of financial assets at FVTPL (2023:
investment in a joint venture), right-of-use assets and rental
and utility deposits related to the leased industrial building
categorised as corporate assets which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of the reportable
segments.

Reportable segment liabilities include all of the Group’s
liabilities with the exception of lease liabilities related to the
leased industrial building categorised as corporate liabilities
which are not directly attributable to the business activities of
the reportable segments.

Reportable segment gross profits include all of the Group’s
turnover and cost of goods sold allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to the sales generated and the cost
of goods sold incurred by those segments. Inter-segment
transactions, if applicable, are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar transactions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

n

BONJOUR

ARESHER (a) Reportable segment information
HERTEXA XnE
BEREERHESR MERMER rEEERER @t
Wholesaling and
retailing of beauty, Wholesaling of Unallocated
healthcare and technology corporate assets
lifestyle products products and liabilities Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
HE-Z-RE Eighteen months ended
AB=+HLEFNEAR : 30 June 2025:
REDHEEE Reportable segment turnover 54,518 36,450 - 90,968
AREPBEEBBRME Reportable segment cost of
goods sold (20,391) (36,123) - (56,514)
RSN HER Reportable segment gross
profit 34,127 327 - 34,454
RZZ_REFAB=+A: As at 30 June 2025:
OHENHEE Reportable segment assets 21,331 2,455 231,985 255,771
BE S =Y Reportable segment liabilities (169,237) (6,882) (28,193) (204,312)
HECZO-F Year ended 31 December
+ZA=+—-HLEE: 2023;
s HEE Reportable segment turnover 64,824 885,447 - 950,271
HRENHEEBRMA Reportable segment cost of
goods sold (18,092) (869,127) - (887,219)
AREDHER Reportable segment gross
profit 46,732 16,320 - 63,052
RIZZ=ZF+ZB=+—H:  Asat31 December 2023:
OREDHEE Reportable segment assets 75,043 26,269 402,796 504,108
RENHEE Reportable segment liabilities (148,614) (8,355) (64,903) (221,872)
“EoNE T REER 165
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EEMBEmRME (&) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

10. AEEN (&) 10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) SIFKBEFREANKE (b) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers
ARENHEENETEY Disaggregation of turnover by the timing of revenue
HBREEMNFI5RNE recognition within the scope of HKFRS 15 attributable to
P ¥ Uy B GRS R B D B9 the reportable segments is set out below:
EEEDITHIINNTX:
HUARBE
£ RER
TERHER HERWES Hzt
Wholesaling
and retailing
of beauty,
healthcare Wholesaling
and lifestyle  of technology
products products Total
FET FET F#T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE_Z-HE Eighteen months ended
~B=+H 30 June 2025:
tE+N\ERA :
— R —(E R B - At a point in time 54,518 36,450 90,968
e Year ended 31 December
+ZA=+—H 2023:
HEE:
— R — (B B & - At a point in time 64,824 885,447 950,271
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Geographical information

The Group’s turnover from external customers is
categorised by the geographical markets based on the
locations where the goods delivered and the Group’s
non-current assets are categorised by the physical
locations of the assets (other than financial instruments,
investment in a joint venture and investments in
associates) are detailed below:

I=E 35 FERBEE
Turnover Non-current assets

BE_Z_1E HE_ T =-—F BE_E_IF HE_ZT_=fF
~NB=+H +-B=+—H ~NB=+H +-B=+—H

LE+N\EB LFE I+ N\EB &FE

Eighteen Year ended Eighteen Year ended

months ended 31 December  months ended 31 December

30 June 2025 2023 30 June 2025 2023

FET FET FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

B Hong Kong 86,883 934,619 13,651 38,187
Rl Macau 4,085 15,652 - 195
90,968 950,271 13,651 38,382

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR
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EEMBEmRME (&) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

10. AEEN (&) 10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d) REFEERFHNKES (d) Revenue from major customers
RAABRBEFE 5/ The Group’s customers who contributed more than 10%
AEBMBEEFEI0O%RU £ of the Group’s total turnover for both current period and
HNEBRHINR T : prior year are set out below:

BE_Z-_HF #HE—_ZT_=
~B=+H +-—A=+—H

IE+N\ER IEFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HEBE R T 2 o Wholesaling of technology
products:
ZHPA Customer A 14,357 393,878
=FB Customer B -* 198,065
HEBEES EBEKREE  Wholesaling of beauty, healthcare
B 11 22 and lifestyle products:
=ZRC Customer C 23,331 -
TR fﬁz éﬁtj—ﬁ\:@ﬁ;ﬁ; gg * This customer did not contribute over 10% of
)5 Sk ER A E ggg turnover of the Group during the eighteen months
10% L0 Wz o ended 30 June 2025.
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REMBmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_EFE_AFNA=Z1+HIEA+/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

11, BERE 11. FINANCE COSTS
BE_THHE #HEZZZ-=
~NB=+H +ZA=+—H
E+N\EA IEFEE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEaBZMERX Interest expense on lease liabilities 5,962 6,796
BT REMETRZFBERS  Interest expense on bank and
other borrowings 12,809 4,899
FEMIERR IR ERRIBEZ A BB Interest expense on amount due
to the controlling shareholder 4,077 1,648
EHRESEE2FMERE  Interest expense on LSP liabilities 39 38
EARSZFEMRX Interest expense on rent payable 1,973 -
24,860 13,381
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

12.

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

N FERERERZAE Income tax credit/(expense) recognised in profit or loss during
Mige, () @OF . the period/year is as follows:
BE_E_RFE #HEZZ_:=
~B=+H +ZHA=+—H
E+N\EA EEE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BRI IE—FEFE Current tax - Hong Kong
Profits Tax:
NEARE FEEE Provision for the period/year - (640)
BNHEA#R IE — i@ 5 - Current tax - Overseas:
BEFEBEER Over-provision in prior years 80 -
80 (640)

BEARANERBBEE_S _AF N
B=+HLE+NER ZE5ER
MAEMURE16.6% (BREZZ
=+ ZRB=+—HLEFE:
16.5%) fFHEH X R T E
BEARAEMRILZER—BHRERQ
Bl BRSO > R E 2 RS 1R W AR 6 1|
TZEEREZE-

RIBEFESRMAS ZbENE
2,000,000 JT FE 8 712 i ) B9 F)
BRMMEAES.25%  HERERM
w16 5% IR E-M o Z M
BRENEEBNNESREFERER
“E=F+ZHE=+—HL®F
ENHEREEFTH-

FETEMEREBEE_S"H
FERNB=Z+HLEFTNERZME
FREERAEMNERE25% (B E
2 _-F+ZHBR=+—R81
FE 25%) fEHBEH B
MITHEeEmARRERBEE_Z
“THEEAB=Z+HLEFTNEEZ
HEERE R U1I2% (BEZZ
T ZE+ZB=Z+—HLEEE:
12%) A E stz s o

Hong Kong Profits Tax is provided at 16.5% (year ended 31
December 2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025, except for one of
the Company’s subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong, which is
a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered profits tax regime.

Under this regime, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
of such subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary was calculated on the same
basis as year ended 31 December 2023.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is provided at 25% of the
estimated assessable profits for the eighteen months ended
30 June 2025 (year ended 31 December 2023: 25%). Macau
SAR Complementary Tax is provided at 12% of the estimated
assessable profits for the eighteen months ended 30 June
2025 (year ended 31 December 2023: 12%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (continued)

and practices.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is provided at the
appropriate rates prevailing in the relevant countries where the
Group operates based on the existing legislation, interpretation

The reconciliation between income tax credit/(expense) and
accounting profit at the applicable tax rate is as follows:

mnr
BE_E_RFE #HEZZ_Z=
~NB=+H +ZA=+—H
E+NEA EEE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
PRI AT (B518) & A (Loss)/Profit before tax (278,437) 54,611
16.5%MNEEF]FMNE Tax calculated at Hong Kong
STENRIE Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 45,942 (9,011)
DME—RIEEEEENM  Tax effect of share of result of a
BEE joint venture (9,751) (4,088)
BABREANREEE Tax effect of non-taxable income 1,466 20,550
AHMBERSZNREEE Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses (28,987) (4,389)
FHERNRIBEIENSR Tax effect of tax losses not
b recognised (8,670) (3,702)
BEFERNBREEE Over-provision in prior years 80 -
T8k ) Income tax credit/(expense) 80 (640)
“EoNE T REER 171
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

13. AEIRM FE (B#E) EHA

AR FE (BB &
Mex,/ (5FA) UTEBEEZ

13. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR

= (Loss)/profit for the period/year is arrived at after charging/

IpE!
EE (crediting) the following items:

BE_Z-_HF #®HE—_ZT_=
~B=+H +-_A=+—H

IE+N\ER IEFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
Z B M & Auditor’s remuneration 2,260 2,380
BEBmAE () Cost of goods sold (note) 56,514 887,219
M- -BERREITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 764 247
FTREEETE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 27,161 23,396
FEEERS Short-term leases expense 111 1,938
HEME BERRERBE Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 942 -
KEGETERERIE Impairment loss on investments
(Fft5E22) in associates (note 22) 551 -
BIA SiZEEME Staff costs, including
(FftzE14) : Directors’ emoluments
(note 14):
e RBIBTEA Salaries and discretionary bonus 51,486 56,814
TE BB HRUR IR 5T BIHRR Contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans 1,663 2,028
EHRFE S &E (8E) #14# (Reversal of)/Provision for LSP
liabilities (958) 260
M. DEmRmAeEREE Note: Cost of goods sold includes a reversal of allowance for
TE_RENB=+81 slow-moving inventories of HK$3,649,000 (year ended 31
+NEA/ BB PN B December 2023: HK$12,560,000) recognised in profit or loss
Ol & 7FE E8#E3,649,000 during the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025 due to the
B (B E_&2 - = & increase in estimated net realisable value of inventories as a
+_-_B=4+—B8BLtEE": result of changes in market demand.
12,560,000% ) * REZE™
BERESBECEREFEN G5
AR EEIE M
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

14.1 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

BiESELQ & B = Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments disclosed
383( V15 K2 R~ E] (?EZ ’é% E pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
7F' m A K) R A valkid Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
ENESEhE IEJ 17 BZ /\ 8 Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
MEwmT follows:
BEHE e METEA BREIER b,
Retirement
Directors’ Discretionary plans
fees Salaries bonus contributions Total
FAT FAT FHAT FAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HE_E"HEEB=1H For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025:
LE+N\ER:
HTES Executive Directors
BN kL Mr. Chen Jianwen - 1,800 - 27 1,827
RlERLE Mr. Wan Yim Keung, Daniel - 790 - - 790
HERET Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna - 1,800 - 20 1,820
- 4,390 - 4 4,437
BUEYES Independent Non-Executive Directors
FRBLE Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan 322 - - - 322
= Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning 322 - - - 322
BEMLE M. Kwok Chi Shing 338 - - - 338
982 - - - 962
THEE Chief Executive Officer
BRRLE Mr. Wong lu Ming - 3,800 - - 3,800
s Total 982 8,190 - a7 9,219

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR



BONJOUR

4 A
=)

BE

MmN

MBHRWEE (&
TECRFEANA=THIEFNEAR

14, EERMKRETZUREENE

174

(&

141EEREEITHRAEEM

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

14.1 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(%) (continued)
EZHS ¢ BIETEA BIRHEIf st
Retirement
Directors’ Discretionary plans
fees Salaries bonus  contributions Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
HEZ-=F For the year ended 31 December 2023
+ZB=1t—HILEE
BrES Executive Directors
T Mr. Chen Jianwen - 1,200 - 32 1,282
FEREE Mr. Wan Yim Keung, Daniel - 1,200 - 15 1,215
HEREL Dr. Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna - 1,200 - 23 1,223
- 3,600 - 70 3,670
BiEnmEs Independent Non-Executive Directors
TEELE Mr. Lee Kwun Kwan 198 - - - 198
NELE Mr. Yan Sherman Chuek-ning 198 - - - 198
BERLE Mr. Kwok Chi Shing 208 - - - 208
604 - - - 604
TR Chief Executive Officer
BRBRE Mr. Wong lu Ming - 2,600 - - 2,600
st Total 604 6,200 - 70 6,874

HRAFERBEFER
BERMSBRIL AT R
BEREFOALIREN
BrERHERBEEZEREG
WEMESMEFHDH-

REFERBEFE  &&E
EREnEMNES AR
EAEAME  FRMAR
EEIMAEEBR R E
B BERmE-

REFERBEFE  BE
EXENEUARNBHRELEM
Bl = B9 %2 F o

No apportionment was made for the above Directors’
emoluments which were directly attributable to the
services rendered by the Directors to the Company and
its subsidiaries since it is impracticable to apportion such
amount for both current period and prior year.

No emolument was paid or payable by the Group to any
of the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as a compensation for loss of office for both
current period and prior year.

There was no arrangement under which the Directors
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both
current period and prior year.
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REMBmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_EFE_AFNA=Z1+HIEA+/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

14, EEEFNNREZLUKREEMSE 14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
(& EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

14.2F BEMHRRET 2 14.2 Defined contribution plans

7 & B A7) E R M RUR K
BIfFHE R HUREFE
BFKPTEBNFEGER
BREZHA-

&+ &

R EERERER
EEADMR TR
ECEREEZSMANMA
BT % 8 K (R FF 28 PT 2 HF
BY TE B8 AR IR 5t 8 o AR
DIREEBEHPARENE
BERBRALEREL LR E
BRMBRRBEHE-

E#

ANEBEREZRE ST E K
HAMEEBEEENRESRS
EEaEestE omE S5t
AR ELBIULSTTEAEG
ENEEM-RTERTE
HETEREIREEHY BIR
EEMBEWARNS%m st E
EH ARG SR S B8
B U A B EFR 230,000
7t P E B 1% 11 A8 BE AR 75 B
8o

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
plans which are available for all eligible employees located
in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC.

The PRC

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Group is required to join the defined contribution
retirement plans for all eligible employees located in
the PRC arranged by the local government labour and
security authorities. Contributions are made at the
applicable rates based on the amounts stipulated by the
authorities which are expensed as the related services are
provided by the employees.

Hong Kong

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the MPF
Ordinance for all eligible employees located in Hong
Kong. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by various independent
trustees. It requires that mandatory contributions are
made by both employers and employees separately to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000, which
are expensed as the related services are provided by the
employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

14.2

14.3

14.4

Defined contribution plans (continued)
Macau

During the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025, all
eligible employees located in Macau were members of
the Social Security System operated by the Macau SAR
government. It requires that mandatory contributions are
made by both employers and employees to the Social
Security Fund, at the relative amounts of fixed contributions
varies among the types of employment contracts signed
with the employees, which were expensed as the related
services were provided by the employees.

The Group had no forfeited contributions to all aforesaid
defined contribution retirement plans available to reduce
its present and future contributions to the plan for both
current period and prior year.

LSP
Details of LSP liabilities and the Offsetting Arrangement

(as defined in note 35) are disclosed in note 35.

Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments

HE_EZ_HAEB=+ The five highest paid individuals during the eighteen
HE+NEBE A% &S months ended 30 June 2025 included two (year ended
FATEERME (BHEZZ 31 December 2023: three) directors whose emoluments
=5+ ZRBR=+—81 are disclosed in note 14.1. The aggregate emoluments in
FE . Z#H)EF HEHM= respect of the remaining three (year ended 31 December
R F14 1B -HEF =4 2023: two) individuals are as follows:
(BE_ZT_=Z#+_A8
=+—BLEFE W% A
THM S8BT T
BE_T_HEFE #BFE"Z”"_=
~NB=+H +ZB=+—H
E+NEAR EFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
e Salaries 6,583 3,306
IS TE4AL Discretionary bonus - 200
BIRET B Retirement plans contributions 54 20
6,637 3,526
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

14.4 Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments (continued)

(#)
=H(BEZZEZ=F+Z The emoluments of the three (year ended 31 December
B=+—HILEEE ®m%H) 2023: two) individuals with the highest emoluments are
Eam ALTHMEN TN within the following bands:
TEHE :
A
Number of individuals
BE_ET_HF HBEZ_=F%
~B=+H +ZHA=+—H
E+NEA EFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
07%87c—1,000,0007c  HK$NIl — HK$1,000,000 - 1
1,000,001 7t — HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000
1,500,0007% 7t 1 -
1,500,001 7t — HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000
2,000,000/ 7T 1 -
2,000,001&7c— HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000
2,500,000/ 7T - -
2,500,001&7c— HK$2,500,001 - HK$3,000,000
3,000,000 7T - 1
3,000,001 &7t — HK$3,000,001 - HK$3,500,000
3,500,000 7T - -
3,500,001 &7t — HK$3,500,001 - HK$4,000,000
4,000,000 7T 1 -
3 2
“ECNE S TE_RFEFR 177
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REMBHmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

14, EEEFNREZUKREEMSE 14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND

(4 EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

1455 R EERE 14.5 Senior management
%Z:t:g:ﬂﬁ A=+
HE+NEE 51 &ﬁ bl

=%

The senior management during the eighteen months
ended 30 June 2025 included two (year ended 31
December 20283: three) individuals whose aggregate
emoluments are as follows:

AEma (BEZT
+ZRB=+—HLEFE:
L)AL HMNEMABEOT

178

BE_T-_1f #®HE_ZT_=F

~NB=+H +ZA=+—H

E+NEA IEFE

Eighteen Year ended

months ended 31 December

30 June 2025 2023

FAET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

e Salaries 5,323 3,486
B IBTE4AL Discretionary bonus - 200
BIRETEIH R Retirement plans contributions 27 25
5,350 3,711

SREEEBHNMNE N F U

The emoluments of the senior management are within the

TEHE : following bands:
A#
Number of individuals
BE_THHE #HEZZZ=

~NB=+H +_}% =+—H

E+NEA IEEFEE

Eighteen Year ended

months ended 31 December

30 June 2025 2023

077t —1,000,0007%8 7T HK$Nil - HK$1,000,000 - 2
1,000,001 75— HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000

1,500,00078 75 1 -
1,500,0017%8 75— HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000

2,000,000 7T 1 -
2,000,001 75— HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000

2,500,000%# 7T - -
2,500,001 77T — HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000

3,000,000/ 75 - 1
3,000,001 75— HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000

3,500,0007 75 - -
3,500,001 75— HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000

4,000,000%# 7T 1 -

3 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

15.

16.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of interim and
final dividends attributable to owners of the Company for both
current period and prior year.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

e (BR) BRNZHERER attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
UF 88 following data:
BE_ZT_RE #BEZT_=
~B=+H +ZHA=+—H
LE+NEA EEFEE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(B518) &# . (Loss)/earnings:
FNTVER AEEARER S (Loss)/profit for the period/year
FE (B8 &BA attributable to owners of the
Company (278,357) 53,971
) g g 3 A
AB=+H +ZZRA=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
(#&&E5)
(Restated)
MR : Number of shares:
TR RN Weighted average number of
ordinary shares 323,255,505 197,044,680
BRsTE8EE_Z _HAFXA The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
= +FBLE+NEERBEE_ZZ calculate the basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to
=+ A=Z+—HLFE owners of the Company for the eighteen months ended 30
ERNBEBEANEBESERER (B June 2025 and the year ended 31 December 2023 have
B) / BAHNEZERMNETY been adjusted to reflect the Share Consolidation (as defined
FOoEBFHARERURE DK Z in note 36) and rights issue (note 45) that became effective
ENE+RA=ZHE_ZE_RHF on 3 October 2024 and 16 September 2025, respectively.
B+ R"EBEHHNEMSEH (B Accordingly, the weighted average number of ordinary shares
R EMEES6) MM (F5E45) o for the year ended 31 December 2023 is restated.

At - &=2_2 _=F+_A
=+—BLEENZERMET
HHEEEY -

BHEEBRZESENABPEK
Lfiﬂfrﬁ'ﬁm/\ﬁ%/ﬁxﬁﬁg .
o E@ERMETHABE T BE
STEARERBEEESRER
Ri#E (BR) Blzng-

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

The effect of potential ordinary shares was anti-dilutive for both
current period and prior year. Hence, the weighted average
number of ordinary shares was used as a denominator for
calculating the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share for
both current period and prior year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

17. ME -BERKRE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Bl EE
TEMELEE e RE st
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment  Motor vehicles Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
M Cost:
R_E_=F—-F—H At 1 January 2023 11,041 6,912 6,555 24,508
RE Additions - 17 - 17
—ENRBARRLEENE Deconsolidation of a subsidiary
(Ffiz£40) (note 40) (1,462) - (6,287) (7,749)
R_E_=E+_RB=1+—-HEK At 31 December 2023 and
“E-mE-F-AH 1 January 2024 9,579 6,929 268 16,776
HE Additions - 1,494 - 1,494
HE Disposals - (1,494) - (1,494)
RZE_EEAR=+H At 30 June 2025 9,579 6,929 268 16,776
ZHTERAEE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:
R_E-=F—F—H At 1 January 2023 10,645 6,133 6,290 23,068
KEENE Charge for the year 2 191 54 247
—BNBAIREEEAR Deconsolidation of a subsidiary
GEZ) (note 40) (1,072) - (6,287) (7,359)
R_E_ZE+_B=+-0k At 31 December 2023 and
“Z2-mE-F-AH 1 January 2024 9,575 6,324 57 15,956
RERITE Charge for the period 2 682 80 764
RHERME Written back on disposal - (404) - (404)
R-ZE-REEARR=+H At 30 June 2025 9,577 6,602 137 16,316
REME: Carrying amount:
RZEZEEAR=+H At 30 June 2025 2 327 131 460
R_E_=&+_"A=+-H At 31 December 2023 4 605 211 820
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REMBmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
%@ ECE_ARFNA=Z1+HIEAH/\EA  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

18. EHEEE 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
FTREEENRKRAFES MU The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets is as
e follows:
BHEEWE
Leased
properties
FET
HK$’000
A _E_=ZF—HF—H At 1 January 2023 53,323
NE Additions 8,283
— BB AT IE4ES AR (Fi5E40) Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (note 40) (486)
e Depreciation (23,396)
BERBEEE Provision of impairment loss (162)
ﬁ\ TEC=F+-A=+—HK At 31 December 2023 and
—ENE—A—H 1 January 2024 37,562
wE Additions 3,304
HEWB AR (M5E39) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) (59)
e Depreciation (27,161)
RIEREEE Provision of impairment loss (455)
RZZEZHESRA=+H At 30 June 2025 13,191
HEBEaANBERNEEEBRNE The analysis of the expense items in relation to leases

TEESWAOT recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

BE_T_1F ®BE_Z_=%
~NA=+H +-B=+—H

LE+NEA IEFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTREEEINE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 27,161 23,396
HEaBEZF B (MzE11) Interest expense on lease liabilities
(note 11) 6,103 6,796
FRHEAFE &R (M95E13) Short-term leases expense
(note 13) 111 1,938
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

18.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Details of total cash outflows for leases, maturity analysis of
lease liabilities and future cash outflows arising from leases that
are not yet commenced are set out in notes 41.2, 33 and 42
respectively.

The Group has obtained right-to-use of the following underlying
assets through tenancy agreements, including (i) industrial
building where headquarters and warehouse are located; and
(ii) retail stores located in Hong Kong and Macau. The industrial
building carries a lease term of 4 years (31 December 2023:
4 years) with an upward adjustment of lease payments ever
year to reflect market rentals. As at 31 December 2023, the
retail stores carried lease terms of 1 to 2 years, which certain
tenancy agreements have options to extend or terminate the
lease terms exercisable by the Group. The lease terms were
separately negotiated with different terms and conditions.
Management assesses on the lease commencement date
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options by
including into the measurement of lease liabilities or otherwise
and considers whether the tenancy agreements are legally
enforceable to determine the length of lease terms.

The total additions to right-of-use assets of HK$3,304,000 (31
December 2023: HK$8,283,000) represented the capitalised
lease payments payable under the new tenancy agreements for
leasing a retail store (31 December 2023: leasing retail stores)
during the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025.

All tenancy agreements do not have any restricted covenants
other than the security interests of the underlying assets
held by the lessor which should not be used as a security for
borrowing purpose.

Annual Report 2024/2025



FEMBmRME (8)
BE_E_RAFNA=Z+HIEFHNEAS

18.

ﬁﬁﬁ*gﬁé (/AE

R-ZE_RAFEAA=Z1+HHNRE
B

W_E_HEEXNB=+H>=*%
PEGEHAEEENMBEKERDE
13,646,000 j5 78 #& 17 B (B 57
HeoFHEEEENT KO £EES
HEABEAQAFEALLE EH
ARMEPHRSE - TRHESEE
ZARFEREERADLRAS
i7/ﬁ/£ ufﬁﬁ‘l'u %: }EFHEE‘EZ
AEBEEEBEE - RHIE  REBEEZ
E_HFFEANB=1THLE+N\E
HW’W%ﬂW@ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ
BrzZEZE CEIBoKLEEES
13,191,000 7t 18 B EEH
ERHEA455,0008 T - BEB
FRAFEHNBEERE T HE

BB RZINAe

Bt WESBERERNEIER
ABBEETELEANESEE -7
AREEBEDLDREBIFXMGE
METHHEREE -

W-_E_=%#+"-H=+—HHW
A EF

N2 =ZF+"B=+—H">
PEREETMHELRZEZR B
K EERFH E & D30 2 B
B EMIRMEIES, 942,000 T E
ETRABESG - FHEEEENT
WolsEAsHEREERATE
BEHERAMEFRNRS E o F
AREENERBENDRAIE
BE&ERBLEBET WEFZED I
BEXZRKBEERE AL
AUl %E A3, 30 000 7T °
0 AR 3% BT U [o] s 2B 2 -%@@z
B =R FEW% A8 BE R B

EBEEE162, OOOF%TE R
ARS8 FERE— 5 RE
BERRZINAe

Eﬁfﬁfﬁ.%dui/f}m'?
ABBLHBITFE I
] %W&%ﬂ’“ﬁ

=y
[y

Sl e

Jau)

MRk

A

7

mmﬁ
o

I

I

ﬁ

b

i

T 4K

ki

@DT

mr B¢ g
e o 3 Dk . H

.
1 OF
Sy

t

[

2N
a
=|

o T3
™ S

o o
e

S>3

7t 3 b g 7

S S\
I

o B2
T B e 52

I
B
b

iy

ﬁﬁﬂﬁmﬁgm
&

F IR g R

S S 3 R o DSE

T )\ g D¢ = 2

B0 &

ni%

i o
I % i

St
St
=

tis S8
Bl 5

I

[
o
o

Nt
=l

MW I D 3% R & g O i 52
&
=
RS
S
i
i

B RRPIM @ B9 R R ) B
18.91%5%18.13% °

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

n

BONJOUR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment assessment as at 30 June 2025

As at 30 June 2025, the gross carrying amount of unallocated
right-of-use assets of HK$13,646,000 was subject to
impairment assessment. The recoverable amount of the right-
of-use assets is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal. Fair value less costs of disposal of the
right-of-use assets is determined by using the market method
to estimate the future rental generated from such assets. As
a result, the recoverable amount was HK$13,191,000 and
the related provision of impairment loss of HK$455,000 was
recognised during the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025
based on the deficit of the recoverable amount against the
gross carrying amount. Any adverse change in the assumptions
would result in further impairment loss or vice versa.

The key inputs applied for estimating recoverable amounts
are mainly forecasted rental values. The forecasted rental
values are based on a valuation carried out by an independent
professional valuer.

Impairment assessment as at 31 December 2023

As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount of right-
of-use assets of HK$3,942,000 allocated to the “wholesaling
and retailing of beauty, healthcare and lifestyle products”
segment was subject to impairment assessment. The
recoverable amount of the right-of-use assets is the greater of
its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value
in use of the right-of-use assets is determined by using the
discounted cash flows method to estimate the future cash
flows to be generated from such segment. As a result, the
recoverable amounts were HK$3,330,000 and the related
provision of impairment loss of HK$162,000 was recognised
during the year based on the deficit of the recoverable amount
against the gross carrying amount. Any adverse change in the
assumptions would result in further impairment loss or vice
versa.

The key inputs applied to the discounted cash flows method
are mainly discount rates, growth rates, forecasted sales
and gross profit margins. The discount rates are the pre-
tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to such segment. The
growth rates are long-term average economic growth rates
where the business operates. The forecasted sales and gross
profit margins are based on historical data adjusted by future
expectation of the business. The underlying cash flow forecasts
are derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management.

The discount rates were determined as 18.91% and 18.13%
for Hong Kong and Macau regions respectively.
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19. EWEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

5k s Mt
Goodwill Software Total
FAET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(B 5Ei) (Bt i)
(note i) (note i)
(7% Cost:
6:2:_5&_7_@E At 1 January 2023 and 2024,
—B—H-ZZ”-=%4+= 31 December 2023 and
B=+—HAUKZZEZAHE 30 June 2025
~B=+H 2,041 1,375 3,416
R RRE - Accumulated amortisation
and impairment:
NIE-=FER-EME At 1 January 2023 and 2024,
—B—RA-ZZE_=ZF+ 31 December 2023 and
“BE+—HURZZEZ 30 June 2025
HERA=+H 2,041 1,375 3,416
IREME : Carrying amount:

RZZE-R%E,B=+H

At 30 June 2025 -

A — i — —

RZZZ=F+ZH=+—H At 31 December 2023 - - -

B &E - Notes:

(i) BEEREBSHWEIL DR (i)  The goodwill was acquired in a business combination and
EHAATHBREEER & allocated to the CGU identified as “wholesaling and retailing of
BEREEREE R DSHNIR beauty, healthcare and lifestyle products” segment.
SEEB-

(i) FIEHMEFEERNBEFE (i) All other intangible assets were purchased from external parties
BERINBEF - in the prior years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

BE_TIF #HEZZTZ=
~NA=+H +-HA=+—H
tE+NEA EFE

Eighteen Year ended

months ended 31 December

30 June 2025 2023

FAET FAET

HK$’000 HK$ 000

JE L mRARE S Unlisted equity securities 676 409

N2 _=ZF+"A=+—HK
—TE_HRENB=1+HELET
ABSZIREENTY &S B
& :

The carrying amounts of the unlisted equity securities as at 31
December 2023 and 30 June 2025 were denominated in the
following currency:

RIEZRE A=
~NB=+H +—-HA=+—H
E+N\EA IEFEE
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$°000
ET usb 676 409

AEEREHFLETREAZSD
REEERSUALXTESAHME
H W (FEIEIR) - B2 H Wt 8
BRIREENMFA BB LB
EEEARRKRIIKRE  TFERKE
B (HERRI) -

FLETRAFSHNBRREE DD
REBESEFEL N EE7.35%

21. BRAFEFAABHEZEREE

The Group designated its investment in unlisted equity
securities as FVTOCI (non-recycling) given that they are held
for strategic investment purpose. No dividend was received
nor transferred within the equity other than disposals for both
current period and prior year.

Details of the fair value measurement with sensitivity analysis of
the unlisted equity securities are described in note 7.3.

21. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

RIEZHE = S
~NA=+H +-B=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RNEEZEE Investment in the Fund
(E& R MI5E23) (as defined in note 23) 214,639 -

REZNEEZHRESTZA
FTESAEBFBEDRMET. 3R
B o

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

Details of the fair value measurement with sensitivity analysis of
the investment in the Fund are described in note 7.3.
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BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

22, REHEQLATRZKRE 22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

RIEZHEF i
~B=+H +-_A=+—H

As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
KEMA Cost of investments 551 551
BERE Impairment loss (551) -
FELETRAKE Unlisted equity investments - 551
FERDEBE AT 2 Unrecognised share of loss of
#5148 associates (6,128) (226)
R REIBDIEHE AT 2 Accumulated unrecognised share
E518 of losses of associates (6,354) (226)
R_E_=ZfF+_"_A=+—HK Details of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 December
_E_RERA=TH KEH 2023 and 30 June 2025 are as follows:
NEEBEQIFBEOT .
ML R
-YNGIE2Y EBMEE BRETRBEREHE BERERENL FETED
Place of Particulars of Percentage
incorporation and  issued and paid up of ownership
Name of associate business share capital interest  Principal activity
SRBEREBRBRAF (T2IRIRK) FE 150 B R1IETNEET 2 RERBRESHD
BER&I50REKRI0E T (ZEZ=%:30%) RERERTE
MEZETEER
Bonjour Global Beauty Limited™ (‘BGB”) Hong Kong 150 issued ordinary shares of Nil (2023: 30%)  Operating beauty and
HK$1 each and 350 issued slimming centre
ordinary shares of HK$30 and retailing of
each beauty products
SRBERRAD (SRERE) ) 150 B R1IETNEET T KEEAREGHD
BBRRI50RERI0E T (ZEZ=F:30%) RERERTE
MEZTZER
Bonjour Health Limited*™* (“BH") Hong Kong 150 issued ordinary shares of Nil (2023: 30%)  Operating beauty and
HK$1 each and 350 issued slimming centre
ordinary shares of HK$40 and retailing of
each beauty products
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

22. RBERTZKE (B 22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
SRR
HEARLE LR BETRBERFHE BEREZEAL FEEDH
Place of Particulars of Percentage
incorporation and  issued and paid up of ownership
Name of associate business share capital interest  Principal activity
SHERERERAR &% NBERIBTNBHT 0% HEHE
ERERRT0RER100E T (CEZ=%:30%)
NERTEER
Bonjour Technology Development Hong Kong 30 issued ordinary shares of 30% (2023: 30%)  Technology
Limited* HK$1 each and 70 issued development
ordinary shares of HK$100
each
BEHUBRAE" &E SO ETNBETT 30% EBEFEH
ZEK R70R K200 T (Z2Z=%F:30%)
MEZTEER
HK Mall Limited* Hong Kong 30 issued ordinary shares of 30% (2023: 30%)  E-commerce business
HK$1 each and 70 issued
ordinary shares of HK$200
each
amEARAR" aE 1,0008 81 ETEE]T 0% BFEE
EER (CEZ=%:30%)
Market May Limited* Hong Kong 1,000 issued ordinary shares of 30% (2023: 30%)  E-commerce business
HK$1 each

*

Tgﬁmzao
# RBEE_ZET_HEF,~A=+H
E+NEBEARLHE

RE_=F+_"_HA=+—8BxK
—_E_HAEFERBE=Z1+TH O EE
E-=F+"B=+— E&Ef
EBE_Z_AHAFNB=+HL
TNANEBZRBMERABDREZE
HEBELRDHBE AR EBEFHRDA
BRHGEHFREMS L AE
Ko

N _EZ=F+ZA=+—HK
ZTEHEFAB=Zt+H UEE
FHEZEHERBDAMAEME
REBEREMEE-

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

Companies not audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited.

# Disposed during the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

As at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, the carrying
amount of the investments in associates and share of results of
associates for the year ended 31 December 2023 and eighteen
months ended 30 June 2025 were considered individually
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

No contingent liabilities and other commitments relating to
these associates were incurred as at 31 December 2023 and
30 June 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

“E_RENA=Z+HIE+ABE  Forthe eighteen months ended 30 June 2025
REELEZERE 23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
BE_THHE #HEZZZ=
~NB=+B +=ZB=+—H
E+NEA FFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
JELMmRAKE . Unlisted equity investment:
N_EHFER-ZET= At 1 January 2024 and 2023
—B—H 368,400 343,625
DME—EEErEES Share of result of a joint venture (59,094) 24,775
B8 GEu ) Reclassification (as detailed
below) (309,306) -
- 368,400

WZEZ=F+=Z8=+—8">
AEBEELEZHEBUT

Details of the Group’s joint venture as at 31 December 2023
are as follows:

ALK FrEtEED
RELESRE BERBLR EBMEE RERE B TEEREH
Place of Percentage of
Form of business incorporation ownership  Principal
Name of joint venture structure and business Total commitment interest  activity
CR Business Innovation EREERED HEHS 550,000,000 75 5% MELE
Investment Fund L.P. (&%)
CR Business Innovation Exempted limited partnership ~ The Cayman HK$550,000,000 75%  Property
Investment Fund L.P. Islands investment

(the “Fund”)

RZIEZZE=ZBZ+/\H> =&
REEBEEBERAA (TBIM] >
XRABEIMNE2EMNBAE) CR
Capital Investment (Cayman)
Limited (TCRCIJ) (&
BIM# A TAEREB A1) &
CR Business Innovation
Investment GP Company
Limited (MTEEB&B AN TULA
Re®h= (TEREBWHE)
EREHZE B 25405
BEEREBAEBEEHN
550,000,000 T W& =
FH+_A=+—H XxEEEM@
H&EH61,088,0008 THH
R 5T AL HY B AN K o

On 28 March 2022, Bonjour Investment Management Limited
(“BIM”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, CR Capital
Investment (Cayman) Limited (“CRCI”) (together with BIM, the
“Limited Partner(s)”) and CR Business Innovation Investment
GP Company Limited (the “General Partner”), entered into
a limited partnership agreement (the “Limited Partnership
Agreement”) and a subscription agreement, pursuant to
which all parties agreed that the Limited Partners shall
contribute HK$550,000,000 to the Fund. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had an outstanding capital commitment of
HK$61,088,000 to the Fund.
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REEREZRE (B

RBEE_E_HAF\A=+HL
+TNEBR ZTEESBAELHIER
BRI BKMEBREEAZTE
RSEALH B AR K - BIMKCRCISD
AHEZT BT K20.488 BT

HEREBE_SZ_RA4,<A=+H1Lt
TNEEREAEEHESKERE
ENEERENES ~AEBTE
THEHESNBSES#EEIL
REBRESNREFRBRHEEE
TtENSHTE BERREQTE
RTHREELENKRE EFMNES
M AFEFABRZHNESMEE]
EENRENOBEEIEERE
DE2E4559,094,0008 750 U RE
S REUNAEPERRWES
BT EE B 5 E51846,921,0008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

23.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

During the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025, the General
Partner had issued a drawdown notice demanding the payment
of outstanding capital commitment from all Limited Partners.
BIM and CRCI contributed HK$nil and HK$20.4 million,
respectively.

Due to a change in the Group’s level of influence over the
Fund’s investment committee during the eighteen months
ended 30 June 2025, the Group no longer exercise joint control
over the Fund. Accordingly, the Group’s investment in the Fund
no longer met the accounting definition of a joint venture and
leading to a reclassification from “Investment in a joint venture”
to “Financial asset at FVTPL” at its fair value. This resulted in
the recognition of HK$59,094,000 share of result from the joint
venture before the reclassification, alongside a HK$46,921,000
accounting loss on the deemed disposal of the joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

23. REELEZERE (B) 23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)
EENHMBEENBEE (MMt Summarised financial information of the Fund, adjusted for
RZ2AMNEEFHARRE) k& any difference in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to
GEVMBRKRPEDEZHEKE the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements is
Eor disclosed below:

i ———
+ZB=+—H
As at
31 December
2023
FAET
HK$’000
MNEE Current assets 7,341
ERBEE Non-current assets 985,359
mEhaE Current liabilities (42,458)
JFREAad Non-current liabilities (527,066)
BEEFE Net assets 423,176
FAMNLEEREGE: Included in the above assets and liabilities:
IR1T R IREMEER Bank and cash balances 7,341
ErBEHmER (FEEESR Non-current financial liabilities
HAME SRR R 8 6) (excluding trade and other payables
and provisions) 527,066
BH-E_OgE— #HE_ZT”=
B—BE®EEH +-B=1+—H
S HEARVEARS EFE
For the period
from 1 January Year ended
2024 to date of 31 December
reclassification 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
& Revenue 22,080 27,412
(B#8) EHEEE (Loss)/Profit and total
() WA #EEE comprehensive (expense)/
income (78,793) 33,033
AL (B548) A - Included in the above (loss)/profit:
FEWA Interest income 636 40
MERMZ Interest expense (15,309) (21,334)
Frigfige, i) Income tax credit/(expense) 8,813 (10,861)
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REMBmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_EFE_AFNA=Z1+HIEA+/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

23. REELEZERE (B) 23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)
i ———
+ZB=+—H
As at
31 December 2023
FET
HK$'000
AE X EEFERE Total net assets of the joint venture 423,176
KREEMFERRED LG Proportion of ownership interest
held by the Group 75%
[Ek Goodwill 51,018
GEUMBREPR—B&E Total carrying amount of the investment
rEZREZIRMEHZLRE in a joint venture in the consolidated
financial statements 368,400
24. 78 24. INVENTORIES

WZEZHEF RIB =4
~B=+H +Z-RA=+—H

As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
WS R Merchandise stock 2,460 9,657
FABRE_E_ZEANB=+ The analysis of the inventories recognised as expenses
HIE+N\NEBEERBEEZZZ= included in profit or loss during the eighteen months ended 30
F+ZA=+—HULEFEE=W June 2025 and the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
MRABIZNES DM &N K in note 13.
13¢°
25. BIWE S ERM 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES
RZEZHE i ——
~NA=+H +ZA=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEUN & 5 BR TR AR 2E Trade receivables, gross amount 25,434 2,003
B TEHAE BB 2 5B Less: Loss allowance for ECLs (16,283) (843)
FEUN & 57 ER TP 28 Trade receivables, net amount 9,151 1,160

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR 191



MmN

BONJOUR
mREMBERRWE (&

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

25. BWEZKR™M (&)

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

B 5% Notes:

(a) XEB—RKUEMWMERHEE X (@) The Group generally receives full payments as advanced
FoitEE RN EEETER deposits from the wholesales customers for the sales of
oM EFRHRETRIRMEN technology products business and provides credit terms ranged
EEHRABEEHBESS from 30 to 120 days (2023: 30 to 120 days) from the invoice
30FE120H (ZEB_=4: 30 date for the rest of wholesales customers, whereas provides 30
F120H) ; S EHEEXEBEM days (2023: 30 days) from the invoice date for the eCommerce
S MEBFEFRFRERHEEEER customers for the retail sales business and due immediately
HAEST30H (Z2 =% : 30 for the retail sales customers who purchase the merchandise
H ZEEfRR MEZTEME in retail stores. The Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising
EERNMNSEHERTRE AN from the trade receivables are disclosed in note 6.2.

AR - AEENEERERE R
EREZEREEEERRT
R M EE6. 24 58 o
RZE2EZ=%+ZHB=+—H As at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, the ageing analysis
R_E_REANB=Z+H R of trade receivables by invoice date, before loss allowance for
FFABHEEREZHERE ECLs, is as follows:
B> FEUNE ZERABERE D
(REZHHE) M :
MRZZEZRE -
~A=+H +ZA=+—H
As at As at
30 June 2025 31 December 2023
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
MBEER Wholesales customers:
0-308 0-30 days 1,813 -
1208 E More than 120 days 23,331 -
25,144 -
TEHERR ! Retail sales customers:
0-30H 0-30 days 279 543
31-60H 31-60 days - 209
61-90H 61-90 days - 347
91-120H 91-120 days - 51
120H M £ More than 120 days 11 853
290 2,003
wast Total 25,434 2,003
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

B sE - () Notes: (continued)

(a) RZEZ=Z=F+ZH=+—H (@)  All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered within
M_E_REANB=Z+H M one year, which their fair values were not materially different from
EREWESZERFBEHN—FNRN their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2023 and 30 June
YE > ERFEREREETE 2025.

BEAERO
(o) MHEB/ ERN EREZERIE (b)  The movements in the loss allowance in respect of trade
BREEZ2EZHWT . receivables during the period/year are as follows:
BE-_E_"RF HE =%
~NA=+H +=A _—f— H
E+NEA IEEE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
A ZETOF R At 1 January 2024 and 2023
“E”_=%—HF—H 843 6,125
B ERER 2 BERE Impairment losses recognised
for the period/year 16,174 709
b6 Written-off (734) -
—EEABK RS Deconsolidation of a subsidiary
AR - (5,991)
16,283 843

(c) WMZE_=Z=%F+"_B=+—H () The gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables as at 31
RZ_Z_HFXXB=1tH E December 2023 and 30 June 2025 were denominated in the
WEZRTWAETmEN T following currencies:

S E
RZEZRE i
NA=+H +ZB=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BT HK$ 25,300 1,945
el bav MOP - 58
HihE* Other currencies 134 -
25,434 2,003

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

26. FEMNHKIE ;I REMEUEIRE  26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
WZE_AEF S ——
~NB=+H +=ZB=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
8555 Trade deposits - 23,522
HzT& Other deposits 612 704
HMFET = R EUWERE R Other prepaid expenses and
receivables 1,750 4,725
FEWE R (MY5E3) Loan receivable (note (i) 3,898 5,695
FEUS B & A B aRIE (MEX(i))  Amounts due from associates
(note (i) - 24,971
FEUS BE Bt 2 BI R I8 (MI5E(i)  Amounts due from related
companies (note (ii)) - 1,006
6,260 60,623
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(i)

SEARE S Il

odl

5 3

o

(ii

In February 2022, the Group disposed a property to an external
party, at a consideration of HK$6,000,000, in exchange for
a right to receive an equivalent amount from the party. This
arrangement is identified as a non-cash transaction. The loan
receivable is interest-bearing at 4.675% per annum, secured by
the property and repayable within 10 years.

Management considers the credit risk to be partially (2023:
substantially) mitigated by the property as collateral, with the
estimated fair value of HK$3,965,000 (as at 31 December
2023: HK$5,687,000) which the valuation was carried out by
an independent professional valuer that gives rise to a deficit of
HK$1,779,000 (31 December 2023: headroom of HK$371,000)
under (2023: over) their carrying amounts as at 30 June 2025.
Therefore, the loss allowance under stage 3 after discounting
of HK$1,779,000 was recognised during the eighteen months
ended 30 June 2025 (for the year ended 31 December 2023:
HK$363,000).

During the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025, the Group
had taken measures to recover the loan receivable by acting
as the lawful attorney of the landlord pursuant to a power
of attorney to let the property out. The rental payments thus
received were used to offset the outstanding loan receivable.

As at 31 December 2023, the amounts due from associates and
related companies were unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand. The loss allowances were limited to 12-month ECLs
assessments and were immaterial to be recognised for prior
year since Mr. Chen Jianwen had indemnified for any losses
that may result from the non-recovery of their balances subject
and limited to the carrying amount of the amount due from the
Group to Mr. Chen Jianwen. As at 30 June 2025, loss allowance
of HK$30,933,000 was made according to management’s ECLs
assessments based on the respective parties’ financial position
as at period end.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

27. EAERKRERRIE 27. AMOUNT DUE TO THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

A B =ZF+_B=+—HK
—TE_HEEAB=Z1+TH EME
BREEREAFEESHEE - EIR
B -BEFMENF2.75%F24%
—E_=ZfF#+”"HB=+—H8":
2.75%F18%) st E BN — &
NEE o

FE AT P2 AR IR BR R 1B B9 AR FE ) =R £
MBI BWNEEEBRIA
EREBENRETE GER PR
3£38.2(iii)) °

“—E_HFEENRESE

RZE2E-_mME&E+—B+ZH =&
EEEAMR LT ILRE G Z
(TZ2_AFRBEBWHZEL) R
B_E_RER E%Tn’%%:lﬁ@sz
HEEERHGREIEMAE
BEeERHERERERETEH
210,000,000 R ERR D > VE
BASRKRIVBERMDO. 158%7‘5’
DI ENBRRE L ENKREE
TAEZELASHEREASANNEDN
33,180,000 7T ©

Rl ERETDERNE
fg B8 B 33,180,000% 7T & 7
HEBEB -RIERETIBERND
BER-_Z_HEF—BA+tHREMK-
—EZHFERESE

A _E_=ZFNAB=F+—H &

%.Eﬂ[@ﬁx%ﬂiﬂi B
(MZE2_=—F=RBWHZE)) R
B_E_FREREBEX
EEEEBRHRERBEMAEE

EEERUGRERERZETS
F1,241,750,000R VE 17 >
HEEASKRIBERMNDO.062E
7T > LUK 8 FE 19 Bk 2 S o A Y AR
RERREELASBERESH
£476,988,000F T (BHE_Z
T =ZENB=Z+—HE&s5t) -

EA*ﬁi@&?ﬁ&é’*ﬁ;wﬁ%ﬁxﬁfﬁ7
KREERRBERASDTRHEE
MEAAEHERAIE (R5TE
SEAL H HA) A HOBR R SOt A
RoBRBERZTRERMERZ
T =—F+—AXHERR-

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

As at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, the amount
due to the controlling shareholder is non-trade in nature,
unsecured, interest-bearing ranged from 2.75% to 24% (31
December 2023: 2.75% to 18%) per annum and repayable
within 1 year.

Any difference between the stated and market interest
rates of the amount due to the controlling shareholder has
been recognised as a deemed capital contribution from the
controlling shareholder as detailed in note 38.2(iii).

Loan capitalisation in 2025

On 12 November 2024, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with Mr. Chen Jianwen (the “2025 Subscription
Agreement”). According to the 2025 Subscription Agreement,
Mr. Chen Jianwen has conditionally agreed to subscribe and
the Group has conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total
of 210,000,000 subscription shares, at a subscription price of
HK$0.158 per subscription share, by the way of offsetting the
outstanding principal and accrued interest of the shareholder’s
loan of approximately HK$33,180,000 payable to Mr. Chen
Jianwen.

Upon the completion of the allotment and issue of the
subscription shares, the shareholder’s loan of HK$33,180,000
was deemed as repaid. The allotment and issue of the
subscription shares were completed on 10 January 2025.

Loan capitalisation in 2023

On 31 August 2023, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with Mr. Chen Jianwen (the “2023 Subscription
Agreement”). According to the 2023 Subscription Agreement,
Mr. Chen Jianwen had conditionally agreed to subscribe and
the Group had conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total of
1,241,750,000 subscription shares, at a subscription price of
HK$0.062 per subscription share, by the way of offsetting the
outstanding principal and accrued interest of the shareholder’s
loan of approximately HK$76,988,000 (accumulated up to 31
August 2023) payable to Mr. Chen Jianwen.

Upon the completion of the allotment and issue of the
subscription shares, the shareholder’s loan was deemed as
fully repaid and any remaining balance of the principal and
interests (accumulated up to the completion date) shall be
waived by Mr. Chen Jianwen. The allotment and issue of the
subscription shares were completed on 6 November 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

“E_RENA=Z+HIE+ABE  Forthe eighteen months ended 30 June 2025
RITRFAELEER 28. BANK AND CASH BALANCES
RIEZHE =
~NB=+H +ZA=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RITRFERE Cash at bank and on hand 3,911 16,109
f: T __F+ZRA=+—8BkK The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances as at 31
_E_RERA=TH ROk December 2023 and 30 June 2025 were denominated in the
BLEHRNEREMNTY &5t following currencies:
& :
RZEZHE N ZE=
~NB=+H +ZB=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
— BT - HK$ 3,318 9,438
— BT - MOP - 336
— AR - RMB 38 1,587
—E7T - UsD 480 4,505
—Hha — Other currencies 75 243
3,911 16,109
ERRAREmEENIRTIRE Cash at bank deposited in different financial institutions bears
BABSEBRTERMEMEDN at variable interest rates quoted at different daily bank deposit

FHAEXRFE S AEE@EEIR
EREFEER o B BT E M
6.4 — TSR

A _EBE_ARAEAB=41HH U
ANRBBFELRERN T E R
MENIBETRRSEHEES
27,0008 T (ZEZ=%+ZH
=+—H:1,499,000%T) iR
B(PEARLMEIESEBE
BIYRCEE - HERIZGIHINES
EEAEAY BHRAREIIEDT B
HRBNEE AEEETEB
EREETIHIEEBENERITEA
R AINE o

rates, which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The relevant assessment is further disclosed in note 6.4.

As at 30 June 2025, the total amount of bank and cash
balance denominated in RMB and deposited in the financial
institutions located in the PRC was HK$27,000 (31 December
2023: HK$1,499,000). Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is only permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies
through banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business since RMB is not a freely convertible currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

29. TRADE PAYABLES

BWZ®E =%+ Z A (@) As at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, the ageing
—t+—HBHRZZZHEX analysis of trade payables by date of receipt of goods, is
B=+tH ENEZEREZRN as follows:
R 2N (B EHR W
o
R-ZEZHE RIE—=
~B=+H +ZHA=+—H
As at As at
30 June December
2025 2023
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
0-30H 0 - 30 days 1,830 89
31-60H 31 - 60 days 5 -
61-90H 61 — 90 days 5 42
91-120H 91 - 120 days 11 -
1208 L k& More than 120 days 4,098 4,680
5,949 4,811

—RMmE B HEERREMH
NEEHRAZ2BEWEHH
ENFI0HE120H (Z &
Z=fF :30E120H) 'm
BHMEBERAEERTE
RTERZAZNEES
FEHS0%ES0% (ZE - =
F I30%E50%) fEA %
SOUMEERIEZE T
B (RIERBEVEINRKE
HME) EEFER

WZ=® =+ =8
=t+—HEZE_ZHEN
B=+tH FEENESIE
REER—FREE R Z
EKREE HAFERARERT
BEIEEEAER-

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

In general, credit terms offered by local suppliers are
ranged from 30 to 120 days (2023: 30 to 120 days) from
the date of receipt of goods whereas overseas suppliers
request the Group to pay from 30% to 50% (2028:
30% to 50%) of the invoice amounts as deposits before
delivery of products and to settle the remaining balance
before or after the arrival of products depending on the
terms and conditions of purchase contracts.

All of the trade payables are expected to be settled within
one year or repayable on demand, their fair values were
not materially different from their carrying amounts as at
31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

29. TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

(b)  The carrying amounts of the trade payables as at 31
December 2023 and 30 June 2025 were denominated in
the following currencies:

EEEUTIE®SE
WZE_RE =

~NA=+H +=ZB=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
F 87T FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT HK$ 5,949 3,412
AR RMB - 620
Bt (T&RTl) Euro (‘EUR") - 417
Hthg% Other currencies - 362
5,949 4,811

30. HthEMEKRMR BT & RES

30. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUED

&H CHARGES
RIEZHEF N B ZF
~NA=+H +-—B=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000
FEst B T aias Accrued staff costs 4,145 9,766
HMEST 2 H (i5E(a) Other accrued charges (note (a)) 7,510 49,051
T FE % (FFsE(b)) Rent payable (note (b)) 35,042 -
REEBEAGENHIME Surcharge on outstanding
commitment 2,930 -
H M IEE IR Other sundry creditors 1,612 -
51,239 58,817
Mt EE - Note:

() RZEZ=ZF+"A=+—
H HMEAXHNEREES

LA R R RS A BB
HTEEAZS%@i?é)\EE (5%
BEHEINHEE40) ©

(b) ZTHRENFTERBAEERNH
FEEHSREFFE-

198

(a) As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of other
accrued charges included the provision recognised for litigation
and claims which had been deconsolidated from the Group as
detailed in note 40.

(b)  Amount represents the outstanding rent payable with accrued
interests on the Group’s lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

31. gHaR 31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
RIEZHE R ——

~A=+H +ZA=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000

HERMEMR: Sales of technology products:
BUWFE = Advanced deposits received 4,710 8,355

AEE-RUHEHERMEMES
MEFPBREBEBMIRESEAN
RoBANREEI/GHNEE
EEEmXUNFERRL-

GHNERE:

The Group generally receives full payments as advanced
deposits from customers for the sales of technology products
business. Advanced deposits are recognised as contract
liabilities until the merchandise are delivered to the customers.

Movements in contract liabilities:

BE_E_HE #BHE_Z_=
~A=+H +ZA=+—H
LE+N\EA EEE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
N_E_UER_EZ "= At 1 January 2024 and 2023
—B—H 8,355 -
R (&) BZIBLEM (Decrease)/Increase in contract
BELKEM L) /1IN liabilities as a result of receiving
(less)/more advanced deposits (3,645) 8,355
WARB=+8B +=ZA At 30 June/31 December
=+—H 4,710 8,355

N ZE_HAFEARB=ZTHRZE
=+ ZRAR=+—H'FBA
HNEBREIRN—FERNERAE
EBERMUETEE-

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

As at 30 June 2025 and 31 December 2023, all of the contract
liabilities are expected to be recognised as turnover within one

year and denominated in USD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

“E_RENA=Z+HIE+ABE  Forthe eighteen months ended 30 June 2025
RITRHEMER 32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
RZIEZARE nN_ZT_=
~B=+B +ZHA=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
AR Unsecured
IRITER Bank borrowings 3,075 3,792
Hanfgan (s Other borrowings (note) 69,876 43,721
72,951 47,513
B 5 Note:
RZE_RHFEA=+H HMEMN As at 30 June 2025, other borrowings include a loan from a director of
BERBE-—BEENEN4,827,000 HK$4,827,000.
BT e
BT REMETRNERFERD The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank and other
M| borrowings is as follows:
RZ-ZEZHE AZE=
~NA=+H +-B=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 54,941 11,542
—FEM EEFEBBEMmF More than one year, but not
exceeding two years 9,078 17,184
MEMU EEBARBEASE More than two years, but not
more than five years 895 9,996
EEME More than five years 4,962 4,999
BAEARN—FRNEZREESWE Amount of bank borrowings that
KREBIEPIRITENEE s not repayable within one year,
BREafETIIm) but contains a repayment on
demand clause (shown under
current liabilities) 3,075 3,792
72,951 47,513
AR —ERNEEMNIEITR  Less: Amounts of bank and
HiER &5 (R other borrowings that
aBE T are repayable within
one year (shown under
current liabilities)
—IRITRE - Bank borrowings (3,075) (3,792)
—H &R — Other borrowings (54,941) (11,542)
BANR—FENEEMNIEITR  Amounts of bank and other
HiEMEER borrowings that are not
repayable within one year 14,935 32,179
RZBE_=F+"A=+—HkK As at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, all of the bank
ZEZ_HRFESRB=+H MEIR and other borrowings were not secured by any legal charges
ThREMEZRBAEUTMHAEE except for the bank and other borrowings of HK$5,597,000 (31
HEEIRIR > AR R EE December 2023: HK$3,792,000) which were guaranteed by
RBVIRIT R H At 6 585,597,000 Mr. Chen Jianwen and other borrowings of HK$13,800,000 (31
BT (ZEZ=%+ZHB=+— December 2023: HK$NIl) were guaranteed by the Company.
H 3,792,000 5) KRB A A F
BRI EMERR13,800,0008 7T
(T2 -_=F+-"R=+—H:
T HETT) BRI o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

32. IRITKHEMMBER (A8) 32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

RZFEZ=ZF+ZA=+—HK
“ETHERB=1+H AR
TREMMERBUBTEE-

W _E_=F+_HB=+—HK
TETHEANB=Z1TRHEBETA

All of the bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2023
and 30 June 2025 were denominated in HKS.

The interest rates of the bank and other borrowings as at 31
December 2023 and 30 June 2025 were as follows:

HMERORZDT ¢

BE_Z-RE BE_ZT_=F

ANA=+HLETNER +ZA=+—HLEFE

Eighteen months ended Year ended

30 June 2025 31 December 2023

RITIEN Bank borrowings REENE- 25% REENE-25%

Prime - 2.5% Prime rate - 2.5%

HuEm Other borrowings 2.75%%£25.5% 4%ZE16.8%

2.75% to 25.5% 4% t0 16.8%
SR_EB_REANA=1TH> As at 30 June 2025, other borrowings of HK$69,876,000 (31
BEEMESFENHEMBGER December 2023: HK$43,721,000) bearing at fixed interests
69,876,000 T (Z &= rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk, while
+”-B=+—H:43,721,0008 bank borrowings of HK$3,075,000 (31 December 2023:

7)) BFAEE@mERAFENXR
o M FEBAEFTENRITE
;3,075,000 7w (B - =
+-B=+—H :3,792,000%
T FAEEERRESERENX
R o#E—F MR EG. 41

%O

FTEIRTREMEBRIIDARETTHZ
e MAEBRERMEMEE A
AR EREIE AWK 6.3
i EEEEHEREHZ
FHRENBTIE R AR
RBETRARBR - R_T_=F
TZR=+—BRZZFZAEN
B=+H #EEREFZHE-

FTEIRTT R EMERBEHRRRE
HXEBNERKEXRGEE  HAQ
TEERER_-_Z_=Z=+2T"A48
=+—BRZZEZAFERA=T
HNREETIEERER

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

HK$3,792,000) bearing at a variable interest rate exposes
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Further analysis is
disclosed in note 6.4.

All of the bank and other borrowings are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants. If the Group breaches any of
the covenants, they will become repayable on demand.
Management regularly monitors its compliance over these
covenants to mitigate the underlying liquidity risk as disclosed
in note 6.3. As at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, none
of the covenants had been breached.

All of the bank and other borrowings are expected to be settled
in accordance with their respective repayment schedules which
their fair values were not materially different from their carrying
amounts as at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

33. LEASE LIABILITIES

The analysis of the repayment schedule of lease liabilities is as

T follows:
REHENE REHEREZRE
Present value of minimum lease
Minimum lease payments payments
RZEZRE RIZ-ZE RIEZIE RIZ°=H
~NB=+H +IZE=1+—H ~B=+H +ZE=1-H
As at As at As at As at
30 June 31 December 30 June 31 December
2025 2023 2025 2023
FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
—&R Within one year 29,432 32,335 28,193 27,910
—FRERIER After one year but within five years - 43,754 - 41,085
29,432 76,089 28,193 68,995
BMESEZRRBEER  Less: Future finance charges on lease
liabilities (1,239) (7,094) R N/A TR NA
HEEBRZRE Present value on lease liabilities 28,193 68,995 28,193 68,995
B ER-EREBENRE Less: Amount of lease liabilties that
BESE (B RY is repayable within one
&ET25) year (shown under current
labilities) (28,193) (27,910)
EER-EREBENHEEESE Amount of lease liabilities that is not
repayable within one year - 41,085

A _E_—F+_RA=+—HXK
_v—ﬁfﬁ/\ﬁ +H FrEM
E8EHAUBTEE.

R r BAREE&S B MNE
FHWEENER8.00% (=
Z_=_F+ZRHR=4+—8":
8.00%) - FHEMIR &R H 4848
ThiE BB M 5E41.20

H
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All of the lease liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 30 June
2025 were denominated in HK$.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to
lease liabilities was 8.00% (31 December 2023: 8.00%) during
the period. The total cash outflows for leases is disclosed in
note 41.2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

34.

35.

DEFERRED TAX

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 4.20,
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of the unused tax losses with tax effect of HK$203,165,000
(81 December 2023: HK$150,618,000) as at 30 June 2025
since it is not probable that future taxable profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdictions and entities. The unused tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely under current tax legislation.

LSP LIABILITIES

Under the Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged to
make LSP for employees located in Hong Kong who have
been employed continuously for at least five years under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include where
an employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious
misconduct or redundancy, that employee resigns at the age
of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term
and expires without renewal. The amount of LSP liabilities
is determined with reference to the employee’s final salary
(capped at HK$22,500) and the years of service, and is
reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from
the Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme (as defined in
note 4.16) (capped at HK$390,000 per employee). The Group
does not have any separate funding arrangement in place to
meet its LSP liabilities.

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”),
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP.
The Amendment Ordinance will take effect on 1 May 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). Separately, the Government has indicated
that it would launch a subsidy scheme to assist employers after
the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use
any of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF
contributions (irrespective of the contributions made before, on
or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date. However, where
an employee’s employment commenced before the Transition
Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued
benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service
up to that date. In addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on the
employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date.
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MBHRRWE (B)
TECRFEANA=THIEFNEAR

REIRBERE (B)

EHRFBE FTHEFA TR LR
TAE%EES390,0008 T M
BERBHMTABRZEHEIE390,000
Ao o BBEERNESELEB
RSB H ke

WU B BRRM T4 16FT
B oAEBERBHEES RHEE
PRARR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

35. LSP LIABILITIES (continued)

The benefit payment under LSP remains capped at
HK$390,000 per employee. If an employee’s total benefit
payment exceeds HK$390,000, the amount in excess of the
cap is deducted from the portion accrued from the Transition
Date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its
abolition as disclosed in note 4.16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The present value and movements of LSP liabilities during the
period/year were as follows:

BE_T_HFE HEZ-=F
~NB=+H +ZA=+—H
E+N\EA IEFEE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EHRFTEEIRE Present value of LSP liabilities
N_E_NFER_E = At 1 January 2024 and 2023
—H—H 1,239 1,039
14 E fth 2 U 55 1 A8 R Remeasurements recognised
EEE in other comprehensive
income:
BRMFHRBRESHELEZEE  Actuarial losses/(gains) arising
E518 7 (a) from changes in financial
assumptions 4 (98)
RiEm P ERRNEX - Expenses recognised in profit
or loss:
EHARB A Current service cost (972) 402
B E RS Past service cost - (142)
FESZH Interest expense 39 38
BWAB=+H/+=Z8 At 30 June/31 December
=+—H 310 1,239

LR AR AN ARE KRBT
FENGSR@RTHITEHRAX

KB BB -

All of the above expenses were recognised in administrative
expenses and finance costs included in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss for both current period and prior

year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

35.

LSP LIABILITIES (continued)

The weighted average duration of the LSP liabilities is 8 years
(31 December 2023: 14 years). The maturity analysis of the
undiscounted LSP liabilities based on the weighted average
duration is as follows:

—FE MEE
1EMR 7 HA LEHME 5EN L @t
Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over
1year and2years and 5 years 5 years Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
RZE-R&EAA=+H At 30 June 2025
EHR%28E LSP liabilities 93 22 52 2,295 2,462
RZZZ=F+_"H=+—H At 31 December 2023
RiRFEaE LSP liabilities 213 48 62 1,019 1,342
RZEZ=%F+"B=+—HBxK The actuarial calculations of the LSP liabilities as at 31
“TEREANB=1H EHER December 2023 and 30 June 2025 were performed by an
HBzBRNBEERBILIEERE independent qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
HEMfEBETEE LB AT method. The discount rate is determined with reference to
RIREL2ERFUNESFERES the interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are
NEANNEERAGIBSHNH XE denominated in the foreign currency in which the benefits will
EoBIMHEMEERREEE be paid, and have terms to maturity approximating the terms of
HEAR AR & o the related pension obligation.
RIZEZ=%+"B=+—8BxX Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted-
—E_HEEAB=Z1+H BET average rates) applied in the actuarial calculation as at 31
EFTAE B S KIE B Rk (LU December 2023 and 30 June 2025 were as follows:
BEHLLEIR) AT
MZEZRE i ——
~NB=+H +ZA=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BHIR = Discount rate 3.411% 3.754%
TEIRRE= Salary growth rate 1.35% 2.0%

EMRELAMERUTHER

The LSP liabilities are exposed to the following actuarial risks:

505 R BH

Risks Description

REEFWAEEEER REMEFEREIEMR RV EE

Change in corporate bond yields  An increase in corporate bond yields will decrease the liabilities.

iR BB REBoEaBEEBREN BRIEE AaERSEMo

Inflation risk Majority of the liabilities is linked with inflation which higher the inflation

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

rate will increase the liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

35. LSP LIABILITIES (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The below analysis shows how the carrying amount of LSP
liabilities would have increased/(decreased) as a result of the
changes in these significant actuarial assumptions as at 31
December 2023 and 30 June 2025:

temsk
(HL) BatE HREBRBEERNTE
Increase or Impact on long service
(decrease) in % payment liabilities

RZEZRE AZEZE
~B=+H +ZA=+—H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
ARIR= Discount rate 0.5% (11)/10 (81)/99
TEERX Salary growth rate 1.0% 5/(6) 36/(27)

J:HE@ZJEUWMHEX RERBER

R ST EEAR AL ES
J’E%kﬁﬁﬁx Z BRI
FABRED IR T =4
TZTA=+T—BAKRZZEZAEFENR
B=+HBR&ES Y HIKTERER
NERARFEEETECSHKAR
EBEESE-

MREABMREDTRABE AR
BRERBFEFEMELLEES-

The above sensitivity analysis assumes changes in significant
actuarial assumptions are not correlated and therefore it does
not consider the correlations between the significant actuarial
assumptions. The same actuarial calculation has been applied
to the above sensitivity analysis and the amount of LSP
liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025.

There were no changes in the methods and assumptions used
in preparing the above sensitivity analysis against the prior year.
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For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

BONJOUR

36. &7 36. SHARE CAPITAL
BE-TZ-HFARA=+H HEZZ=F+"A=+—H
+N\EA LEE
Eighteen months Year ended
ended 30 June 2025 31 December 2023
BrR#E FET VA FET
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
EE . Authorised:
®K—A—H At 1 January 10,000,000,000 100,000 10,000,000,000 100,000
B9 & R AR Share Consolidation and
(P3%) Capital Reduction (note) (9,500,000,000) - - -
4l (5D Sub-division (note) 9,500,000,000 - - -
10,000,000,000 100,000  10,000,000,000 100,000
EETRER: Issued and fully paid:
K—A—H At 1 January 4,754,315,999 47,543 3,5612,565,999 35,126
RpEHF RAHIHK  Share Consolidation, Capital
r4m (M 30 Reduction and Sub-division (note)  (4,516,600,200) (45,166) - -
BREREALT Shares issued under capitalisation
BTN (F5E27) of shareholder’s loan (note 27) 210,000,000 2,100 1,241,750,000 12,417
447,715,799 4,477 4,754,315,999 47,543
M EE - Notes:

RZE_NMEAB=Z+H ' AQF
TRERIARE UREBEAREH
B RBWT :

a
i 4

() ERS_TKkSKRMEME0.01E
THEETRARETRNG S H
H-KERKEEC.2BETNSG
HERM TS6RH7) TROS

On 30 September 2024, the Company held an extraordinary general
meeting in regard of a capital reorganisation, which comprises the

followings:

(i) Every twenty issued and unissued shares at the time being
of par value of HK$0.01 each were consolidated into
one consolidated share of par value of HK$0.2 each (the
“Consolidated Share(s)”) (the “Share Consolidation”). The Share
Consolidation became effective on 3 October 2024. Accordingly,
the basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31

December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company
was reduced to the effect that the par value of each issued
Consolidated Share be reduced from HK$0.20 to HKO0.01 (the

1) c RBRHPEHNR ST _MWE
+tE=ZHER -HIL BHEZ
E_=—F+_-_B=+—HL December 2023 are restated (note 16);
ENEREARBIRAIER
B3 (FsE16) 5
(i) BOeaHE¥RB RZZT-M (i)  After the Share Consolidation becoming effective, on 23
F+-RBAZ+=ZH&x2TE
BETRAHHE REERE
BTEHRBRAHZEERO.20H
THI B ZE0.01 B Tt (T RM% 1) “New Share(s)”) (the “Capital Reduction”); and
(TR& A BRI 5 &

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR
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(i)  Z2XBE R A B R £ KB

B0.20B T ZAEMBXR
HEBEMERMAAEZTRKRSE
HE0.OIBTZEEMBX
M (THFRam)) o AL 7 BR
& B~ BR 2 B R R v 4 (%ﬁ%ﬁa
Fr&EAREH)) B ARQFE K
EH&Z&%&}%%mo,ooo,ooo%
7T 9 %A10,000,000,0008 5
fEEEO. O1r’§7‘55’]¥ﬁﬁxf ’
P N/NE ST = B—?Eﬁaéﬂ‘ﬁﬁyz&m
%%4,754,315,9995&‘5&@9@
47,543,000 7078 /145,166,000
BITE D A237,715, 7998 Hr iR 1D
B92,377,0003 7T, ©

=1
%

X;

/\

B
20 2D B

BEXEHENFBEREARTHBRA
TETHENA=HRZZE-MF
= Ry o it = N SENS G R N/N T
AATZNEARNBEERLL
REABHBEA _ZE_MFENA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(ii)

Immediately following the Capital Reduction becoming
effective, each authorised but unissued Consolidated Share of
par value of HK$0.20 was subdivided into twenty authorised
but unissued new shares of par value of HK$0.01 each (the
“Sub-division”). Therefore, following the Share Consolidation,
the Capital Reduction and the Sub-division (collectively,
the “Capital Reorganisation”), the authorised share capital
of the Company remains at HK$100,000,000 divided into
10,000,000,000 New Shares with par value of HK$0.01 each,
and the issued share capital of the Company at the time being
was reduced by HK$45,166,000 from HK$47,543,000 divided
into 4,754,315,999 shares to HK$2,377,000 divided into
237,715,799 New Shares.

Details of the Capital Reorganisation have been published
on the Company’s announcements dated 3 September

2024 and 24 December 2024,

the Company’s circular

dated 6 September 2024 and the Company’s poll results
announcement dated 30 September 2024.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time-to-time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company'’s residual assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

36. &7 (48) 36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
BARER Capital management
AEEEBEEANFEERARE The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to

AEBFELENENDUKRBARE
EREBKFAEREBRUEGER
REGRE > ARETKE KL R
RAFPEBRRAN o

AERRBARERRNRERRE
ARE LEBRSRRLHRERLT
AEHBEzRsEEKTRIZRE
AR NHERZEBDRREZ BEE
T wREBEEREEHHER
RIBEHLERE-

AEBUEHEAEFERERL
ROEEERHAARRB LI
B KRRERFRATESEHEE
(BREEMERRRERIERITK
HthfEm U RBE &R INARR5
BERBRIRIT R TG K58
HREXOEMBER@E D BIFER
B R ARRFARIKRE

RHERUABEELARE cEB N
Eﬂﬁﬁ&$RHMkéﬁﬁ £
Tk MRRBREEAS -ZE
MESTMENHEEELUALE
HoABEFEML TBELE
EBHRFARRE -

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise returns for shareholders and benefits for
stakeholders by pricing products commensurately with the level
of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, the
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes
amount due to the controlling shareholder, bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities) plus unaccrued proposed
dividends, less bank and cash balances. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity less non-controlling
interests and unaccrued proposed dividends.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt. The principal
capital management policy remained unchanged against the
prior years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

36.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Capital management (continued)

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio as at 31
December 2023 and 30 June 2025 were as follows:

RIE_HE N =F

~NA=+H +-A=+—H

As at As at

30 June 31 December

2025 2023

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

B4R %E Total debt 142,104 148,650

W IRTTRIRS 4R (H5E28) Less: Bank and cash balances

(note 28) (3,911) (16,109)

KB EEFIFEE Adjusted net debt 138,193 132,541

REmARRE Total equity 51,459 282,236
RIEZRE RZE—=

~NB=+H +-B=+—H

As at As at

30 June 31 December

2025 2023

KBREFERHEALE Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio 269% 47%

SNEBTEINE B REER (()VER
WRHAEREHITRMPBHED
25%MRMALHRA (EHRAFR
MBYFEBRERIN) 5 K(i)EITHERES
IR1T R 18 =R 15 & P MY BY P B 22
i (AR REIERRRER
REFRE) -

The externally imposed capital requirements are mainly:
() to maintain at least 25% of the total number of issued
shares must at all times be held by the public (except for
the specific circumstances as described in the Listing
Rules); and (ii) to meet all covenants attached to the relevant
bank and other borrowings agreements (i.e. to maintain a
minimum shareholding by the Company’s ultimate controlling
shareholder).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

OF THE COMPANY

37.1 Statement of financial position of the Company

g T S A —
~NB=+H +=AH _-1— H
As at As at
30 June 31 December
. 2025 2023
k=3 FET FAET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FERBEE Non-current assets
RIBATZIRE  Investments in subsidiaries 44 1 14,015
FREEE Right-of-use assets 13,191 34,114
HERKEZE Rental and utility deposits - 283
13,192 48,412
MEEE Current assets
BN MIEBEREZE Prepayments and deposits 4,490 6,641
HE U B [ 1 B R TE Amounts due from subsidiaries 246,161 353,148
IRITHE R Bank balances 54 2,055
250,705 361,844
mENaE Current liabilities
FEIMIB AT ZIE  Amounts due to subsidiaries 329,309 287,429
FETIZRRAREEANIE  Amount due to the controlling
shareholder 27 30,581 28,226
HMMEM R & EST Other payables and accrued
# A charges 37,168 4,018
HMEmR Other borrowings 38,619 11,542
HEAaR Lease liabilities 28,193 23,818
463,870 355,033
SRE) (BfE) BEE Net current (liabilities)/assets
=l (213,165) 6,811
WMEERTRHAMR  Total assets less current
liabilities (199,973) 55,223
JEREIEE Non-current liabilities
HihEmR Other borrowings 14,935 32,179
HEaE Lease liabilities - 41,085
EHRZEEEE Long service payment liabilities 920 73
15,025 73,337
= REpe] Net liabilities (214,998) (18,114)
BARR#E Capital and reserves
&N Share capital 36 4,477 47,543
B Reserves 37.2 (219,475) (65,657)
MBS Total capital deficiency (214,998) (18,114)
R_ZF_REN[= =+ H#E Approved and authorised for issue by the Directors on 30
EEOMAEREES 247> A September 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
UTFTAERESEE
PR 2 ¢ HER
Cheniianwen Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna
4 EF
Director Director

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR
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REMBHmRRME (E Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

37. " Al 2 HEMRAKRKHFEE 37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

(& OF THE COMPANY (continued)
7.2 REf#EE 37.2 Reserves of the Company
BEXER B
R E B i AERE it REEHE 4Bzt
Share Capital Capital Share
premium  redemption contribution warrants Accumulated
account reserve reserve reserve losses Total
FAET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RIZEZ=5—-F—H At 1 January 2023 325,300 1,181 527 22,037 (414,702) (65,657)
BREFEALT Shares issued under
BETRM (HEk36) capitalisation of shareholder’s
loan (note 36) 64,571 - - - - 64,571

BIEERIREFE (f527)  Deemed capital contribution from
the controlling shareholder

(note 27) - - 507 - - 507
FRBEEREERS AR Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - (128,092) (128,092)

RZEZ=ZF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 and

RZZEZNFE-B—H 1 January 2024 325,300 1,181 527 22,037 (414,702) (65,657)
FRAHI A (F5E36) Capital reduction (note 36) - - - - 45,166 45,166
BEREFEARLT Shares issued under

BETRD (HFE36) capitalisation of shareholder's

loan (note 36) 31,080 - - - - 31,080

RIEERREFE (f15527)  Deemed capital contribution from
the controlling shareholder

(note 27) - - 1,317 - - 1,317
BREEREEMS AR Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the period - - - - (231,381) (231,381)
RZEZREAA=+H At 30 June 2025 356,380 1,181 1,844 22,037 (600,917) (219,475)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

38. RESERVES
38.1 Reserves of the Group

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

38.2 Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium account

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
(the “Companies Act”), the accumulated funds in
the share premium account of the Company is only
distributable to the shareholders of the Company,
either: (i) immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed; or (i)
the Company shall be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. The
application of the share premium account should
be with reference to the latest memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.

(ii) Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve of the Company
arose from the cancellation of the Company’s
shares repurchased in the Stock Exchange by
the Company. Under the Companies Act, the
amount of the Company’s issued share capital
shall be diminished by the nominal value of those
repurchased shares and the difference shall be
transferred to the capital redemption reserve
instead of reducing the amount of the Company’s
authorised share capital upon the repurchased
shares were cancelled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

38. f#fE (@) 38. RESERVES (continued)

3s.2fRBZMEREN (&)

38.2 Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

214

(iii) ZEF#E

(iii)

Capital contribution reserve

KRBz XTEREERE The capital contribution reserve of the Company
(WENERKEERERIBEZ comprises (i) the difference between the stated
FimEmigHE BN and market interest rates of the amount due to the

ERE; R(imiERR R R
ENBRAERBEAQT

controlling shareholder; and (ii) the gain on disposal
of subsidiaries and associates to the controlling

FTEA W © shareholder.

(iv) SHEE (iv) Merger reserve
ApBlzaHBEERR The merger reserve of the Company arose from the
“EE-FEHEA group reorganisation in 2003 which represented
MEL TARBEE the difference between the nominal value of the
METBIWE B AT aggregated share capital of the subsidiaries
ZHEEAmERAANE acquired under the reorganisation scheme over the
MRBmMEBITZRMHOE nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
Bz EfRo exchange.

(v) SMEERFE (v) Foreign currency translation reserve
SRR EEEIEMA The foreign currency translation reserve comprises
HIRE B ETE S E R all foreign exchange differences arising from the
RELEZERERE - # translation of the financial statements of foreign
BRI ST4.3TE S operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
TR ERIE © with the accounting policy set out in note 4.3.

(vi) BAFEFAEME (vi) Financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
BR#mZZHEEMF
#
UAFEFAEMEZE The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve comprises
WRrzecHMEERES the cumulative net change in the fair value of the

5 10 4R 5 BR SR AR I 2
4.9MZ B BEBEN
BB B RS 2B 50
SR E A FE AR
2 E > R
FERABSNATE
T EEFE-

listed and unlisted equity securities designated at
FVTOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held at the end
of the reporting period in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 4.9.

Annual Report 2024/2025



REMBRR]WE (&)
BE_ZE_nFNA=1THIE+NEAR

38. f#fE (&)
3.2 MEREW (&)
(vii) 52 R HEE1H
TR EEFEEIEREN
HAATFRE Z st R (E
FBBlack-Scholest&E =, 5t
SRR EFFREHRE
BN FEZ RN EEE
RAEBRBEEE
B E R B T
@o
39. HEMWEBAR
HEXEZHENKE QR

REBEE_Z_AF,"B=+HL
+N\EBHE A ABTETHBEAR

n

BONJOUR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

38. RESERVES (continued)
38.2 Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(vii) Share warrants reserve

The share warrants reserve represents the difference
between the proceeds and fair value of the share
warrants measured using the Black-Scholes model
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 4.17.
No share warrants have been exercised in both
current period and prior years.

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control

During the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025, certain
subsidiaries of the Company were disposed to the controlling

BAERETFERRKRR shareholder.
ElRE: Consideration received:
FET
HK$'000
BB Consideration received -

KEZFENZFHBELAIEE
REEDH:

Analysis of assets and liabilities of those subsidiaries
over which control was lost:

FET
HK$ 000
FREEE (f15218) Right-of-use assets (note 18) 59
[ e=ZE T Trade receivables 10
HERKEZE Rental and utility deposits 1,648
FENRIBE 5] R EMEIERR Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 6
R1TRIREAEER Bank and cash balances 187
FET B 2 iR Trade payables )
HiEMERZ BlEEsRk Other payables, deposits received and accrued
S &R charges (13,926)
HESE (IsF41.1) Lease liabilities (note 41.1) (60)
BHEERFEE Net liabilities disposed of (12,079)
“EoNE T REER 215
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control (continued)

Deemed capital contribution from the controlling
shareholder on disposal of subsidiaries:

FAET

HK$°000

BB Consideration received -
BHEEREFEE Net liabilities disposed of (12,079)
ARRHIE R (1 Release of translation reserve 567
(11,512)

HENBARERNGEEDZED
KPR FIERREREE ] -

i & Bt B 2 B] E £ B9 B = 7 HF
8 -

The disposal of subsidiaries has resulted in the recognition of a
“deemed capital contribution from the controlling shareholder”
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries:

TET
HK$'000

BHERITRIFEER

Bank and cash balances disposed of 187
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REMBmRRME (E) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_EFE_AFNA=Z1+HIEA+/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

40. —HNBARKLELGZAEAR 40. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY
RIE2EZ=F—AhH &% %k On 9 January 2023, a winding-up order was made by the High
REFRAKRE(RE (BB AE Court against Hop Fung Lung Limited at the hearing pursuant
TB1&S0) 16 5)) (BB EFIF325) ¥ to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
SERERABMEHBERS -BE Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). An official
WEEEEEREZTACERE receiver was appointed as a provisional liquidator of Hop Fung
fRA B ER A ﬂ%/\ly(ij'uz@j/ﬁ Lung Limited to liquidate the company. As a result, the Group
BoEIb - AEBBELREHGERE has lost control over Hop Fung Lung Limited and ceased to be
BRABINES#E EREBRE a subsidiary of the Company on the same date.
BERABHMEBAT
KEEFENSEEERATE Analysis of assets and liabilities of Hop Fung Lung
EREBEBESW: Limited over which control was lost:

FAET
HK$'000
ME-MEREE (MEE17) Property, plant and equipment (note 17) 390
FREEE (15E18) Right-of-use assets (note 18) 486
B 5 R EMEWIR Trade and other receivables 6,378
R17 R IR B A ER Bank and cash balances 431
B 5 hEMENIRR Trade and other payables (110,681)
EERABRIE Amounts due to group companies (379,908)
BERIEREARZERFE Net liabilities deconsolidated (482,904)
Fsﬁ MBABKRLEEEAKRZIL Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary:
=
FAET
HK$'000
BRIEGEEARZBEFEE Net liabilities deconsolidated 482,904
B EREERBRARMIE  Less: Amounts due from Hop Fung Lung
Limited (379,908)
—ERBABRIEAAEARYZ  Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary (note)

Wz (B 5E) 102,996
s —ENBARKR LGS AR Note: The gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary is disclosed
Zz E RixgEERRRNES separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

&
—HfBARRLEEEARZE Net cash outflow on deconsolidation of a subsidiary:
ERHERE
FET
HK$'000
R1TRIRE AR Bank and cash balances (431)
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EEMBEmRME (&) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
BE_E_AFNA=1+HIEA/\EH  For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

41. IZEHERERM 41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

MAREEHFMELEEENEH 41.1 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
BR activities

TREMAEBBREXBA
ELBRNES aFHe Rk
FREEH MELTIREE
BEREAHBEERECKE SR
AARRBERERNEEE
HERERERANDES TR

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as “cash flows from financing

BEEHMEBREREINE activities”.
Fo
RITREMER FEfERRRAE fE&R
Amount due to
Bank and other controlling Lease
borrowings shareholder liabilities
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(H3%32) (Mz¥ar) (Hfz£33)
(note 32) (note 27) (note 33)
RZE-ME-A—H At 1 January 2024 47,513 32,142 68,995
REREMLE . Changes from cash flows:
BOREMBRERE Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 58,200 - -
BEBTREMED Repayment of bank and other borrowings (42,373) - -
RRTREMERZANHE Interest paid on bank and other borrowings (5,787) - -
REZRRROFMETE Proceeds from the controlling shareholder - 71,935 -
AERREER Repayment to the controlling shareholder - (30,727) -
AERRES NS Interest paid to the controlling shareholder - (1,230) -
REARNEEHS Principal element of lease payments - - (8,952)
HEMRNAERS Interest element of lease payments - - (5,962)
10,040 39,978 (14,914)
HittERE2E . Other non-cash changes:
BAREMERHEEN S (H:59) Imputed interest on bank and other
borrowings (note 9) (2,238) - -
RipERBREAZRRERERN  Capitalisation of the amount due to the
BRI (f5k27) controlling shareholder upon share
allotment (note 27) - (33,180) -
BIEREZRRENEE (M527) Deemed capital contribution from the
controlling shareholder (note 27) - (2,057) -
FRAFHSENNAEEEEN  Increase in lease liabiliies arising from new
leases during the period - - 3,252
fIERZ (HzE11) Interest expense (note 11) 12,809 4,077 5,962
HEMBAT (H739) Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) - - (60)
Hitr Others 4,827 - (35,042)
HtFREEHAE Total other non-cash changes 15,398 (31,160) (25,388)
RZEZREERAZHH At 30 June 2025 72,951 40,960 28,193
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (continued)

41.1 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

RITREMER Ef R ENE fEsE
Bank and other Amount due to
borrowings  controlling shareholder Lease liabilities
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000
(Mzt32) (zze7) (Mi5£33)
(note 32) (note 27) (note 33)
RZE-_=%-F—-H At 1 January 2023 41,763 30,118 96,528
REREMEE . Changes from cash flows:
RIREMERFEHE Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 30,050 - -
BEETREMER Repayment of bank and other borrowings (22,555 - -
PRI REMERE A 0TS Interest paidl on bank and other borrowings (3,314) - -
REZERRERNAETE Proceeds from the controlling shareholder - 85,115 -
AERRREN Repayment to the controlling shareholder - (7,200) -
AERRES AN E Interest paid to the controlling shareholder - (24) -
HEARNAEHD Principal element of lease payments - - (35,010)
REAFHASSH Interest element of lease payments - - (6,796
4,181 77,891 (41,806)
HitJEREEE) . Other non-cash changes:
BOREMBERNEERE Imputed interest on bank and other
(Ff13£9) borrowings (note 9) (3,330) - -
RRANE B B A RN  Capitalisation of the amount due to the
BRI (f3k27) controling shareholder upon share
allotment (note 27) - (76,988) -
BIEREZRRENEE (M527) Deemed capital contribution from the
controlling shareholder (note 27) - (527) -
ERFHSENNEEEEEN  Increase i lease liabilties arising from new
leases during the year - - 8,018
FIS B (3E11) Interest expense (note 11) 4,899 1,648 6,796
WEATARIEES N (H340)  Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (note 40) - - (541)
HtFRe2BHEE Total other non-cash changes 1,569 (75,867) 14,273
RZEZ=#+°A=t+—-H At 31 December 2023 47,513 32,142 68,995

M2THERERHBE
MEEFAGRS

g =

WRIREEENTEIE !

REREX

41.2 Total cash outflows for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash
flows for leases comprise the following:

BHE-_Z-1F #®HE_ZT-_=-fF
~NA=+H +-B=+—H
E+NEA EFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
REWEMEN Within operating cash flows 6,073 8,734
MEREREAN Within financing cash flows 8,952 35,010
15,025 43,744
ZEINE T HEFR 219



MmN

BONJOUR

4= A
=1

BE

41.

42.

220

MBHRRWE (B)

TECRFEANA=THIEFNEAR

BHRERERME (B)

41.3EKRERERXRS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (continued)

41.3 Significant non-cash transactions

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

BE_ZRE #BEZT_=
~AB=+H +ZHB=+—H
LE+NEB EFE
Eighteen Year ended
months ended 31 December
30 June 2025 2023
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
2L ) Operating activity
L HH B 5 % 5 B E A Offsetting trade deposits against
FEET & other accrued charges - 6,409
== Investing activity
RIELEAEDLEDN Loss on deemed disposal of the
B518 (FGEMA K 5E23) joint venture (as detailed in note
23) 46,921 -
== Financing activities
DR e B BT TR Capitalisation of the amount due
BREMENEALR®L to the controlling shareholder
(Mzx27) upon share allotment (note 27) 33,180 76,988
BIEREERRKRERDN Deemed capital contribution from
HE the controlling shareholder 13,569 527

RERN/ FAREER®BA B

BRIANERAEEELRTMEAR
REFBE DM 5E18 /%33
Ego

B K

FEBEAEREA

RIEZ=ZF#+"RB=+H A

42.

Details of the additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
recognised at the lease commencement dates during the
period/year are disclosed in notes 18 and 33 respectively.

LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessee
As at 30 December 2023, the lease commitments relating to

short-term leases of retail stores located in Hong Kong were
HK$111,000. Details of lease terms is disclosed in note 18.

MR EBNEEEHEHAEENAE

EAEA111,00058 70 o THEE T

15 M 5T 18I 88 o

FEBREABHAA The Group as lessor

A _E_REAB=1+H AT
HIKEAEE THNRERERZRS
2,291,0008 T (ZE2-_=F+_A
=+—H : 5,487,000 7T) °

As at 30 June 2025, the minimum lease receipts under non-
cancellable operating leases was HK$2,291,000 (31 December
2023: HK$5,487,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

42. LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued)
The Group as lessor (continued)
As at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, the Group was

not committed to entering into any new leases that are not yet
commenced with any lease payments incurred.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the period/year as
follows:

BE_THFE HEZIZZI=fF
~NB=+H +ZBA=+—H
IE+N\EA EEFE

Eighteen
months ended Year ended
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000

FEAT1EIEIBEERIE > Interest expense on amount due to
FMERZ the controlling shareholder 4,077 1,648
(b) R/ ER AERTEEE (b) The remuneration for the Group’s key management

AEBFHMW (BEME14.1Kk
14 5FTIBNEEME KSR
BEEMS 0T :

personnel, including the Directors’ emoluments and
senior management emoluments as disclosed in notes
14.1 and 14.5 during the period/year was as follows:

BE_EHE BHE_Z_=
~NB=+H +ZB=+—H
LE+N\EA EFE

Eighteen
months ended Year ended
30 June 31 December
2025 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEWE Directors’ fees 982 604
e Salaries 9,713 7,086
B IBTEAL Discretionary bonus - 200
BIRETEIHER Retirement plans contributions 74 95
10,769 7,985
“EoNE T REER

221



M

BONJOUR

4 A
=)

BE

MBHRWEE (&
TECRFEANA=THIEFNEAR

43. BB AR (&

44.

222

(b)

(#)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(o)

(continued)

The remuneration paid to the Group’s key management
personnel was included in staff costs for both current
period and prior year as disclosed in note 13.

The related party transaction in respect of the share
allotment to offset the amount due to the controlling
shareholder as disclosed in note 27 constitutes a
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.
PRBASZIKRE 44. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
RIEZ=F+"B=+—HB~KZ Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
ETAFARAZTHZARBFE 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025 are as follows:
MEATIFHENT !
i/ BETR
TEMBAR LS ERERERN  AMRIREEME BRREHE BEREZANL TEEH
Particulars of
Place of authorised/issued
Name of principal Type of legal  incorporationand  and paid up Percentage of
subsidiaries entity business share capital ownership interest Principal activity
FAREREENESR
Interest held directly by the
Company
BEREERAR REAIEZRN BRAD EBEYHE 50,0008 8REEIZETZ  100% (CEZ=%F: REER
E@BRAT) HEEEK/3,0008
SREEIZTZBET
Lk
Man Tong Trade Limited Limited liability ~ The British Virgin 50,000 authorised 100%(2023: 100%) Investment holding
(formerly known as Bonjour company Islands ordinary shares of US$1
Group Limited) each/3,000 issued
ordinary shares of US$1
each
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

44. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025 are as follows:

WBABEBUWT : (& (continued)
EE/BETR
TEMBARLE ERERERN  AMRUIREEME BRREHE BEREZANL TEED
Particulars of
Place of authorised/issued
Name of principal Type of legal  incorporationand  and paid up Percentage of
subsidiaries entity business share capital ownership interest Principal activity
FRABARMERANER
Interests held indirectly by
the Company
2BEBBERAR" BRAR HEBRYLHS 50,000 EREEIETZ T (CRIZF1100%) TEMTEXS BRK
EEEER1RER EERHER
HEIETZBET
LBk
Full Gain Developments Limited liability ~ The British Virgin 50,000 authorised ordinary ~ Nil (2023: 100%) Retailing of beauty,
Limited™* company Islands shares of US$1 each/1 healthcare and lifestyle
issued ordinary share of products in Macau
US$1
EBBERAR BRAR HEBRYLHS 500008 BREEIZTZ  100% (CEZ=F: REER
tEBBER/1RER 100%)
HEIETZBET
Lk
Active Earn Limited* Limited liability ~ The British Virgin 50,000 authorised ordinary  100% (2023: 100%) Investment holding
company Islands shares of US$1 each/1
issued ordinary share of
US$1
ERBRERERAT BRAR &% 100RERIBTNBET  100% (CBZ=F: BETHERER
ZER 100%)
Bonjour Global Development  Limited liability ~ Hong Kong 100 issued ordinary shares  100% (2023: 100%) E-commerce business
Limited company of HK$1 each
SRFEEERAR" BRRF 55 100RERIBTNERT T (CBIZF1100%) BERHB
Lk
Bonjour Life Limited ** Limited liability ~ Hong Kong 100 issued ordinary shares  Nil (2023: 100%) Management services
company of HK$1 each
fNBRERMEBRRT  BRAD &% 100RBRIBTNEET  100% (CBRZ=F: TEBRHERS EE
LEk 100%) EERHRRIER
Bonjour Global Supply Limited  Limited liability ~ Hong Kong 100 issued ordinary shares 100% (2023: 100%) Wholesaling of beauty,
company of HK$1 each healthcare, lifestyle and
technology products in
Hong Kong
BRAMEIEERAR BRAS &% 100 ERIBTNERT  100% (CEZ=F: TEALEES RER
2Bk 100%) EEREE R
Hong Kong Innovation and Limited liability ~ Hong Kong 100 issued ordinary shares ~ 100% (2023: 100%) Wholesaling of beauty,
Entrepreneurship Limited company of HK$1 each healthcare and lifestyle
products in Hong Kong
EZERRF BRRF 55 RERIBTNEET 100% (CEZ=ZE: EEYERE
LER 100%)
Wealthy Train Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong 1 issued ordinary share of 100% (2023: 100%) Property investment in
company HK$1 each Hong Kong

—EBCNE S —E_RFEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025

4. FHBRIAZKE (&) 44. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RN E_=F+_B=+—HK_ Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
ZTAFARNAZTHZARBEFE 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025 are as follows:
MEBABFIBUWT @ (& (continued)

EE/BETR
TERBRFRE ERERERN AMMUREEME HRREHE BEREZADL TEED

Particulars of

Place of authorised/issued

Name of principal Type of legal  incorporation and and paid up Percentage of
subsidiaries entity business share capital ownership interest Principal activity

EREEHEBTRRRAT ARAS i

al

HK Mall Global eCommerce Limited liability ~ Hong Kong

Platform Limited company

* WIFERE (FE) E5tEH

# RBE_Z_HAFRA=TH
-+ BAWHE-

EXFIR T ERRRBEAIEF
EXEAEATEARNAERE
EFEIEZHRINETATME L
B-EEZRR REHAMWELR
ZHBRERE/NBR TR

ATECSHEFTA=ST—BR-
ToREAB=TH AKEILE
EAARHIMBANNEAIFLR
i o

45. REPHEREH

==l == I = oA = I /A=
BREHBHPERE—(1)KREAR
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100 ERIBINERET  100% (CEZ=%F! EFBBEHR
LER 100%)

100 issued ordinary shares 100% (2023: 100%) E-commerce business
of HK$1 each

*

Companies not audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited.

# Disposed during the eighteen months ended 30 June 2025.

The above list of the Company’s subsidiaries which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the
period/year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

As at 31 December 2023 and 30 June 2025, the Group did not
have any material non-controlling interests required to present
the financial information.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 16 September 2025, the Company allotted and issued of
951,290,838 ordinary shares pursuant to the rights issue on
the basis of three (3) rights shares for every one (1) existing
share held on the record date on a non-underwritten basis,
details of which are set out in the Company’s prospectus dated
25 August 2025 and announcement dated 15 September 2025
respectively.

The gross proceeds raised by the Company from the rights
issue amount to approximately HK$76.1 million, among which
approximately HK$54.02 million has been set-off against the
loan from controlling shareholder.

RECLASSIFICATIONS AND COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s
consolidated financial statements to enhance comparability
with the current period’s consolidated financial statements.
As a result, certain line items have been revised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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